UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-4 REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 2510 Standard Industri

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

33-1022198 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

Guarantors Listed on Schedule A Hereto (Exact name of Registrant as Specified in its charter)

1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511 (800) 878-8889

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Scott L. Thompson, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Tempur Sealy International, Inc.
1000 Tempur Way
Lexington, Kentucky 40511
(800) 878-8889

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number including area code, of agent for service)

	Copies to:		
	Howard A. Kenny Morgan, Lewis & Bocki 101 Park Avenue New York, New York (212) 309-6000	us LLP	
	Approximate date of commencement of proposed s As soon as practicable after the effective date of		
If the securities bein General Instruction G, che		n the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with	
	to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rul tion statement number of the earlier effective registration state	e 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list ment for the same offering. $\hfill\Box$	
	t-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the ober of the earlier effective registration statement for the same	e Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act offering. $\hfill\Box$	
5	ark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accele ge accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting	erated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.	
Large accelerated filer	\boxtimes	Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer	\square (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	

пар	phicable, place all A in the box to designate the appropriate rule provision reflect upon in conducting this transaction.
	Exchange Act Rule 13e-4(i) (Cross-Border Issue Tender Offer) \Box
	Exchange Act Rule 14d-1(d) (Cross-Border Third-Party Tender Offer)

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Amount to be registered	Amount of registration fee(1)
5.500% Senior Notes due 2026	\$600,000,000	\$60,420
Guarantees of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026	\$600,000,000	None(2)

⁽¹⁾ Calculated pursuant to Rule 457(f)(2) under the Securities Act of 1933.

Each registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment that specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

Schedule A Table of Guarantor Co-Registrants

Name	State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation/ Formation	Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number	I.R.S. Employer Identification Number
Tempur World, LLC	Delaware	2510	61-1364709
Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC	Delaware	2510	26-2807648
Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC	Delaware	2510	20-0798531
Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc.	Delaware	2510	20-8165334
Tempur Production USA, LLC	Virginia	2510	61-1368322
Cocoon International Sales, LLC	Delaware	2510	33-1069158
Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc.	Delaware	2510	26-2821802
Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc.	Delaware	2510	26-2821774
Tempur Retail Stores, LLC	Delaware	2510	61-1666069
Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC	Delaware	2510	46-4713308
Sealy Corporation	Delaware	2510	36-3284147
Sealy Mattress Corporation	Delaware	2510	20-1178482
Sealy Mattress Company	Ohio	2510	34-0439410
Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.	Georgia	2510	58-1186228
Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc.	Missouri	2510	44-0523533
Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois	Illinois	2510	36-1853967
A. Brandwein & Co.	Illinois	2510	36-2525330
Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc.	New York	2510	14-1325596
Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc.	Maryland	2510	52-1192669
Sealy of Minnesota, Inc.	Minnesota	2510	41-1227650
Sealy, Inc.	Ohio	2510	34-1439379
The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group	Delaware	2510	36-1750335
Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc.	Delaware	2510	36-3209918
Sealy Technology LLC	North Carolina	2510	56-2168370
Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico	Ohio	2510	34-6544153
Sealy Texas Management, Inc.	Texas	2510	75-1491047
Sealy US Sales, LLC	Delaware	2510	32-0480178

⁽²⁾ Pursuant to Rule 457(n) under the Securities Act of 1933, no registration fee is required for the registration of the guarantees.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to these securities is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to Completion Dated August 5, 2016

PROSPECTUS

TEMPUR + SEALY

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Offer to Exchange 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 for

New 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933

We are offering to exchange registered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026, or the Exchange Notes, for an equivalent amount of our outstanding, unregistered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026, or the Original Notes. The Original Notes and the Exchange Notes are sometimes referred to in this prospectus together as "the notes." The terms of the Exchange Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes. The Exchange Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by certain of our subsidiaries subject to customary release provisions. The Original Notes may only be tendered in an amount equal to \$2,000 in principal amount or in integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. This exchange offer is subject to certain customary conditions and will expire at midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, unless we extend such expiration date. The Exchange Notes will not be listed on any securities exchange or any automated dealer quotation system and there is currently no market for the Exchange Notes.

Material terms of the Exchange Offer

- The exchange offer expires at midnight, New York City time, on
- You will receive an equal principal amount of Exchange Notes for all Original Notes that you validly tender and do not validly withdraw.
- Tenders of Original Notes may be withdrawn at any time prior to the expiration of the exchange offer.
- · There has been no public market for the Original Notes and we cannot assure you that any public market for the Exchange Notes will develop.
- The terms of the Exchange Notes are substantially identical to the Original Notes, except for transfer restrictions, and registration rights and additional interest payment provisions relating to the Original Notes.
- If you fail to tender your Original Notes for the Exchange Notes, you will continue to hold unregistered securities and it may be difficult for you to transfer them.

, 2016.

- The conditions to completing the exchange offer are that the exchange offer does not violate applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and the other conditions as set forth in this prospectus.
- We will not receive any cash proceeds from the exchange offer.

Results of the Exchange Offer:

- The Exchange Notes may be sold in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions or through a combination of such methods.
- We do not plan to list the Original Notes or Exchange Notes on a national market.
- All outstanding Original Notes not tendered will continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in the indenture governing the Original Notes. In general, outstanding Original Notes may not be offered or sold, unless registered under the Securities Act, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.
- · Other than in connection with the exchange offer, we do not plan to register the outstanding Original Notes under the Securities Act.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes. The letter of transmittal states that, by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with the resales of Exchange Notes received in exchange for Original Notes where the Original Notes were acquired by that broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed that, for a period of 180 days after the expiration date of the exchange offer, we will make this prospectus available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. See "Plan of Distribution."

Investing in the Exchange Notes involves risks that are described in the "Risk Factors" section beginning on page 9 of this prospectus.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES OR PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

The date of this prospectus is

, 2016.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	ii
<u>SUMMARY</u>	1
RISK FACTORS	9
<u>USE OF PROCEEDS</u>	25
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	26
DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS	27
DESCRIPTION OF EXCHANGE NOTES	30
THE EXCHANGE OFFER	78
BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM	87
MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	91
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	96
LEGAL MATTERS	97
EXPERTS	97

In this prospectus, except as otherwise indicated, the terms "Tempur Sealy," "the Company," "we," "us," "our" and "ours" refer to Tempur Sealy International, Inc. together with its consolidated subsidiaries.

In making an investment decision, you must rely on your own examination of our business and the terms of the exchange offer, including the merits and risks involved.

You should not consider any information in this prospectus to be legal, business or tax advice. You should consult your own attorney, business advisor and tax advisor for legal, business and tax advice regarding an investment in the notes.

We are incorporating by reference into this prospectus important business and financial information that is not included in or delivered with this prospectus. In making your investment decision, you should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with any other information. If you receive any other information, you should not rely on it.

The information contained in this prospectus has been furnished by us and other sources we believe to be reliable. This prospectus contains summaries, believed to be accurate, of the terms we consider material of certain documents, but reference is made to the actual documents. All such summaries are qualified in their entirety by this reference. See "Where You Can Find More Information."

The information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus has been furnished by us and other sources we believe to be reliable. You should not rely on anything contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus as a promise or representation, whether as to the past or the future. This prospectus contains summaries, believed to be accurate, of the terms we consider material of certain documents, but reference is made to the actual documents. All such summaries are qualified in their entirety by this reference. See "Where You Can Find More Information."

The distribution of this prospectus and the offer and the sale of the notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this prospectus or any of the notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. See "Plan of Distribution."

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC under the Exchange Act. You may inspect without charge any documents filed by us at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet site, www.sec.gov, which contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including Tempur Sealy.

We are "incorporating by reference" certain documents that we have filed with the SEC under the Exchange Act, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this prospectus, except for any information superseded by information contained directly in this prospectus, or any subsequently filed document deemed incorporated by reference. We incorporate by reference into this prospectus the document listed below (excluding any portions of such documents that have been "furnished" but not "filed" for purposes of the Exchange Act):

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 12, 2016;
- Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2016, filed on May 5, 2016, and June 30, 2016, filed on August 5, 2016;
 and
- Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2016 (including Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A filed on February 2, 2016), March 10, 2016, April 5, 2016, April 7, 2016, May 9, 2016, May 19, 2016, May 20, 2016, May 24, 2016, June 23, 2016, July 18, 2016 and July 28, 2016.

Any future filings Tempur Sealy makes with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of this prospectus are incorporated herein by reference until completion of the offering (excluding any portions of such filings that have been "furnished" but not "filed" for purposes of the Exchange Act). Any statement contained in this prospectus or in a document incorporated by reference shall be deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in those documents modifies or supersedes that statement. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed to constitute a part of this prospectus except as so modified or superseded. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to in this prospectus do not purport to be complete, and, where reference is made to the particular provisions of such contract or other document, such provisions are qualified in all respects by reference to all of the provisions of such contract or other document. We will provide a copy of the documents we incorporate by reference or refer to in this prospectus, at no cost, to any person that receives this prospectus. To request a copy of any or all of these documents, such as the indenture or registration rights agreement, you should write or telephone us at: Tempur Sealy International, Inc., 1000 Tempur Way, Lexington, Kentucky 40511, Attention: Investor Relations, (800) 805-3635.

To obtain timely delivery, you must request such information no later than five (5) business days before the expiration date of the exchange offer.

The distribution of this prospectus and the offer and the sale of the notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this prospectus or any of the notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. See "Plan of Distribution."

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, including the information incorporated by reference herein, contains "forward looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which includes information concerning one or more of our plans; objectives; goals; strategies; future events; future revenues or performance; our implementation of our key strategic priorities and anticipated resulting growth in our sales, earnings and cash flow in both the U.S. and internationally on our business segments; uncertainties arising from global events; general economic, financial and industry conditions, particularly in the retail sector, as well as consumer confidence and the availability of consumer financing; competition in our industry; consumer acceptance of our products; the ability to continuously improve and expand our product line, maintain efficient, timely and cost-effective production and delivery of products, and manage growth; the ability to expand brand awareness, distribution and new products; the efficiency and effectiveness of our advertising campaigns and other marketing programs; the ability to increase sales productivity within existing retail accounts and to further penetrate the retail channel, including the timing of opening or expanding within large retail accounts and the timing and success of product launches; the effects of consolidation of retailers on revenues and costs; the effects of strategic investments on our operations, including our efforts to expand our global market share; changing commodity costs; changes in product and channel mix and the impact on the Company's gross margin; initiatives to improve gross margin and operating margin; our capital structure and increased debt level, including our ability to meet financial obligations and continue to comply with the terms and financial ratio covenants of our credit facilities; changes in interest rates; changes in foreign tax rates and changes in tax laws generally, including the ability to utilize tax loss carry forwards; effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on our reported earnings; the outcome of pending tax audits or other tax, regulatory or litigation proceedings and similar issues; the effect of future legislative or regulatory changes; financial flexibility; our expected sources of cash flow; our expected level of capital expenditures for 2016 and changes in capital expenditures; expectations regarding the impact of costs from headcount reductions and international store closures; and our ability to effectively manage cash. Many of these statements appear, in particular, under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in PART II, ITEM 7 of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and in PART I, ITEM 2 of our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein. When used in this prospectus, including the information incorporated herein by reference, the words "estimates," "expects," "guidance," "anticipates," "proposed," "projects," "plans," "intends," "believes" and variations of such words or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based upon our current expectations and various assumptions. The inclusion of this forward-looking information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the future plans, estimates or expectations contemplated by us will be achieved. There can be no assurance that we will realize our expectations or that our beliefs will prove correct.

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control, that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed as forward-looking statements in this prospectus, including the information incorporated herein by reference, including the risk factors discussed in this prospectus under the heading "Risk Factors" and the risk factors discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" under PART I, ITEM 1A of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein. There may be other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements attributable to us apply only as of the date of this prospectus, including the information incorporated herein by reference, and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this prospectus, including the information incorporated herein by reference. Except as may be required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

SUMMARY

This summary highlights the information contained elsewhere in this prospectus or incorporated herein by reference. This summary may not contain all of the information that may be important to you or that you should consider before making a decision to participate in the exchange offer. You should read the entire prospectus carefully. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus or incorporated herein by reference. In particular, you should read the section entitled "Risk Factors" included elsewhere in this prospectus and our financial statements and the related notes and management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation incorporated herein by reference.

Our Company

We are the world's largest bedding provider, created through our acquisition of Sealy Corporation ("Sealy") and its historical subsidiaries in March 2013 (the "Sealy Acquisition"). We develop, manufacture, market and distribute bedding products, which we sell globally in approximately 100 countries. Our brand portfolio includes many highly recognized brands in the industry, including TEMPUR®, Tempur-Pedic®, Sealy®, Sealy Posturepedic®, and Stearns & Foster®. Our comprehensive suite of bedding products offers a variety of products to consumers across a broad range of channels.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in September 2002 under the laws of the State of Delaware. On May 22, 2013, we changed our name to Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Our principal executive office is located at 1000 Tempur Way, Lexington, Kentucky 40511 and our telephone number is (800) 878-8889. Our internet address is www.tempursealy.com. Information on, or accessible through, our website is not part of this prospectus.

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

On May 24, 2016, we issued \$600.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 in a private placement. We entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers of the Original Notes in which we agreed to deliver to you this prospectus. You are entitled to exchange your Original Notes in the exchange offer for registered notes with identical terms, except that the registered notes will have been registered under the Securities Act and will not bear legends restricting their transfer. Unless you are a broker-dealer or unable to participate in the exchange offer, we believe that the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offer may be resold by you without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. You should read the discussions under the headings "The Exchange Offer" and "Description of Exchange Notes" for further information regarding the Exchange Notes.

Registration Rights Agreement

You are entitled under the registration rights agreement governing your Original Notes to exchange your Original Notes for Exchange Notes with substantially identical terms. The exchange offer is intended to satisfy these rights. After the exchange offer is completed, except as set forth in the next paragraph, you will no longer be entitled to any exchange or registration rights with respect to your Original Notes.

If you do not receive freely tradable Exchange Notes in the exchange offer or you are ineligible to participate in the exchange offer and indicate that you wish to have your Original Notes registered under the Securities Act, the registration rights agreement governing your Original Notes requires us to file a registration statement for a continuous offering in accordance with Rule 415 under the Securities Act for your benefit. See "The Exchange Offer."

We are offering to exchange up to \$600.0 million aggregate principal amount of our Exchange Notes, which have been registered under the Securities Act, for up to \$600.0 million aggregate principal amount of our Original Notes, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and the accompanying letter of transmittal, which we refer to as the exchange offer. You may tender Original Notes only in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. The Original Notes we are offering to exchange hereby were issued under an indenture dated as of May 24, 2016.

Based upon the position of the staff of the SEC as described in no-action letters issued to third parties unrelated to us, we believe that Exchange Notes issued pursuant to the exchange offer in exchange for Original Notes may be offered for resale, resold and otherwise transferred by you without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, provided that:

- you are acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of your business;
- you have not engaged in, do not intend to engage in, and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in, a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offer;

The Exchange Offer

Resale of Exchange Notes

- you have not engaged in, do not intend to engage in, and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in, a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offer;
- you are not an "affiliate" of ours as defined under Rule 405 of the Securities Act; and
- if you are not a broker-dealer, you are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in the distribution of the Exchange Notes.

We do not intend to apply for listing of the Exchange Notes on any securities exchange or seek approval for quotation through an automated quotation system. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that an active market will develop upon completion of the exchange offer or, if developed, that such market will be sustained or as to the liquidity of any such market.

By tendering your Original Notes as described in "The Exchange Offer," you will be making representations to this effect. If you fail to satisfy any of these conditions, you cannot rely on the position of the SEC set forth in the no-action letters referred to above and you must comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with a resale of the Exchange Notes.

We base our belief on interpretations by the SEC staff in no-action letters issued to other issuers in exchange offers like ours. We cannot guarantee that the SEC will make a similar decision about our exchange offer. If our belief is wrong, you could incur liability under the Securities Act. We will not protect you against any loss incurred as a result of this liability under the Securities Act.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes, where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of Exchange Notes during the period ending on the earlier of (i) 180 days from the date on which the registration statement on Form S-4, to which this prospectus forms a part, became effective and (ii) the date on which such broker-dealer is no longer required to deliver a prospectus in connection with market-making or other trading activities. See "Plan of Distribution."

Consequences If You Do Not Exchange Your Original Notes

Original Notes that are not tendered in the exchange offer or are not accepted for exchange will continue to bear legends restricting their transfer. You will not be able to offer or sell such Original Notes unless:

• you are able to rely on an exemption from the requirements of the Securities Act;

- the Original Notes are registered under the Securities Act; or
- the transaction requires neither an exception from nor registration under the requirements of the Securities Act.

After the exchange offer is closed, we will no longer have an obligation to register the Original Notes, except under limited circumstances. To the extent that Original Notes are tendered and accepted in the exchange offer, the trading market for any remaining Original Notes may be adversely affected. See "Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the Exchange Offer."

The exchange offer will expire at midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, unless we extend the exchange offer and the exchange offer will be open at least through the twentieth business day following commencement of the offering. See "The Exchange Offer—Expiration Date; Extensions; Amendments."

We will issue Exchange Notes in exchange for Original Notes tendered and accepted in the exchange offer promptly following the Expiration Date (unless amended as described in this prospectus). See "The Exchange Offer—Terms of the Exchange."

The exchange offer is subject to certain customary conditions, which we may amend or waive. The exchange offer is not conditioned upon any minimum principal amount of outstanding Original Notes being tendered. See "The Exchange Offer—Conditions to the Exchange Offer."

If you wish to accept the exchange offer, you must deliver to the exchange agent:

- your Original Notes, either by tendering them in certificated form or by timely confirmation of book-entry transfer through DTC, and
- all other documents required by the letter of transmittal.

These actions must be completed before the expiration of the exchange offer. If you hold Original Notes through DTC, you must comply with its standard procedures for electronic tenders, by which you will agree to be bound by the letter of transmittal.

By signing, or by agreeing to be bound by, the letter of transmittal, you will be representing to

- you will be acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of your business,
- you have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution
 of the Exchange Notes within the meaning of the Securities Act,
- you are not an affiliate, as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act, of ours, and

Expiration Date

Issuance of Exchange Notes

Certain Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Procedures for Tendering Old Notes

• if you are not a broker-dealer, you are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in the distribution of the Exchange Notes.

See "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering."

Guaranteed Delivery Procedures for Tendering Original

If you cannot tender your Original Notes by the expiration date or you cannot deliver your Original Notes, the letter of transmittal or any other documentation to comply with the applicable procedures under DTC standard operating procedures for electronic tenders in a timely fashion, you may tender your Original Notes according to the guaranteed delivery procedures set forth under "The Exchange Offer—Guaranteed Delivery Procedures."

Special Procedures for Beneficial Holders

If you beneficially own Original Notes which are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and you wish to tender in the exchange offer, you should contact the registered holder promptly and instruct such person to tender on your behalf. If you wish to tender in the exchange offer on your own behalf, you must, prior to completing and executing the letter of transmittal and delivering your Original Notes, either arrange to have the Original Notes registered in your name or obtain a properly completed bond power from the registered holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take a considerable amount of time. See "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering."

Withdrawal Rights

You may withdraw your tender of Original Notes at any time before the exchange offer expires. See "The Exchange Offer—Withdrawal of Tenders."

Accounting Treatment

We will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon the completion of the exchange offer. The expenses of the exchange offer that we pay will increase our deferred financing costs in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. See "The Exchange Offer—Accounting Treatment."

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The exchange pursuant to the exchange offer generally will not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. See "Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations."

Use of Proceeds

We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange or the issuance of Exchange Notes in connection with the exchange offer.

Exchange Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. is serving as exchange agent in connection with the exchange offer. The address and telephone number of the exchange agent are set forth under "The Exchange Offer—Exchange Agent." The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., is also the trustee under the indenture governing the notes.

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE NOTES

The following summary is provided solely for your convenience. The summary is not intended to be complete. You should read the full text and more specific details contained elsewhere in this prospectus. For a more detailed description of the notes, see "Description of Exchange Notes."

Issuer Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Securities Offered \$600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026.

Maturity June 15, 2026.

Interest Will be payable in cash on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning

December 15, 2016.

Guarantees The Exchange Notes will be guaranteed by all of our existing and future domestic restricted

subsidiaries (the "Guarantors") that guarantee or are borrowers under our 2016 Credit Agreement (as defined in "Description of other Indebtedness" below). The guarantees will rank equally to all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the guarantors, but will be effectively junior to all of the secured indebtedness of the guarantors, to the extent of the

value of the assets securing that indebtedness.

The Exchange Notes will rank equally to all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness, but will be effectively junior to all of our secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the assets securing that indebtedness. The Exchange Notes will also effectively rank junior to all liabilities of our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes. As of June 30, 2016:

• The notes would have effectively ranked junior to \$656.9 million of secured indebtedness of Tempur Sealy and the subsidiaries guaranteeing the notes (including outstanding letters of credit, plus up to an additional \$481.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility); and

 The notes would have effectively ranked junior to \$156.3 million of liabilities of our nonguarantor subsidiaries (excluding intercompany liabilities).

We may redeem any of the Exchange Notes beginning on June 15, 2021. The initial redemption price is 102.750% of their principal amount, plus accrued interest. The redemption price will decline each year after 2021 and will be 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, beginning on June 15, 2024.

In addition, before June 15, 2019, we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes with the proceeds of certain offerings of our equity securities at 105.500% of their

Ranking

Optional Redemption

principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. We may make such redemptions only if, after any such redemption, at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes originally issued remains outstanding.

We may also redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes before June 15, 2021 at a redemption price of 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, to the redemption date, plus an applicable "make-whole" premium.

Upon a change of control (as described under "Description of Exchange Notes"), we will be required to make an offer to repurchase the Exchange Notes. The purchase price will equal 101% of the principal amount of the notes on the date of repurchase plus accrued and unpaid interest. We may not have sufficient funds available at the time of any change of control to make any required debt repayment (including repurchases of the notes). See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Notes—We may not be able to repurchase the notes upon a change of control."

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

The terms of the Exchange Notes restrict our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries (as described in "Description of Exchange Notes") to:

- incur additional indebtedness or provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;
- pay dividends on, repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or make other restricted payments;
- · prepay, redeem or repurchase subordinated debt;
- make loans or investments;
- sell or otherwise dispose of certain assets;
- · incur liens;
- restrict dividends, loans or asset transfers from our subsidiaries;
- consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;
- enter into a new or different line of business; and
- enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.

However, these limitations will be subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions.

We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offer.

The Exchange Notes will not be listed on any national securities exchange or any automated dealer quotation system and there is currently no market for the notes. Accordingly, there can be no

Change of Control

Trustee, Registrar and Transfer Agent

Certain Covenants

Use of Proceeds

No Public Trading Market

assurances that an active market for the Exchange Notes will develop upon the completion of the exchange offer or, if developed, that such market will be sustained, or as to the liquidity of any such market.

Risk Factors

In analyzing an investment in the Exchange Notes and participation in the exchange offer, you should carefully consider, along with other matters included, incorporated by reference, or referred to in this prospectus, the information set forth under "Risk Factors."

RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the notes involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the following information about these risks, together with the other information contained in this prospectus, before participating in the exchange offer. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, prospects, results of operations or cash flow could be materially and adversely affected. Additional risks or uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our business operations. We cannot assure you that any of the events discussed in the risk factors below will not occur. If any such event does occur, you may lose all or part of your original investment in the notes.

Risks Related To Our Business

Unfavorable economic and market conditions could reduce our sales and profitability and as a result, our operating results may be adversely affected.

Our business has been affected by general business and economic conditions, and these conditions could have an impact on future demand for our products. The global economy remains unstable, and we expect the economic environment to continue to be challenging. Economic uncertainty may give households less confidence to make discretionary purchases.

There could be a number of other effects from these economic developments on our business, including reduced consumer demand for products; insolvency of our customers, resulting in increased provisions for credit losses; insolvency of our key suppliers resulting in product delays; inability of retailers and consumers to obtain credit to finance purchases of our products; decreased consumer confidence; decreased retail demand, including order delays or cancellations; inability for us, our customers and our suppliers to accurately forecast future product demand trends; counterparty failures negatively impacting our treasury operations; and adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. If such conditions are experienced in future periods, our industry, business and results of operations may be severely impacted.

Because we depend on our significant customers, a decrease or interruption in their business with us would reduce our sales and results of operations.

Our top five customers, collectively, account for approximately 39.4% of our net sales for 2015. The credit environment in which our customers operate has been relatively stable over the past few years. We expect that some of the retailers that carry our products may consolidate, undergo restructurings or reorganizations, experience financial difficulty, or realign their affiliations, any of which could decrease the number of stores that carry our products or increase the ownership concentration in the retail industry. An increase in the concentration of our sales to large customers may negatively affect our profitability due to the impact of volume and other incentive programs related to these customers. Furthermore, as sales to our large customers grow, our credit exposure to these customers may also increase. Some of these retailers may decide to carry only a limited number of brands of mattress products, which could affect our ability to sell products to them on favorable terms, if at all. A substantial decrease or interruption in business from these significant customers could result in the loss of future business and could reduce liquidity and profitability. In addition, the timing of large purchases by these customers could have an increasingly significant impact on our quarterly net sales and earnings.

Mattress Firm Holding Corp., which is represented in the North America segment, is our largest customer. On February 5, 2016, Mattress Firm Holding Corp. acquired all of the outstanding equity interests in HMK Mattress Holdings, LLC ("Sleepy's"). Sleepy's operates approximately 1,050 specialty mattress retail stores located in 17 states and the combined company will operate approximately 3,500 stores in 48 states. Sleepy's was also one of our top 5 customers in 2015 and as a result of this acquisition, based on 2015 net sales, the combined company will be our largest customer, and will represent a significant portion of our overall sales. Mattress Firm and Sleepy's together represented approximately 25% of our overall net sales for 2015. This higher customer concentration will increase the risks associated with large customers described above.

Our sales growth is dependent upon our ability to implement strategic initiatives and actions taken to increase sales growth may not be effective.

Our ability to generate sales growth is dependent upon a number of factors, including the following:

- our ability to continuously improve our products to offer new and enhanced consumer benefits and better quality;
- the ability of our future product launches to increase net sales;
- the effectiveness of our advertising campaigns and other marketing programs in building product and brand awareness, driving traffic to our distribution channels and increasing sales;
- our ability to expand into new distribution channels and grow our existing channels, including our current roll-out of Sealy mattress products in various international markets;
- our ability to continue to successfully execute our strategic initiatives;
- the level of consumer acceptance of our products; and
- general economic factors that negatively impact consumer confidence, disposable income or the availability of consumer financing.

We may be adversely affected by fluctuations in exchange rates, which could affect our results of operations, the costs of our products and our ability to sell our products in foreign markets.

Approximately 25% of our net sales were generated outside of the United States in 2015. As a multinational company, we conduct our business in a wide variety of currencies and are therefore subject to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates. If the U.S. dollar strengthened relative to the euro or other foreign currencies where we have operations, there would be a negative impact on our operating results upon translation of those foreign operating results into the U.S. dollar. In 2015, foreign currency exchange rate changes negatively impacted our adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, by approximately 6.4%. In 2016, we expect foreign exchange could continue to negatively impact our results of operations. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates could have an adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We do not hedge the translation of foreign currency operating results into the U.S. dollar.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage a portion of the exposure to the risk of the eventual net cash inflows and outflows resulting from foreign currency denominated transactions between our subsidiaries and their customers and suppliers, as well as among certain subsidiaries. These hedging transactions may not succeed in managing our foreign currency exchange rate risk.

Refer to "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation" included in PART I, ITEM 2 of our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein for additional information and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" included in PART I, ITEM 3 of our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein for additional information for further discussion on the impact of foreign exchange rates on our operations.

We are subject to a pending tax proceeding in Denmark, and an adverse decision or a negotiated settlement could adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows, as well as other legal and regulatory proceedings.

We have received income tax assessments from the Danish Tax Authority ("SKAT"). We believe the process to reach a final resolution of this matter could potentially extend over a number of years. If we are not successful in defending our position that we owe no additional taxes, we could be required to pay a significant amount to SKAT. In addition, the Company could choose to pursue a settlement with SKAT, which could also require the Company to pay significant amounts to SKAT in excess of any related reserve. Each of these

outcomes could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, prior to any ultimate resolution of this issue before the Danish National Tax Tribunal or the Danish courts, or a settlement of the matter with SKAT, based on a change in facts and circumstances, the Company may be required to further increase its uncertain tax liability associated with this matter, which could have a material impact on the Company's reported earnings. For a description of these assessments and additional information with respect to these assessments and the various related legal proceedings, see "Legal Proceedings" in PART II, ITEM 1 included in our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein, Note 11, "Commitments and Contingencies," in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements," in PART I, ITEM 1 in our Financial Statements included in our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein for additional information.

In addition, we are also subject to other legal and regulatory proceedings that could require us to pay material amounts or otherwise affect us. See "Legal Proceedings" in Part I, Item 3 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein.

We operate in the highly competitive mattress and pillow industries, and if we are unable to compete successfully, we may lose customers and our sales may decline.

Participants in the mattress and pillow industries compete primarily on price, quality, brand name recognition, product availability and product performance and compete across a range of distribution channels.

A number of our significant competitors offer mattress and pillow products that compete directly with our products. Any such competition by established manufacturers or new entrants into the market could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, mattress and pillow manufacturers and retailers are seeking to increase their channels of distribution and looking for new ways to reach the consumer, including the recent expansion in the number of companies pursuing online direct-to-consumer models for foam mattresses. The pillow industry is characterized by a large number of competitors, none of which are dominant. The highly competitive nature of the mattress and pillow industries means we are continually subject to the risk of loss of market share, loss of significant customers, reductions in margins, and the inability to acquire new customers.

We rely significantly on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology could harm our ability to effectively operate our business.

Our ability to effectively manage our business depends significantly on our information systems. The failure of our current systems, or future upgrades, to operate effectively or to integrate with other systems, or a breach in security of these systems could cause reduced efficiency of our operations, and remediation of any such failure, problem or breach could reduce our liquidity and profitability. Any disruptions caused by the failure of these systems could adversely impact our day-to-day business and decision making and could have a material adverse effect on its performance.

We have successfully implemented a new enterprise resource planning, or "ERP," system across several of our global subsidiaries. We are continuing this implementation and expanding into our North America segment. This new system will continue to replace a substantial portion of our legacy systems currently supporting our operations. If we are unable to successfully implement the replacement of the legacy systems, it could lead to a disruption in our business and unanticipated additional use of capital and other resources, which may adversely impact our results of operations.

Changes in tax laws and regulations or other factors could cause our income tax rate to increase, potentially reducing net income and adversely affecting cash flows, and fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility of our financial results and stock price.

We are subject to taxation in various jurisdictions around the world and at any one time multiple tax years are subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. In preparing financial statements, we calculate our annual effective income tax rate based on current tax laws and regulations and the estimated taxable income within each of these jurisdictions. Our effective income tax rate, however, may be higher due to numerous factors, including, but not limited to, changes in accounting methods or policies, tax laws or regulations, the tax litigation environment in each such jurisdiction, and the outcome of pending or future audits, whether the result of litigation or negotiations with taxing authorities. Each such item may result in a tax liability that differs from our original estimate. An effective income tax rate that is significantly higher than currently anticipated could have an adverse effect on our net income and cash flows. In addition, there could be ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as events occur and exposures are evaluated, which could adversely affect our quarterly results of operations and stock price.

Officials in some of the jurisdictions in which we do business, including the United States, have proposed or announced that they are considering tax increases and other revenue raising laws and regulations. Additionally, the global tax environment is becoming more complex, with government tax authorities becoming increasingly more aggressive in asserting claims for taxes. Any resulting changes in tax laws or regulations could increase our effective income tax rate or impose new restrictions, costs or prohibitions on our current practices and reduce our net income and adversely affect our cash flows.

In addition to the increased activity of taxing authorities with respect to income tax, taxing authorities are also becoming more aggressive in asserting claims for indirect taxes such as import duties and value added tax. These types of claims present similar risks and uncertainties as those discussed above. We believe we are in compliance with all tax laws and regulations that govern such indirect taxes in each of the jurisdictions we do business in. However, because claims taxing authorities assert often involve the question of internal product pricing, which is inherently subjective in nature, any such claim may require us to litigate the matter to defend our position or to negotiate a settlement on the matter with the taxing authorities that differs from the amount of potential exposure recorded in the financial statements.

Our leverage may limit our flexibility and increase our risk of default.

As a result of our acquisition of Sealy, our long-term debt has increased substantially, which, in turn, has increased our leverage (for information regarding these topics, see "Management's Discussion and Analysis" included in Part II, ITEM 7 of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein and Note 6, "Debt", in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, ITEM 8 of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein.)

Our degree of leverage could have important consequences to our investors, such as:

- increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic, industry or competitive developments;
- requiring a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures and other business opportunities;
- making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness;
- restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or investments or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;
- limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, product development, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes;

- limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or the industry in which we operate, placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who are less highly leveraged and who therefore, may be able to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting;
- exposing us to variability in interest rates, as a substantial portion of our indebtedness is and will be at variable rates; and
- limiting our ability to return capital to our stockholders, including through share repurchases.

In addition, the instruments governing our debt contain financial and other restrictive covenants, which limit our operating flexibility and could prevent us from taking advantage of business opportunities and reduce our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Our failure to comply with these covenants may result in an event of default. If such event of default is not cured or waived, we may suffer adverse effects on our operations, business or financial condition, including acceleration of our debt. See "—Risks Related to the Notes—We will have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business."

We are subject to fluctuations in the cost of raw materials, and increases in these costs would reduce our liquidity and profitability.

The bedding industry has been challenged by volatility in the price of petroleum-based and steel products, which affects the cost of polyurethane foam, polyester, polyethylene foam and steel innerspring component parts. The price and availability of these raw materials are subject to market conditions affecting supply and demand. Given the significance of the cost of these materials to our products, volatility in the prices of the underlying commodities can significantly affect profitability. To the extent we are unable to absorb higher costs, or pass any such higher costs to our customers, our gross margin could be negatively affected, which could result in a decrease in our liquidity and profitability.

If we, or our service providers, are unable to adequately protect our information assets from cyber-based attacks or other security incidents, our operations could be disrupted and our reputation could be damaged.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology, including the Internet, for the storage, processing, and transmission of our electronic, business-related information assets. We leverage our internal information technology infrastructures, and those of our service providers, to enable, sustain and support our global business interests. In the event that we or our service providers are unable to prevent, detect and remediate cyber-based attacks or other security incidents in a timely manner, our operations could be disrupted or we may incur financial or reputational losses arising from the theft, alteration, misuse, unauthorized disclosure or destruction of its information assets.

We may be unable to sustain our profitability, which could impair our ability to service our indebtedness and make investments in our business and could adversely affect the market price for our securities.

Our ability to service our indebtedness depends on our ability to maintain our profitability. We may not be able to maintain our profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in future periods. Further, our profitability will depend upon a number of factors, including without limitation:

- general economic conditions in the markets in which we sell our products and the impact on consumers and retailers;
- the level of competition in the mattress and pillow industry;
- our ability to successfully identify and respond to emerging trends in the mattress and pillow industry;
- our ability to successfully launch new products;

- our ability to effectively sell our products through our distribution channels in volumes sufficient to drive growth and leverage our cost structure and advertising spending;
- · our ability to reduce costs, including our ability to align our cost structure with sales in the existing economic environment;
- our ability to successfully manage our relationships with our major customers;
- our ability to absorb fluctuations in commodity costs;
- · our ability to maintain efficient, timely and cost-effective production and utilization of our manufacturing capacity; and
- · our ability to maintain efficient, timely and cost-effective delivery of our products, and our ability to maintain public recognition of our brands.

Our new product launches may not be successful due to development delays, failure of new products to achieve anticipated levels of market acceptance and significant costs associated with failed product introductions, which could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Each year we invest significant time and resources in research and development to improve our product offerings and launch new products. There are a number of risks inherent in our new product line introductions, including that the anticipated level of market acceptance may not be realized, which could negatively impact our sales. Also, introduction costs, the speed of the rollout of the product and manufacturing inefficiencies may be greater than anticipated, which could impact profitability.

Our advertising expenditures and customer incentives may not result in increased sales or generate the levels of product and brand name awareness we desire and we may not be able to manage our advertising expenditures on a cost-effective basis.

A significant component of our marketing strategy involves the use of direct marketing to generate brand awareness and sales. Future growth and profitability will depend in part on the cost and efficiency of our advertising expenditures, including our ability to create greater awareness of our products and brand names and determine the appropriate creative message and media mix for future advertising expenditures and to incent the promotion of our products.

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations, including as a result of seasonality, which could make sequential quarter to quarter comparisons an unreliable indication of our performance and adversely affect the market price of our securities.

A significant portion of our net sales are attributable to our Retail channel, particularly net sales to furniture and bedding stores. We believe that our sales of bedding and other products to furniture and bedding stores are subject to seasonality inherent in the bedding industry, with sales expected to be generally lower in the second and fourth quarters and higher in the first and third quarters, and in Europe, lower in the third quarter as compared to the other quarters during the year. Additionally, typical seasonality patterns may be affected by significant new product launches. In 2015 and 2014, we experienced stronger sales in the third and fourth quarters due to product launches in the first half of the year. This seasonality means that a sequential quarter to quarter comparison may not be a good indication of our performance or of how we will perform in the future.

We are subject to risks from our international operations, such as complying with U.S. and foreign laws, foreign exchange exposure, tariffs, increased costs, political risks and our ability to expand in certain international markets, which could impair our ability to compete and our profitability.

We are a global company, selling our products in approximately 100 countries worldwide. We generated approximately 25% of our net sales outside of the United States in 2015, and we continue to pursue additional

international opportunities. We also participate in international license and joint venture arrangements with independent third parties. Our international operations are subject to the customary risks of operating in an international environment, including complying with U.S. laws affecting operations outside of the United States such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; complying with foreign laws and regulations, including disparate anti-corruption laws and regulations; risks associated with varying local business customs; and the potential imposition of trade or foreign exchange restrictions, tariffs and other tax increases, fluctuations in exchange rates, inflation and unstable political situations and labor issues. We are also limited in our ability to independently expand in certain international markets where we have granted licenses to manufacture and sell Sealy® bedding products. Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between currencies in which we do business may affect our financial condition or results of operations.

If we are not able to protect our trade secrets or maintain our trademarks, patents and other intellectual property, we may not be able to prevent competitors from developing similar products or from marketing in a manner that capitalizes on our trademarks, and this loss of a competitive advantage could decrease our profitability and liquidity.

We rely on trade secrets to protect the design, technology and function of our products. To date, we have not sought U.S. or international patent protection for our principal product formula for TEMPUR® material and manufacturing processes. Accordingly, we may not be able to prevent others from developing viscoelastic material and products that are similar to or competitive with our products. Our ability to compete effectively with other companies also depends, to a significant extent, on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our owned and licensed intellectual property. We own a significant number of patents on aspects of our products and have patent applications pending on aspects of our products and manufacturing processes. However, the principal product formula and manufacturing processes for our TEMPUR® material and our products are not patented and we must maintain these as trade secrets in order to protect this intellectual property. We own U.S. and foreign registered trade names and service marks and have applications for the registration of trade names and service marks pending domestically and abroad. We also license certain intellectual property rights from third parties.

Our trademarks are currently registered in the U.S. and registered or pending in foreign jurisdictions. However, those rights could be circumvented, or violate the proprietary rights of others, or we could be prevented from using them if challenged. A challenge to our use of our trademarks could result in a negative ruling regarding our use of our trademarks, their validity or their enforceability, or could prove expensive and time consuming in terms of legal costs and time spent defending against such a challenge. Any loss of trademark protection could result in a decrease in sales or cause us to spend additional amounts on marketing, either of which could decrease our liquidity and profitability. In addition, if we incur significant costs defending our trademarks, that could also decrease our liquidity and profitability. In addition, we may not have the financial resources necessary to enforce or defend our trademarks. Furthermore, our patents may not provide meaningful protection and patents may never issue from pending applications. It is also possible that others could bring claims of infringement against us, as our principal product formula and manufacturing processes are not patented, and that any licenses protecting our intellectual property could be terminated. If we were unable to maintain the proprietary nature of our intellectual property and our significant current or proposed products, this loss of a competitive advantage could result in decreased sales or increased operating costs, either of which would decrease our liquidity and profitability.

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights and confidential information to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. or the European Union. Third parties, including competitors, may assert intellectual property infringement or invalidity claims against us that could be upheld. Intellectual property litigation, which could result in substantial cost to and diversion of effort by us, may be necessary to protect our trade secrets or proprietary technology, or for us to defend against claimed infringement of the rights of others and to determine the scope and validity of others' proprietary rights. We may not prevail in any such litigation, and if we are unsuccessful, we may not be able to obtain any necessary licenses on reasonable terms or at all.

A material increase in our product return rates or an inadequacy in our warranty reserves could reduce our liquidity and profitability.

We allow consumers to return certain products for comfort reasons. As we expand our sales, our return rates may not remain within our historical levels. A downturn in general economic conditions may also increase our product return rates. A material increase in return rates could significantly impair our liquidity and profitability.

We provide our consumers warranties on our products ranging from 3 to 25 years. Due to the increase in new product introductions in recent years, we may still see significant warranty claims on products under warranty which are early in their product life cycles. As of March 1, 2014, we shortened the warranty of Tempur mattresses sold in our North America segment from 25 years to 10 years to align with the industry standard. Also, in line with our strategy, as we continue to innovate to provide new products to our customers, we could be susceptible to unanticipated risks with our warranty claims, which could impair our liquidity and profitability.

Because some of our products have been in use by our customers for the full warranty period, we rely on the combination of historical experience and product testing for the development of our estimate for warranty claims. However, our actual level of warranty claims could prove to be greater than the level of warranty claims we estimated based on our products' performance during product testing. If our warranty reserves are not adequate to cover future warranty claims, their inadequacy could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and profitability.

We are vulnerable to interest rate risk with respect to our debt, which could lead to an increase in interest expense.

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the variable rate debt under our debt agreements. Interest rate changes could increase the amount of our interest payments and thus, negatively impact our future earnings and cash flows. Although we refinanced a significant portion of our variable rate debt in 2015 with fixed rate debt, we still have a significant amount of variable rate debt outstanding. For information regarding our sensitivity to changes in interest rates, refer to "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" included in PART II, ITEM 7A included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein and in PART I, ITEM 3 included in our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein.

Loss of suppliers and disruptions in the supply of our raw materials could increase our costs of sales and reduce our ability to compete effectively.

We acquire raw materials and certain components from a number of suppliers with manufacturing locations around the world. If we were unable to obtain raw materials and certain components from these suppliers for any reason, we would have to find replacement suppliers. Any substitute arrangements for raw materials and certain components might not be on terms as favorable to us. In addition, we outsource the procurement of certain goods and services from suppliers in foreign countries. If we were no longer able to outsource through these suppliers, we could source it elsewhere, perhaps at a higher cost. We maintain relatively small supplies of our raw materials and outsourced goods at our manufacturing facilities, and any disruption in the on-going shipment of supplies to us could interrupt production of our products, which could result in a decrease of our sales or could cause an increase in our cost of sales, either of which could decrease our liquidity and profitability.

In connection with the general supply chain risks described above, we are dependent upon single source suppliers for certain structural components or assembly of specific product lines within the Sealy brand portfolio. These products are purchased under a supply agreement and are manufactured in accordance with proprietary designs jointly owned by us and the supplier.

Unexpected equipment failures, delays in deliveries or catastrophic loss delays may lead to production curtailments or shutdowns.

We manufacture and distribute products to our customers from our network of manufacturing facilities located around the world. An interruption in production capabilities at any of these manufacturing facilities could result in our inability to produce our products, which would reduce our net sales and earnings for the affected period. In addition, we generally deliver our products only after receiving the order from the customer or the retailer, and in certain facilities, on a just-in-time basis, and thus do not hold significant levels of inventories. Any significant delay in deliveries to our customers could lead to increased returns or cancellations and cause us to lose future sales. Any increase in freight charges could increase our costs of doing business and affect our profitability. We have introduced new distribution programs to increase our ability to deliver products on a timely basis, but if we fail to deliver products on a timely basis, we may lose sales which could decrease our liquidity and profitability. Our manufacturing facilities are also subject to the risk of catastrophic loss due to unanticipated events such as fires, explosions or violent weather conditions. Despite the fact that we maintain insurance covering the majority of these risks, we may in the future experience material plant shutdowns or periods of reduced production as a result of equipment failure, delays in deliveries or catastrophic loss.

The loss of the services of any members of our executive management team could impair our ability to execute our business strategy and as a result, reduce our sales and profitability.

We depend on the continued services of our executive management team. The loss of key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our ability to execute our business strategy and on our financial condition and results of operations. We do not maintain key-person insurance for members of our executive management team.

We could face adverse consequences as a result of stockholder actions or abrupt changes in our management or Board of Directors.

H Partners Management LLC, together with certain of its affiliates (collectively, "H Partners"), has publicly criticized our operation of our business, our business strategy, corporate governance considerations and other matters and demanded immediate changes in our management and Board of Directors. Although the Company entered into an agreement with H Partners on May 11, 2015 that included a standstill that limited H Partners' ability to take certain actions, this standstill provision expired after the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 5, 2016 and there can be no assurance that H Partners or another stockholder will not make additional demands in the future.

The Company announced a number of significant changes in its senior management and Board of Directors. Abrupt changes in our senior management or Board of Directors could adversely impact our ability to manage our business and implement our key strategic priorities. In addition, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction, or any abrupt changes in our management or Board of Directors, may lead to concerns regarding the direction or stability of our business, which may be exploited by our competitors, result in the loss of business opportunities, cause concern to our current or potential customers or suppliers, or make it more difficult to retain existing personnel or attract and retain new personnel. Considering and responding to future demands by stockholders, or abrupt changes in management or the Board, could be time-consuming and result in significant additional costs to us and could be disruptive of our operations and divert the time and attention of management and our employees away from our business operations and executing on our strategic plan. These actions could also cause the price of our securities to experience periods of volatility.

Deterioration in labor relations could disrupt our business operations and increase our costs, which could decrease our liquidity and profitability.

As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately 7,200 full-time employees. Approximately 40.0% of our employees are represented by various labor unions with separate collective bargaining agreements or government

labor union contracts for certain international locations. Our North American collective bargaining agreements, which are typically three years in length, expire at various times during any given three year period. Due to the large number of collective bargaining agreements, we are periodically in negotiations with certain of the unions representing our employees. We may at some point be subject to work stoppages by some of our employees and, if such events were to occur, there may be a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability. Further, we may not be able to renew our various collective bargaining agreements on a timely basis or on favorable terms, or at all. Any significant increase in our labor costs could decrease our liquidity and profitability and any deterioration of employee relations, slowdowns or work stoppages at any of our locations, whether due to union activities, employee turnover or otherwise, could result in a decrease in our net sales or an increase in our costs, either of which could decrease our liquidity and profitability.

We may face exposure to product liability claims, which could reduce our liquidity and profitability and reduce consumer confidence in our products.

We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability claims if the use of any of our products results in personal injury or property damage. In the event that any of our products prove to be defective, we may be required to recall, redesign or even discontinue those products. We maintain insurance against product liability claims, but such coverage may not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us or be adequate for liabilities actually incurred. A successful claim brought against us in excess of available insurance coverage could impair our liquidity and profitability, and any claim or product recall that results in significant adverse publicity against us could result in consumers purchasing fewer of our products, which would also impair our liquidity and profitability.

Regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to, trade, environmental, health and safety requirements, may require costly expenditures and expose us to liability.

Our products and our marketing and advertising programs are subject to regulation in the U.S. by various federal, state and local regulatory authorities, including the Federal Trade Commission and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. In addition, other governments and agencies in other jurisdictions regulate the sale and distribution of our products. These rules and regulations may change from time to time, or may conflict. There may be continuing costs of regulatory compliance including continuous testing, additional quality control processes and appropriate auditing of design and process compliance. For example, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission ("CPSC") and many foreign jurisdictions have adopted rules relating to fire retardancy standards for the mattress industry. Further, some states and the U.S. Congress continue to consider fire retardancy regulations that may be different or more stringent than the CPSC standard. Adoption of multi-layered regulatory regimes, particularly if they conflict with each other, could increase our costs, alter our manufacturing processes and impair the performance of our products which may have an adverse effect on our business. We are also subject to various health and environmental provisions, such as California Proposition 65 (the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986) and 16 CFR Part 1633 (Standard for the Flammability (Open Flame) of Mattress Sets).

Our marketing and advertising practices could also become the subject of proceedings before regulatory authorities or the subject of claims by other parties and could require us to alter or end these practices or adopt new practices that are not as effective or are more expensive.

In addition, we are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to pollution, environmental protection and occupational health and safety. We may not be in complete compliance with all such requirements at all times. We have made and will continue to make capital and other expenditures to comply with environmental and health and safety requirements. If a release of hazardous substances occurs on or from our properties or any associated offsite disposal location, or if contamination from prior activities is discovered at any of our properties, we may be held liable and the amount of such liability could be material. As a manufacturer of bedding and related products, we use and dispose of a number of substances, such as glue,

lubricating oil, solvents and other petroleum products, as well as certain foam ingredients, that may subject us to regulation under numerous foreign, federal and state laws and regulations governing the environment. Among other laws and regulations, we are subject in the United States to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Clean Air Act and related state and local statutes and regulations.

Our operations could also be impacted by a number of pending legislative and regulatory proposals to address greenhouse gas emissions in the U.S. and other countries. Certain countries have adopted the Kyoto Protocol. New greenhouse gas reduction targets have been established under the Kyoto Protocol, as amended, and certain countries, including Denmark, have adopted the new reduction targets. This and other international initiatives under consideration could affect our International operations. These actions could increase costs associated with our operations, including costs for raw materials, pollution control equipment and transportation. Because it is uncertain what laws will be enacted, we cannot predict the potential impact of such laws on our future consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We have made and will continue to make capital and other expenditures to comply with environmental and health and safety requirements. With respect to the acquisition of Sealy, we could incur costs related to certain remediation activities. In particular, Sealy is currently addressing the clean-up of environmental contamination at certain of its former facilities. For additional information regarding these remediation activities, refer to Note 11, "Commitments and Contingencies," in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements," included in Part I, ITEM 1 in our Financial Statements included in our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q incorporated by reference herein for a discussion of Commitments and Contingencies. In the event of an adverse development or decision by one or more of the governing environmental authorities, additional contamination being discovered with respect to these or other properties or any third parties bringing claims related to these or other properties, these or other matters could have a material effect on our profitability.

Our pension plans are currently underfunded and we may be required to make cash payments to the plans, reducing our available cash.

We maintain certain defined benefit pension plans. In addition, hourly employees working at certain of Sealy's domestic manufacturing facilities are covered by union sponsored retirement and health and welfare plans. These plans cover both active employees and retirees. The plans are currently underfunded, and under certain circumstances we could be required to pay amounts with respect to this underfunding. Such events may significantly impair our profitability and liquidity. For more information, refer to Note 9, "Retirement Plans," in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, ITEM 8 of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporated by reference herein.

Challenges to our pricing policies could adversely affect our operations.

Certain of our retail pricing policies are subject to antitrust regulations in the U.S. and abroad. If antitrust regulators in any jurisdiction in which we do business initiate investigations into or challenge our pricing or advertising policies, our efforts to respond could force us to divert management resources and we could incur significant unanticipated costs. If such an investigation were to result in a charge that our practices or policies were in violation of applicable antitrust or other laws or regulations, we could be subject to significant additional costs of defending such charges in a variety of venues and, ultimately, if there were a finding that we were in violation of antitrust or other laws or regulations, there could be an imposition of fines, and damages for persons injured, as well as injunctive or other relief. Any requirement that we pay fines or damages could decrease our liquidity and profitability, and any investigation or claim that requires significant management attention or causes us to change our business practices could disrupt our operations or increase our costs, also resulting in a decrease in our liquidity and profitability. An antitrust class action suit against us could result in potential liabilities, substantial costs and the diversion of our management's attention and resources, regardless of the outcome.

Risks Related to the Notes

Despite our substantial indebtedness level, we and our subsidiaries will still be able to incur significant additional amounts of debt, which could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial indebtedness.

We may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Although the indenture governing the notes contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications and exceptions, and under certain circumstances, the amount of indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. If new debt is added to our existing debt levels, the related risks that we now face would increase. In addition, the indenture governing the notes will not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness under the indenture.

Our indenture contains restrictions that will limit our flexibility in operating our business.

The indenture governing the notes contains various covenants that will limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions. The indenture governing our existing notes and the 2016 Credit Agreement contain substantially similar restrictions. These covenants will limit our and our restricted subsidiaries' ability to, among other things:

- incur additional indebtedness or provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;
- pay dividends on, repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or make other restricted payments;
- prepay, redeem or repurchase subordinated debt;
- make loans or investments;
- · sell or otherwise dispose of certain assets;
- incur liens:
- restrict dividends, loans or asset transfers from our subsidiaries;
- consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;
- enter into a new or different line of business; and
- enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.

A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under the indenture or 2016 Credit Agreement, as applicable. In addition, any debt agreements we enter into in the future may further limit our ability to enter into certain types of transactions. In addition, the restrictive covenants in our 2016 Credit Agreement require us to maintain a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio, a maximum consolidated total net leverage ratio and a maximum consolidated secured leverage ratio. Our ability to comply with these financial ratios may be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure you that we will meet them. A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under our 2016 Credit Agreement. Moreover, the occurrence of a default under our 2016 Credit Agreement could result in an event of default under our other indebtedness including these notes. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under our 2016 Credit Agreement, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under our 2016 Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. Even if we are able to obtain new financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms, or terms that are acceptable to us. See "Description of Other Indebtedness."

If we default on our obligations to pay our indebtedness we may not be able to make payments on the notes.

Any default under the agreements governing our indebtedness, including a default under our 2016 Credit Agreement that is not waived by the required lenders, and the remedies sought by the holders of such

indebtedness, could make us unable to pay principal, premium, if any, and interest on the notes and substantially decrease the market value of the notes. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow and are otherwise unable to obtain funds necessary to meet required payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest on our indebtedness, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the various covenants, including financial and operating covenants, in the instruments governing our indebtedness (including covenants in our indentures and our 2016 Credit Agreement), we could be in default under the terms of the agreements governing such indebtedness, including our 2016 Credit Agreement and our indentures. In the event of such default, the holders of such indebtedness could elect to declare all the funds borrowed thereunder to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, the lenders under our 2016 Credit Agreement could elect to terminate their commitments thereunder and cease making further loans and institute foreclosure proceedings against our assets and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. If our operating performance declines, we may in the future need to obtain waivers from the required lenders under our 2016 Credit Agreement to avoid being in default. See "Description of Other Indebtedness" and "Description of Exchange Notes."

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service the notes or our other indebtedness, and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other factors beyond our control. We may not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the notes or our other indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance the notes or our other indebtedness. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of the indenture governing the notes and existing or future debt instruments, including the 2016 Credit Agreement, may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations.

The notes will be unsecured and will be effectively subordinated to our and the Guarantors' senior secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.

Our obligations under the notes and the Guarantors' obligations under the guarantees of the notes will not be secured by any of our or our Guarantors' assets. Our borrowings under our 2016 Credit Agreement and the related guarantees are secured by a pledge of substantially all of our and the Guarantors' assets. As a result, the notes and the guarantees will be effectively subordinated to all of our and the Guarantors' secured indebtedness and other obligations to the extent of the value of the assets securing such obligations. As of June 30, 2016, we and the Guarantors had outstanding approximately \$656.9 million of secured debt that would have ranked effectively senior to the notes to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such debt (with up to an additional \$481.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility). In addition, the indenture governing the notes will permit us and our subsidiaries to incur additional secured indebtedness, subject to certain restrictions. If we and the Guarantors were to become insolvent or otherwise fail to make payments on the notes, holders of our and the Guarantors' secured obligations would be paid first and would receive payments from the assets securing such obligations before the holders of the notes would receive any payments. Holders of the notes will participate ratably with all holders of our unsecured indebtedness that is deemed to be of the same class as the notes (including our 5.625% senior notes due 2023 (the "2023 Senior Notes")) and all of our other general creditors, based upon the respective amounts owed to each holder or creditor, in our remaining assets. You therefore may not be fully repaid in the event we become insolvent or otherwise fail to make payments on the notes.

The notes and the quarantees will be structurally subordinated to indebtedness and other liabilities of our non-quarantor subsidiaries.

Our foreign subsidiaries, immaterial subsidiaries, and subsidiaries that own no material assets other than stock of foreign subsidiaries will not guarantee the notes. The notes and the guarantees will be structurally subordinated to the indebtedness and other liabilities of any non-guarantor subsidiary, and holders of the notes will not have any claim as a creditor against any non-guarantor subsidiary. Accordingly, claims of holders of the notes will be structurally subordinated to the claims of creditors of these non-guarantor subsidiaries, including trade creditors. All obligations of our non-guarantor subsidiaries will have to be satisfied before any of the assets of such subsidiaries would be available for distribution, upon a liquidation or otherwise, to us or a guarantor of the notes. In addition, subject to certain limitations, the indenture governing the notes permits non-guarantor subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness and does not limit their ability to incur liabilities not constituting indebtedness.

Our non-guarantor subsidiaries generated approximately 24% and 32% of our consolidated net sales and operating income, respectively, for the twelve months ended June 30, 2016 and, as of June 30, 2016, had \$427.9 million in total assets (excluding goodwill and intangible assets) and \$156.3 million in total outstanding liabilities (excluding intercompany liabilities).

We may not be able to repurchase the notes upon a change of control.

Upon the occurrence of specific kinds of change of control events, we will be required to offer to repurchase all outstanding notes at 101% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. The source of funds for any such purchase of the notes will be our available cash or cash generated from our and our subsidiaries' operations or other sources, including borrowings, sales of assets or sales of equity. We may not be able to repurchase the notes upon a change of control because we may not have sufficient financial resources to purchase all of the notes that are tendered upon a change of control, as well as our 2023 Senior Notes (which have a similar provision) and our 2016 Credit Agreement, which provides that any change of control is an event of default. Accordingly, we may not be able to satisfy our obligations to purchase the notes unless we are able to obtain financing. Our failure to repurchase the notes upon a change of control would cause a default under the indenture governing the notes.

In addition, the change of control provisions in the indenture may not protect you from certain important corporate events, such as a leveraged recapitalization (which would increase the level of our indebtedness), reorganization, restructuring, merger or other similar transaction, unless such transaction constitutes a "Change of Control" under the indenture. Such a transaction may not involve a change in voting power or beneficial ownership or, even if it does, may not involve a change that constitutes a "Change of Control" as defined in the indenture that would trigger our obligation to repurchase the notes. Therefore, if an event occurs that does not constitute a "Change of Control" as defined in the indenture, we will not be required to make an offer to repurchase the notes and you may be required to continue to hold your notes despite the event. See "Description of Exchange Notes—Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control."

If the ratings of the notes are lowered or withdrawn, the market value of the notes could decrease.

Our credit ratings are an assessment by rating agencies of our ability to pay our debts when due. Consequently, real or anticipated changes in our credit ratings will generally affect the market value of the notes. Credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell the notes, and may be revised or withdrawn at any time. Additionally, credit ratings may not reflect the potential effect of risks relating to the structure or marketing of the notes.

Any future lowering of our ratings likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing. If any credit rating initially assigned to the notes is subsequently lowered or withdrawn for any reason, you may not be able to resell your notes without a substantial discount.

Federal and state fraudulent transfer laws permit a court to void the notes and the guarantees, and, if that occurs, you may not receive any payments on the notes

The issuance of the notes and the guarantees may be subject to review under federal and state fraudulent transfer and conveyance statutes. While the relevant laws may vary from state to state, under such laws the payment of consideration will be a fraudulent conveyance if (i) we paid the consideration with the intent of hindering, delaying or defrauding creditors or (ii) we or any of our Guarantors, as applicable, received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration in return for issuing either the notes or a guarantee and, in the case of (ii) only, one of the following is also true:

- we or any of our Guarantors were insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of the incurrence of the indebtedness; or
- · payment of the consideration left us or any of our Guarantors with an unreasonably small amount of capital to carry on the business; or
- we or any of our Guarantors intended to, or believed that we or it would, incur debts beyond our or its ability to pay as they mature.

If a court were to find that the issuance of the notes or a guarantee was a fraudulent conveyance, the court could void the payment obligations under the notes or such guarantee or subordinate the notes or such guarantee to presently existing and future indebtedness of ours or such Guarantor, or require the holders of the notes to repay any amounts received with respect to the notes or such guarantee. In the event of a finding that a fraudulent conveyance occurred, you may not receive any repayment on the notes. Further, the voidance of the notes could result in an event of default with respect to our other debt and that of our guarantors that could result in acceleration of such debt.

Generally, an entity would be considered insolvent if at the time it incurred indebtedness:

- · the sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all its assets; or
- the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or
- it could not pay its debts as they become due.

We cannot be certain as to the standards a court would use to determine whether or not we or the Guarantors were solvent at the relevant time, or regardless of the standard that a court uses, that the issuance of the notes and the guarantees would not be subordinated to our or any Guarantor's other debt.

If the guarantees were legally challenged, any guarantee could also be subject to the claim that, since the guarantee was incurred for our benefit, and only indirectly for the benefit of the Guarantor, the obligations of the applicable Guarantor were incurred for less than fair consideration. A court could thus void the obligations under the guarantees, subordinate them to the applicable Guarantor's other debt or take other action detrimental to the holders of the notes.

Because each Guarantor's liability under its guarantees may be reduced to zero, avoided or released under certain circumstances, you may not receive any payments from some or all of the Guarantors.

You have the benefit of the guarantees of the Guarantors. However, the guarantees by the Guarantors are limited to the maximum amount that the Guarantors are permitted to guarantee under applicable law. As a result, a Guarantor's liability under its guarantee could be reduced to zero, depending upon the amount of other obligations of such Guarantor. Further, under the circumstances discussed more fully above, a court under federal

and state fraudulent conveyance and transfer statutes could void the obligations under a guarantee or further subordinate it to all other obligations of the Guarantor. In addition, you will lose the benefit of a particular guarantee if it is released under certain circumstances described under "Description of Exchange Notes—Note Guaranties."

Risks Related to the Exchange Offer

If you fail to exchange your Original Notes, they will continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid.

Original Notes that you do not tender or that we do not accept will, following the exchange offer, continue to be restricted securities, and you may not offer to sell them except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the Securities Act and applicable state securities law. We will issue Exchange Notes in exchange for the Original Notes pursuant to the exchange offer only following the satisfaction of the procedures and conditions set forth in "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering." These procedures and conditions include timely receipt by the exchange agent of such Original Notes (or a confirmation of book-entry transfer) and of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal (or an agent's message from the DTC).

Because we anticipate that most holders of Original Notes will elect to exchange their Original Notes, we expect that the liquidity of the market for any Original Notes remaining after the completion of the exchange offer will be substantially limited. Any Original Notes tendered and exchanged in the exchange offer will reduce the aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes outstanding. In addition, following the exchange offer, if you do not tender your Original Notes you generally will not have any further registration rights, and your Original Notes will continue to be subject to certain transfer restrictions. Accordingly, the liquidity of the market for the Original Notes could be adversely affected.

If you are a broker-dealer, your ability to transfer the Exchange Notes may be restricted.

A broker-dealer that acquired the Original Notes for its own account as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities must comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes. Our obligation to make this prospectus available to broker-dealers is limited. Consequently, we cannot guarantee that a proper prospectus will be available to broker-dealers wishing to resell their Exchange Notes.

Your ability to transfer the notes may be limited by the absence of an active trading market, and there is no assurance that any active trading market will develop for the notes.

The Exchange Notes are a new issue of securities for which there is no established public market. We do not intend to have the Original Notes or any Exchange Notes listed on a national securities exchange or to arrange for quotation on any automated dealer quotation systems. Therefore, we cannot assure you as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for the Original Notes or the Exchange Notes. The liquidity of any market for the Exchange Notes will depend on a number of factors, including:

- the number of holders of notes;
- our operating performance and financial condition;
- our ability to complete the offer to exchange the Original Notes for the Exchange Notes;
- · the market for similar securities;
- the interest of securities dealers in making a market in the notes; and
- · prevailing interest rates.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The exchange offer is intended to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement. We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offer. The net proceeds from the offering of Original Notes were approximately \$592.5 million, after expenses of the offering and other related expenses. We used the net proceeds from the offering of the Original Notes, to redeem all \$375 million aggregate principal amount of our 6.875% senior notes due 2020 on June 23, 2016 and for general corporate purposes, which may include repurchases of our common stock pursuant to existing authorizations and any future authorizations approved by our Board of Directors.

In consideration for issuing the Exchange Notes as contemplated by this prospectus, we will receive the Original Notes in like principal amount. The Original Notes surrendered and exchanged for the Exchange Notes will be retired and cancelled and cannot be reissued.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table presents our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the periods presented.

		Six Month Period Ended		Fiscal Year Ended December 31,				
(in millions)		e 30, 2016	2015	2014	2013(1)	2012	2011	
Earnings(2)		84.8	\$197.3	\$168.6	\$126.1	\$229.2	\$328.4	
Fixed Charges:								
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount and financing cost		44.5	96.1	91.9	110.8	18.8	11.9	
Loss on extinguishment of debt(3)		47.2	_	_	_	_	_	
Estimate of the interest within the rental expense		0.7	2.6	2.3	1.8	0.4	0.5	
Total Fixed Charges		92.4	\$ 98.7	\$ 94.2	\$112.6	\$ 19.2	\$ 12.4	
Earnings Before Fixed Charges		177.2	\$296.0	\$262.8	\$238.7	\$248.4	\$340.8	
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges		1.9x	3.0x	2.8x	2.1x	12.9x	27.5x	

⁽¹⁾ Includes Sealy results of operations from March 18, 2013 through December 31, 2013. Information presented for periods prior to March 18, 2013 do not include Sealy and as a result, the information may not be comparable. Refer to Note 3, "Acquisitions and Divestitures" in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in PART II, ITEM 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, incorporated by reference herein.

⁽²⁾ Earnings includes income before income taxes adjusted to exclude equity income in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates and (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest and include dividends received from unconsolidated affiliates.

⁽³⁾ Loss on extinguishment of debt represents costs associated with the completion of the 2016 Credit Agreement and 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 offering in the second quarter of 2016. Excluding the effect of the loss on extinguishment of debt, the Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges for the six months ended June 30, 2016 is 3.9x.

DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

2016 Credit Agreement

On April 6, 2016, Tempur Sealy entered into a senior secured credit agreement (the "2016 Credit Agreement") with a syndicate of banks and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (the "Agent"). The 2016 Credit Agreement replaced Tempur Sealy's credit facilities (the "Prior Credit Facilities") with Bank of America, N.A., which were governed by the 2012 Credit Agreement. The 2016 Credit Agreement provides for a \$500 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Credit Facility"), a \$500 million initial term loan facility (the "Initial Term Loan Facility") and a \$100 million delayed draw term loan facility (the "Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility" and together with the Initial Term Loan Facility, the "Term Loan Facilities" and together with the "Revolving Credit Facility", the "Credit Facilities"). At any time, Tempur Sealy may also elect to request the establishment of one or more incremental term loan facilities and/or increase commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility in an aggregate amount of up to \$500 million, subject to customary conditions. A portion of the Revolving Credit Facility of up to \$250 million is available in Canadian Dollars, Pounds Sterling, the Euro and any additional currencies determined by mutual agreement of Tempur Sealy, the Agent and the lenders under the Revolving Credit Facility. A portion of the Revolving Credit Facility of up to \$100 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit for the account of Tempur Sealy and a portion of the Revolving Credit Facility of up to \$50 million is available for swing line loans to Tempur Sealy.

Tempur Sealy used \$500 million of the proceeds under the Initial Term Loan Facility and approximately \$27.8 million of the proceeds under the Revolving Credit Facility to repay in full the Prior Credit Facilities and to pay certain transaction fees and expenses incurred in connection with the 2016 Credit Agreement. Tempur Sealy will use the available proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility from time to time to finance working capital needs and for general corporate purposes. Tempur Sealy used the proceeds of the Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility to repay the 8.0% Senior Secured Third Lien Convertible Notes due 2016 issued by Sealy Corporation and Sealy Mattress Company. The Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility expired at its funding on July 14, 2016.

Amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed from time to time until the maturity date of the 2016 Credit Agreement on April 6, 2021. The Term Loan Facilities are subject to quarterly amortization of principal in an aggregate annual amounts as follows: (i) 5.0% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facilities in each of the first three years following April 6, 2016 (commencing on September 30, 2016 with respect to the Initial Term Loan Facility and, with respect to the Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility, with the end of the fiscal quarter in which such delayed draw term loans are drawn), (ii) 7.5% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facilities in the fourth year following April 6, 2016 and (iii) 10.0% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan Facilities in the fifth year following April 6, 2016, with the balance payable at final maturity of the Term Loan Facilities on April 6, 2021. The Term Loan Facilities are subject to mandatory prepayment with 100% of the net proceeds received from the issuance of indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions for indebtedness permitted by the 2016 Credit Agreement, and 100% of the net proceeds in excess of \$40 million in any fiscal year received from asset sales, casualty insurance, condemnation awards or similar recoveries, subject to certain exceptions for reinvestment of such proceeds contained in the 2016 Credit Agreement. Voluntary prepayments and commitment reductions of the Credit Facilities under the 2016 Credit Agreement are permitted at any time without payment of any prepayment fee upon proper notice and subject to minimum dollar amounts.

At Tempur Sealy's election, loans made under the Credit Facilities will bear interest at either (i) a base rate ("Base Rate") plus an applicable margin or (ii) a Eurocurrency rate ("Eurocurrency Rate") plus an applicable margin, subject to adjustment if an event of default under the 2016 Credit Agreement has occurred and is continuing. The Base Rate means the highest of (a) the Agent's "prime rate," (b) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% and (c) the Eurocurrency Rate for an interest period of one month plus 1%. Initially, the Eurocurrency loans made under the Credit Facilities will bear interest at the Eurocurrency Rate plus an applicable margin of 1.75% and the Base Rate loans made under the Credit Facilities will bear interest at the

Base Rate plus an applicable margin of 0.75%. Following each date on which financial statements are delivered to the Agent by Tempur Sealy on a quarterly basis under the 2016 Credit Agreement and commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2016, the applicable margin will be adjusted based on the Company's Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement) as further set forth in the 2016 Credit Agreement.

Tempur Sealy's present and future domestic restricted subsidiaries guarantee the obligations of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries under the Credit Facilities. The obligations of Tempur Sealy and its restricted subsidiaries under the Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all of the assets of Tempur Sealy and the guarantors, including certain real estate, subject to certain exceptions and exclusions as set forth in the 2016 Credit Agreement and other loan documents.

The 2016 Credit Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that are binding on Tempur Sealy and its restricted subsidiaries, including, but not limited to, restrictions (subject to specified exceptions and qualifications) on the ability of Tempur Sealy and its restricted subsidiaries to incur indebtedness, to create liens, to merge or consolidate, to make dispositions, to make restricted payments such as dividends, distributions or equity repurchases, to make investments, to prepay other indebtedness, to enter into certain transactions with affiliates, to change fiscal year, or to enter into any burdensome agreements or to make changes in the nature of the business.

In addition, the 2016 Credit Agreement requires Tempur Sealy to abide by certain financial covenants calculated for Tempur Sealy and its restricted subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Specifically, the 2016 Credit Agreement requires that Tempur Sealy and its restricted subsidiaries not:

- Permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement) as of the last day of any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Company to be less than 3.00:1.00;
- Permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement) as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Company to be greater than 5.00:1.00; and
- Permit the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2016 Credit Agreement) as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Company to be greater than 3.50:1.00.

The 2016 Credit Agreement contains customary events of default (which are in some cases subject to certain exceptions, thresholds, notice requirements and grace periods), including, but not limited to, non-payment of principal or interest or other amounts, misrepresentations, failure to perform or observe covenants, cross-defaults with certain other indebtedness or material agreements, certain change in control events, voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, certain judgments or decrees, failure of the 2016 Credit Agreement or other loan documents to be in full force and effect, certain ERISA events and judgments. The 2016 Credit Agreement also contains certain representations, warranties and conditions, in each case as set forth in the 2016 Credit Agreement.

2023 Senior Notes

On September 24, 2015, Tempur Sealy issued \$450.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due 2023 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act, and to certain non-U.S. persons in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. The 2023 Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of September 24, 2015, among the Company, certain subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy as guarantors, and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The 2023 Senior Notes are general unsecured senior obligations of the Company and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the guarantors. The 2023 Senior Notes mature on October 15, 2023, and interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on each April 15 and October 15, beginning on April 15, 2016. The gross proceeds from the 2023 Senior Notes were used to refinance a portion of the term loan debt under the Company's 2012 Credit Agreement.

Tempur Sealy has the option to redeem all or a portion of the 2023 Senior Notes at any time on or after October 15, 2018. Starting on this date the initial redemption price is 104.219% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. The redemption price will decline to 102.813% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on October 15, 2019, to 101.406% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on October 15, 2020 and 100.0% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, beginning on October 15, 2021 and thereafter. In addition, Tempur Sealy has the option at any time prior to October 15, 2018 to redeem some or all of the 2023 Senior Notes at 100.0% of the original principal amount plus a "makewhole" premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. Tempur Sealy may also redeem up to 35.0% of the 2023 Senior Notes prior to October 15, 2018 under certain circumstances with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at 105.625% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Tempur Sealy may make such redemptions only if, after any such redemption, at least 65.0% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 2023 Senior Notes issued remains outstanding.

The indenture pursuant to which the 2023 Senior Notes were issued restricts the ability of Tempur Sealy and the ability of certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things: (i) incur, directly or indirectly, debt; (ii) make, directly or indirectly, certain investments and restricted payments; (iii) incur or suffer to exist, directly or indirectly, liens on their properties or assets; (iv) sell or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, assets; (v) create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist any consensual restriction on the right of certain of the subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy to pay dividends or make any other distributions on or in respect of their capital stock; and (vi) enter into transactions with affiliates. These covenants are subject to a number of important exceptions and qualifications.

In conjunction with the issuance and sale of the 2023 Senior Notes, Tempur Sealy and the guarantors agreed pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement to exchange the 2023 Senior Notes for a new issue of substantially identical senior notes registered under the Securities Act. Tempur Sealy and the guarantors would have been required to pay additional interest if the 2023 Senior Notes were not so exchanged within the time periods specified within the Registration Rights Agreement. Tempur Sealy completed the exchange offer on April 4, 2016, which was within the specified time period.

DESCRIPTION OF EXCHANGE NOTES

You can find the definitions of capitalized terms used in this description and not defined elsewhere under the subheading "Definitions." In this description, the words "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer only to Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and not to any of its subsidiaries.

The Company issued the Original Notes and will issue the Exchange Notes under an indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016, among the Company, the Guarantors party thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The following summary of certain provisions of the indenture and the notes does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the provisions of the indenture and the notes, including the definitions of certain terms therein and those terms made a part thereof by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the indenture. It does not restate the indenture in its entirety. We urge you to read the indenture in its entirety because that document, and not this description, defines your rights as a holder of the notes. A copy of the indenture is available without charge upon request to the Company at the address indicated under "Where You Can Find More Information."

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to "notes" in this "Description of Exchange Notes" include the Original Notes, which were not registered under the Securities Act, and the Exchange Notes offered hereby, which have been registered under the Securities Act. The Exchange Notes will be treated as part of the same class and series as the Original Notes and the terms of the Exchange Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes are registered under the Securities Act and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

We will issue \$600.0 million in initial aggregate principal amount of notes under the indenture and, subject to compliance with the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt," can issue an unlimited amount of additional notes at later dates.

Any additional notes that we issue in the future will be identical in all respects to the notes that we are issuing now, except that the notes issued in the future will have different issuance prices and issuance dates; provided that if the additional notes are not fungible with the notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the additional notes will be issued with a separate CUSIP number. We will issue notes only in fully registered form without coupons, in a minimum denomination of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

The notes will mature on June 15, 2026.

Interest on the notes will accrue at a rate of 5.500% per annum. Interest on the notes will be payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15, commencing on December 15, 2016. We will pay interest to those persons who were holders of record on the June 1 or December 1 immediately preceding each interest payment date.

Interest on the notes will accrue from the date of original issuance or, if interest has already been paid, from the date it was most recently paid. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

The notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars and all payments of principal and interest thereon will be paid in U.S. dollars.

Additional interest is payable with respect to the notes in certain circumstances if we do not consummate the exchange offer (or shelf registration, if applicable) as described in this prospectus under the heading "The Exchange Offer."

Ranking

The notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will be guaranteed by each of the Company's Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries that guarantees or is a borrower under the Credit Agreement. The notes will rank equally with or senior to all Debt of the Company and the Guarantors, but will be effectively junior to all secured Debt, including our obligations under the Credit Agreement, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such Debt. As of June 30, 2016, the Company and the Guarantors had \$656.9 million of secured Debt, and an additional \$481.2 million available for borrowing under the 2016 Credit Agreement. Subject to the limits described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt" and "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Liens," the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries may Incur additional secured Debt.

The Company's Foreign Restricted Subsidiaries will not guarantee the notes. Claims of creditors of non-guarantor subsidiaries, including trade creditors, and creditors holding debt and guarantees issued by those subsidiaries, and claims of preferred stockholders (if any) of those subsidiaries generally will have priority with respect to the assets and earnings of those subsidiaries over the claims of creditors of the Company, including holders of the notes. The notes and each Note Guaranty (as defined below) therefore will be effectively subordinated to creditors (including trade creditors) and preferred stockholders (if any) of subsidiaries of the Company (other than the Guarantors). As of June 30, 2016, the total book liabilities of the Company's subsidiaries (other than the Guarantors) would have been approximately \$156.3 million, including trade payables but excluding intercompany liabilities. Although the indenture limits the Incurrence of Debt of Restricted Subsidiaries, the limitation is subject to a number of significant exceptions. Moreover, the indenture does not impose any limitation on the Incurrence by Restricted Subsidiaries of liabilities that are not considered Debt under the indenture. See "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt."

Optional Redemption

Except as set forth in the next two paragraphs and the final paragraph under "—Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control," notes will not be redeemable at the option of the Company prior to June 15, 2021. Starting on that date, the Company may redeem all or any portion of the notes, at once or over time, after giving the required notice under the indenture. The notes may be redeemed at the redemption prices set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date). The following prices are for notes redeemed during the 12-month period commencing on June 15 of the years set forth below, and are expressed as percentages of principal amount:

Redemption Year	_ Price
2021	102.750%
2022	101.833%
2023	100.917%
2024 and thereafter	100.000%

At any time and from time to time, prior to June 15, 2019, the Company may redeem up to a maximum of 35% of the original aggregate principal amount of the notes (including additional notes, if any) with the proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings, at a redemption price equal to 105.500% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date); *provided* that after giving effect to any redemption of this kind, at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of notes (including additional notes, if any) remains outstanding. Any redemption of this kind shall be made within 90 days of such Equity Offering upon not less than 30 and no more than 60 days' prior notice.

In addition, the Company may choose to redeem all or any portion of the notes, at once or from time to time, prior to June 15, 2021. If it does so, it may redeem the notes after giving the required notice under the indenture. To redeem the notes, the Company must pay a redemption price equal to the sum of:

- (a) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, *plus*
- (b) the Applicable Premium,

plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date).

Any notice to holders of notes of such a redemption needs to include the appropriate calculation (such calculation to be made by the Company) of the redemption price, but does not need to include the redemption price itself. The actual redemption price, calculated as described above, must be set forth in an Officers' Certificate delivered to the trustee no later than two business days prior to the redemption date.

Any redemption or notice of any redemption or offer to purchase notes may, at the Company's discretion, be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including, but not limited to, completion of an Equity Offering, other offering or financing, Change of Control or other corporate transaction or event. Notice of any redemption in respect of an Equity Offering may be given prior to the completion thereof. In addition, if such redemption or notice is subject to satisfaction of one or more conditions precedent, such notice shall state that, in the Company's discretion, the redemption date may be delayed until such time as any or all such conditions shall be satisfied and a new redemption date will be set by the Company in accordance with applicable DTC procedures, or such redemption may not occur and such notice may be rescinded in the event that any or all such conditions shall not have been satisfied by the redemption date, or by the redemption date as so delayed. In addition, the Company may provide in such notice that payment of the redemption price and performance of the Company's obligations with respect to such redemption may be performed by another Person.

Open-Market and Other Purchases; No Sinking Fund

The Company at any time and from time to time may purchase notes in the open market or otherwise. There will be no mandatory sinking fund payments for the notes.

Note Guaranties

The obligations of the Company pursuant to the notes, including any repurchase obligation resulting from a Change of Control, will be unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis, by each Domestic Restricted Subsidiary of the Company that guarantees or is a borrower under the Credit Agreement. If any Domestic Restricted Subsidiary (including any newly acquired or created Domestic Restricted Subsidiary) becomes a borrower or guarantor under the Credit Agreement after the Issue Date, the new Restricted Subsidiary must provide a guaranty of the notes (a "Note Guaranty").

Each Note Guaranty will be limited to the maximum amount that would not render the Guarantor's obligations subject to avoidance under applicable fraudulent conveyance provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code or any comparable provision of state law. By virtue of this limitation, a Guarantor's obligation under its Note Guaranty could be significantly less than amounts payable with respect to the notes, or a Guarantor may have effectively no obligation under its Note Guaranty. See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Notes—Because each guarantor's liability under its guarantees may be reduced to zero, avoided or released under certain circumstances, you may not receive any payments from some or all of the guarantors."

The Note Guaranty of a Guarantor will terminate upon:

- (1) a sale, exchange, transfer or other disposition (including by way of consolidation or merger) of the Guarantor or the sale or disposition of all or substantially all the Property of the Guarantor (other than to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary) in a transaction that at the date thereof does not violate the indenture;
- (2) the release of such Guarantor's guarantee of the obligations under the Credit Agreement other than a discharge through payment thereon;
- (3) the designation in accordance with the indenture of the Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary;
- (4) defeasance or discharge of the notes, as provided in "—Defeasance and Discharge";
- (5) the liquidation or dissolution of that Guarantor in accordance with the indenture; or
- (6) the occurrence of any covenant suspension, as provided in "—Certain Covenants—Covenant Suspension".

Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of notes will have the right to require us to repurchase all or any part of that holder's notes pursuant to the offer described below (the "Change of Control Offer") at a purchase price (the "Change of Control Purchase Price") equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the purchase date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date).

Within 30 days following any Change of Control, the Company shall send or cause to be sent by first-class mail (or electronic transmission in the case of notes held in book-entry form), with a copy to the trustee, to each holder of notes, at such holder's address appearing in the security register, a notice stating:

- (1) that a Change of Control has occurred and a Change of Control Offer is being made pursuant to the covenant described herein under "— Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control" and that all notes timely tendered will be accepted for repurchase;
- (2) the Change of Control Purchase Price and the purchase date, which shall be, subject to any contrary requirements of applicable law, a business day no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed; and
- (3) the procedures that holders of notes must follow in order to tender their notes (or portions thereof) for payment, and the procedures that holders of notes must follow in order to withdraw an election to tender notes (or portions thereof) for payment.

We will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control if (1) a third party makes the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the indenture applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by us and purchases all notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer or (2) notice of redemption has been given pursuant to the indenture to redeem all of the notes, as described above under the caption "—Optional Redemption," unless and until there is a default in payment of the applicable redemption price. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, a Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control, conditioned upon the consummation of such Change of Control, if a definitive agreement is in place for the Change of Control at the time the Change of Control Offer is made.

We will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and any other securities laws or regulations in connection with the repurchase of notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of the covenant described above, we will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have breached our obligations under this covenant by virtue of such compliance.

The Change of Control repurchase feature is a result of negotiations between us and the initial purchasers. The Company has no present intention to engage in a transaction involving a Change of Control, although it is possible that we would decide to do so in the future. Subject to the covenants described below, we could, in the future, enter into transactions, including acquisitions, refinancings or other recapitalizations, that would not constitute a Change of Control under the indenture, but that could increase the amount of Debt outstanding at such time or otherwise affect our capital structure or credit ratings.

The definition of Change of Control includes a phrase relating to the sale, transfer, assignment, lease, conveyance or other disposition of "all or substantially all" of our assets. Although there is a developing body of case law interpreting the phrase "substantially all," there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, if we dispose of less than all of our assets by any of the means described above, the ability of a holder of notes to require us to repurchase its notes may be uncertain.

The Credit Agreement restricts us in certain circumstances from purchasing any notes prior to maturity of the notes and also provides that the occurrence of some of the events that would constitute a Change of Control would constitute a default under the Credit Agreement. Future Debt of the Company may contain prohibitions of certain events which would constitute a Change of Control or require that future Debt be repurchased upon a Change of Control. We cannot assure you that sufficient funds will be available when necessary to make any required repurchases. Our failure to purchase notes in connection with a Change of Control would result in a default under the indenture. Any such default would, in turn, constitute a default under the Credit Agreement, and may constitute a default under any of our future Debt as well. Our obligation to make an offer to repurchase the notes as a result of a Change of Control may be waived or modified at any time prior to the occurrence of that Change of Control with the written consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the notes. See "—Amendments and Waivers."

If holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes accept a Change of Control Offer and the Company (or any third party making such Change of Control Offer in lieu of the Company as described above) purchases all of the notes held by such holders, the Company will have the right, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' prior notice, given not more than 30 days following the purchase pursuant to the Change of Control Offer described above, to redeem all of the notes that remain outstanding following such purchase at a redemption price equal to the Change of Control Purchase Price plus, to the extent not included in the Change of Control Purchase Price, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes that remain outstanding, to the date of redemption (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on an interest payment date that is on or prior to the redemption date).

The provisions under the Indenture relating to the Company's obligation to make an offer to purchase the notes as the result of a Change of Control may be waived or modified with the written consent of the holders of majority in principal amount of the notes.

Certain Covenants

Set forth below are summaries of certain of the covenants to be contained in the indenture.

Covenant Suspension

During any period of time that:

- (a) the notes have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies, and
- (b) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the indenture,

the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to the following provisions of the indenture:

"-Limitation on Debt,"

- "-Limitation on Restricted Payments,"
- "-Limitation on Asset Sales,"
- "—Limitation on Restrictions on Distributions from Restricted Subsidiaries,"

clause (x) of the third paragraph (and as referred to in the first paragraph) of "—Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries," and clause (d) of the first paragraph of "—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property"

(collectively, the "Suspended Covenants"). Solely for the purpose of determining the amount of Permitted Liens under the "—Limitation on Liens" covenant during any Suspension Period (as defined below) and without limiting the Company's or any Restricted Subsidiary's ability to Incur Debt during any Suspension Period, to the extent that calculations in the "—Limitation on Liens" covenant refer to the "—Limitation on Debt" covenant, such calculations shall be made as though the "—Limitation on Debt" covenant remains in effect during the Suspension Period. In the event that the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries are not subject to the Suspended Covenants for any period of time as a result of the second preceding sentence and, subsequently, one or both of the Rating Agencies withdraws its ratings or downgrades the ratings assigned to the notes below the required Investment Grade Ratings (the "Reversion Date"), then the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries will thereafter again be subject to the Suspended Covenants for all periods after that withdrawal, downgrade, Default or Event of Default and, furthermore, compliance with the provisions of the covenant described in "—Limitation on Restricted Payments" with respect to Restricted Payments made after the time of the withdrawal, downgrade, Default or Event of Default will be calculated in accordance with the terms of that covenant as though that covenant had been in effect during the entire period of time from the Issue Date; provided that there will not be deemed to have occurred a Default or Event of Default with respect to that covenant during the time (the "Suspension Period") that the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries were not subject to the Suspended Covenants (or after that time based solely on events that occurred during that time). During the Suspension Period, the Note Guaranties will be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged and the obligation to grant additional Note Guaranties under "—Additional Note Guaranties" will be suspended. Upon the Reversion Date, any Domestic Restricted Subsidiary that is a guarantor or obligor under the Company's Credit Agreement shall promptly, and in any event within 5 business days, guarantee the Notes. The Company will give the trustee written notice of any such suspension of covenants and in any event not later than ten business days after such suspension has occurred. In the absence of such notice, the trustee shall assume that the Suspended Covenants are in full force and effect.

On the Reversion Date, all Debt Incurred during the Suspension Period will be classified to have been Incurred pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph or one of the clauses set forth in the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Limitation on Debt" (to the extent such Debt would be permitted to be Incurred thereunder as of the Reversion Date and after giving effect to Debt Incurred prior to the Suspension Period and outstanding on the Reversion Date). To the extent such Debt would not be permitted to be Incurred pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph or one of the clauses set forth in the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Limitation on Debt," such Debt will be deemed to have been outstanding on the Issue Date, so that it is classified as permitted under clause (1) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Limitation on Debt." For purposes of determining compliance with the covenant described under "—Limitation on Asset Sales," on the Reversion Date, the Net Available Cash from all Asset Sales not applied in accordance with the covenant will be deemed to be reset to zero. The Company will give the trustee written notice of any occurrence of a Reversion Date not later than five business days after such Reversion Date. After any such notice of the occurrence of a Reversion Date, the trustee shall assume that the Suspended Covenants apply and are in full force and effect.

Limitation on Debt

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, Incur, directly or indirectly, any Debt unless, after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof, either:

- (1) the Debt is Debt of the Company or a Guarantor and after giving effect to the Incurrence of the Debt and the application of the proceeds thereof, the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio would be greater than 2.00 to 1.00, or
- (2) the Debt is Permitted Debt.

The term "Permitted Debt" is defined to include the following:

- (a) Debt of the Company evidenced by the notes offered hereby;
- (b) Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary Incurred under any Credit Facilities; provided that the aggregate principal amount of all Debt Incurred under this clause (b) at any one time outstanding shall not exceed the greater of:
 - (1) \$2.124 billion, and
 - (2) the sum of the amounts equal to:
 - (A) 60% of the book value of the inventory of the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries, and
 - (B) 85% of the book value of the accounts receivable of the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries (including any Receivables Entity that is a Restricted Subsidiary),

in the case of each of clauses (A) and (B) as of last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of the Company for which internal financial statements of the Company are available;

- (c) Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary Incurred by a Receivables Entity in a Qualified Receivables Transaction that is not recourse to the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary of the Company (except for Standard Securitization Undertakings);
- (d) Debt of the Company owing to and held by any Restricted Subsidiary and Debt of a Restricted Subsidiary owing to and held by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that (1) any subsequent issue or transfer of Capital Stock or other event that results in any Restricted Subsidiary ceasing to be a Restricted Subsidiary or any subsequent transfer of that Debt (except to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary) shall be deemed, in each case, to constitute the Incurrence of that Debt by the issuer thereof, and (2) if the Company is the obligor on that Debt, the Debt is expressly subordinated to the prior payment in full in cash of all obligations with respect to the notes;
- (e) Debt of a Restricted Subsidiary outstanding on the date on which that Restricted Subsidiary was acquired by the Company or otherwise became a Restricted Subsidiary (other than Debt Incurred as consideration in, or to provide all or any portion of the funds or credit support utilized to consummate, a transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which the Restricted Subsidiary became a Restricted Subsidiary of the Company or was otherwise acquired by the Company); *provided* that at the time that Person was acquired by the Company or otherwise became a Restricted Subsidiary and after giving effect to the Incurrence of that Debt, (i) the Company would have been able to Incur \$1.00 of additional Debt pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph of this covenant or (ii) the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio would have been greater than or equal to such ratio immediately prior to such transaction;
- (f) Debt Incurred as consideration in, or to provide all or any portion of the funds or credit support utilized to consummate, a transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which a Person became a Restricted Subsidiary of the Company or was otherwise acquired by the Company; *provided* that at the time that Person was acquired by the Company or otherwise became a Restricted Subsidiary and after giving effect to the Incurrence of that Debt, (i) the Company would have been able to Incur \$1.00 of additional Debt pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph of this covenant or (ii) the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio would have been greater than or equal to such ratio immediately prior to such transaction;

- (g) Debt under Interest Rate Agreements entered into by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary for the purpose of limiting interest rate risk in the financial management of the Company or that Restricted Subsidiary and not for speculative purposes;
- (h) Debt under Currency Exchange Protection Agreements entered into by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary for the purpose of limiting currency exchange rate risks in the financial management of the Company or that Restricted Subsidiary and not for speculative purposes;
- (i) Debt under Commodity Price Protection Agreements entered into by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in the financial management of the Company or that Restricted Subsidiary and not for speculative purposes;
- (j) Debt in connection with one or more standby letters of credit or performance or surety bonds or completion guarantees issued by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to self-insurance obligations and not in connection with the borrowing of money or the obtaining of advances or credit;
- (k) Debt arising from agreements of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary providing for indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or similar obligations, in each case, Incurred in connection with the disposition of any business, assets or Capital Stock of a Subsidiary, other than Guarantees of Debt Incurred by any Person acquiring all or any portion of such business, assets or Capital Stock; *provided* that the maximum aggregate liability in respect of all such Debt shall at no time exceed the gross proceeds actually received by the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary in connection with such disposition;
- (l) Debt of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries outstanding on the Issue Date, in each case not otherwise described in clauses (a) through (k) above;
- (m) Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any one time not to exceed the greater of \$100.0 million and 14.0% of the Company's Consolidated Net Tangible Assets (as calculated at the time of Incurrence);
- (n) (i) Debt of one or more Foreign Restricted Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any one time not to exceed the greater of \$250.0 million and 75.0% of EBITDA for the period of four fiscal quarters of the Company ended as of the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter for which internal financial statements of the Company are available (measured at the date of Incurrence and calculated with such *proforma* adjustments as are set forth in the definition of Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio) and (ii) Debt of one or more Foreign Restricted Subsidiaries incurred to satisfy the Danish Tax Assessment;
- (o) Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary Incurred (i) in respect of Capital Lease Obligations and Purchase Money Debt (including Debt Incurred pursuant to a Real Estate Financing Transaction or an Equipment Financing Transaction); *provided* that the principal amount of any Debt Incurred pursuant to this clause (i), *plus* the aggregate outstanding amount of Permitted Refinancing Debt Incurred to refinance Debt Incurred pursuant to this clause, outstanding at any one time may not exceed the greater of (a) \$100.0 million and (b) 14.0% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets and (ii) in respect of any Capital Lease Obligation with respect to a sale and leaseback of the headquarters of the Company in Lexington, Kentucky;
- (p) Debt of the Company or any Guarantor consisting of Guarantees of Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary Incurred under any other clause of this covenant;
- (q) Debt under the industrial revenue bond financing for the Company's real property and fixtures located in Albuquerque, New Mexico (the "Albuquerque IRB Financing") in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$100,000 and any refinancings, refundings, renewals and extensions thereof:
- (r) Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary arising in connection with the endorsement of instruments for deposit in the ordinary course of business;

- (s) Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary incurred in the ordinary course of business under Guarantees of Debt of suppliers, licensees, franchisees or customers in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed \$10.0 million;
- (t) Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary arising from Guarantees of Debt of joint ventures at any time outstanding under this clause (t) not to exceed the greater of \$25.0 million and 3.5% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of the Company determined as of the date of incurrence of such Debt after giving *pro-forma* effect to such incurrence and the application of proceeds thereof;
- (u) Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in respect of Debt of an Unrestricted Subsidiary or joint venture, to the extent that such liability is the result of the pledge of (or Guaranty with recourse limited solely to) Capital Stock of such Unrestricted Subsidiary or joint venture; and
- (v) Permitted Refinancing Debt Incurred in respect of Debt Incurred pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph of this covenant and clauses (a), (e), (f), (l), (n)(ii) and (o) above or this clause (v).

For purposes of determining compliance with any restriction on the Incurrence of Debt in dollars where Debt is denominated in a different currency, the amount of such Debt will be the Dollar Equivalent determined on the date on which such Debt was Incurred, in the case of term Debt, or first committed or first Incurred (whichever yields the lower Dollar Equivalent amount) in the case of revolving credit Debt; provided that if any such Debt denominated in a different currency is subject to a Currency Exchange Protection Agreement (with respect to dollars) covering principal amounts payable on such Debt, the amount of such Debt expressed in euros will be adjusted to take into account the effect of such agreement. The principal amount of any Permitted Refinancing Debt Incurred in the same currency as the Debt being refinanced will be the Dollar Equivalent of the Debt refinanced determined on the date such Debt being refinanced was initially Incurred. Notwithstanding any other provision of this covenant, for purposes of determining compliance with this "Limitation on Debt" covenant, increases in Debt solely due to fluctuations in the exchange rates of currencies will not be deemed to exceed the maximum amount that the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary may Incur under any of clauses (a) through (v) of this "Limitation on Debt" covenant. The accrual of interest or preferred stock dividends, the accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the reclassification of preferred stock, or any other obligation, as Indebtedness due to a change in accounting principles, fluctuations in the termination value of Hedging Obligations and the payment of dividends or distribution on Disqualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Stock for purposes of this covenant; provided, in each such ca

For purposes of determining compliance with the covenant described above:

- (A) in the event that an item of Debt meets the criteria of more than one of the types of Debt described above, the Company, in its sole discretion, will classify such item of Debt at the time of Incurrence and only be required to include the amount and type of such Debt in one of the above clauses; and
- (B) the Company will be entitled to divide and classify and reclassify an item of Debt in more than one of the types of Debt described above; *provided* that Debt outstanding under the Credit Agreement on the Issue Date shall at all times be treated as Incurred under clause (b) above and may not be reclassified.

Limitation on Restricted Payments

The Company shall not make, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment if at the time of, and after giving effect to, the proposed Restricted Payment,

- (a) a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
- (b) the Company could not Incur at least \$1.00 of additional Debt pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph of the covenant described under "— Limitation on Debt," or

- (c) the aggregate amount of that Restricted Payment and all other Restricted Payments declared or made after December 19, 2012 (the "Existing Notes Issue Date") (the amount of any Restricted Payment, if made other than in cash, to be based upon Fair Market Value) would exceed an amount equal to, without duplication:
 - (1) 50% of the aggregate amount of Consolidated Net Income accrued during the period (treated as one accounting period) from September 30, 2012 to the end of the most recent fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of the Restricted Payment for which internal financial statements are available (or if the aggregate amount of Consolidated Net Income for such period shall be a deficit, minus 100% of such deficit), *plus*
 - (2) Capital Stock Sale Proceeds received after the Existing Notes Issue Date, plus
 - (3) the sum of:
 - (A) the aggregate net cash proceeds received by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary from the issuance or sale after the Existing Notes Issue Date of convertible or exchangeable Debt that has been converted into or exchanged for Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company, and
 - (B) the aggregate amount by which Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is reduced on the Company's consolidated balance sheet on or after the Issue Date upon the conversion or exchange of any Debt issued or sold on or prior to the Issue Date that is convertible or exchangeable for Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company,

excluding, in the case of clause (A) or (B):

- (x) any Debt issued or sold to the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company or an employee stock ownership plan or trust established by the Company or any Subsidiary for the benefit of their employees, and
- (y) the aggregate amount of any cash or other Property distributed by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary upon any such conversion or exchange,

plus

- (4) an amount equal to the sum, without duplication, of (in each case to the extent not otherwise included in Consolidated Net Income):
 - (A) the net reduction in Investments in any Person other than the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary resulting from dividends, repayments of loans or advances or other transfers of Property made after the Existing Notes Issue Date, in each case to the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary from that Person, less the cost of the disposition of those Investments,
 - (B) the Fair Market Value of the Company's equity interest in an Unrestricted Subsidiary at the time the Unrestricted Subsidiary is designated a Restricted Subsidiary (*provided* that such designation occurs after the Existing Notes Issue Date), and
 - (C) with respect to Restricted Investments made by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Existing Notes Issue Date, an amount equal to the sum, without duplication, of the net reduction in such Restricted Investments in any sale of any such Restricted Investment to a purchaser other than the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company or the release of any Guarantee (except to the extent any amounts are paid under such Guarantee) that constituted a Restricted Investment,

plus

(5) all dividends received in cash by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary after the Existing Notes Issue Date from an Unrestricted Subsidiary of the Company, to the extent such dividends were not

otherwise included in Consolidated Net Income (other than to the extent such dividend represents a return of capital and the Investment in such Unrestricted Subsidiary was made pursuant to clause (c)(l) of this covenant or to the extent such Investment constituted a Permitted Investment).

Notwithstanding the foregoing limitation, the Company may:

- (a) pay dividends on its Capital Stock within 60 days of the declaration thereof if, on said declaration date, the dividends could have been paid in compliance with the indenture; *provided* that the dividend shall be included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (b) purchase, repurchase, redeem, legally defease, acquire or retire for value Capital Stock of the Company or Subordinated Obligations in exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale of, Capital Stock of the Company (other than Disqualified Stock and other than Capital Stock issued or sold to a Subsidiary of the Company or an employee stock ownership plan or trust established by the Company or any Subsidiary for the benefit of their employees); provided that
 - (1) the purchase, repurchase, redemption, legal defeasance, acquisition or retirement shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments, and
 - (2) the Capital Stock Sale Proceeds from the exchange or sale shall be excluded from the calculation pursuant to clause (c)(2) above;
- (c) purchase, repurchase, redeem, legally defease, acquire or retire for value any Subordinated Obligations in exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale of, Permitted Refinancing Debt; *provided* that the purchase, repurchase, redemption, legal defeasance, acquisition or retirement shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (d) pay scheduled dividends (not constituting a return on capital) on Disqualified Stock of the Company issued pursuant to and in compliance with the covenant described under "—Limitation on Debt";
- (e) permit a Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary to pay dividends to shareholders of that Restricted Subsidiary that are not the parent of that Restricted Subsidiary, so long as the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary that is the parent of that Restricted Subsidiary receives dividends on a *pro-rata* basis or on a basis that results in the receipt by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary that is the parent of that Restricted Subsidiary of dividends or distributions of greater value than it would receive on a *pro-rata* basis;
- (f) make cash payments in lieu of fractional shares in connection with the exercise of warrants, options or other securities convertible into Capital Stock of the Issuer; *provided* that such payments shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (g) make repurchases of shares of common stock of the Company deemed to occur upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of common stock of the Company if such shares of common stock of the Company represent a portion of the exercise price of such options; *provided* that such repurchases shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (h) repurchase shares of, or options to purchase shares of, common stock of the Company from current or former officers, directors or employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or permitted transferees of such current or former officers, directors or employees), pursuant to the terms of agreements (including employment agreements) or plans approved by the Board of Directors under which such individuals acquire shares of such common stock; *provided* that the aggregate amount of such repurchases shall not exceed \$15.0 million in any calendar year (with unused amounts in any calendar year carried over to succeeding calendar years subject to a maximum of \$30.0 million in any calendar year); and *provided further* that such repurchases shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (i) purchase, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value any Subordinated Obligations upon a Change of Control of the Company or an Asset Sale by the Company, to the extent required by any agreement

pursuant to which such Subordinated Obligations were issued, but only if the Company has previously made the offer to purchase notes required under "—Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control" or "—Limitation on Asset Sales"; *provided* that such payments shall be included in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;

- (j) pay fees and purchase receivables and related assets in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction, *provided* that such payments shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (k) make any Restricted Payment if, at the time of making such payment and after giving effect thereto (including the incurrence of any Debt to finance such payments), the Consolidated Total Debt Ratio shall be no greater than 3.50 to 1.00, *provided* that such payments shall be excluded in the calculation of the amount of Restricted Payments;
- (l) make other Restricted Payments not to exceed \$125.0 million in the aggregate from the Existing Notes Issue Date;
- (m) make other Restricted Payments not to exceed \$25.0 million per fiscal year of the Company; and
- (n) make payments or distributions to dissenting stockholders pursuant to applicable law.

The amount of all Restricted Payments (other than cash) will be the Fair Market Value on the date of the Restricted Payment of the asset(s) or securities proposed to be transferred or issued by the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to the Restricted Payment.

For purposes of determining compliance with this covenant, if a Restricted Payment meets the criteria of more than one of the types of Restricted Payments described above, the Company, in its sole discretion, may order and classify, and subsequently re-order and re-classify, such Restricted Payment in any manner in compliance with this covenant.

Limitation on Liens

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, Incur or suffer to exist, any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of its Property (including Capital Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary), whether owned at the Issue Date or thereafter acquired, or any interest therein or any income or profits therefrom, if such Lien secures Debt, unless it has made or will make effective provision whereby the notes will be secured by that Lien equally and ratably with (or prior to) all other Debt of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary secured by that Lien.

Any Lien securing the notes or Note Guaranties created pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall provide by its terms that such Lien shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon the unconditional release and discharge of the Lien that caused the Lien securing the notes or Note Guaranties to be Incurred.

Limitation on Asset Sales

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, consummate any Asset Sale unless:

- (a) the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary receives consideration at the time of the Asset Sale at least equal to the Fair Market Value of the Property subject to that Asset Sale; and
- (b) at least 75% of the consideration paid to the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary in connection with the Asset Sale is in the form of cash, Temporary Cash Investments or other cash equivalents or the

assumption by the purchaser of liabilities of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than liabilities that are by their terms subordinated to the notes) as a result of which the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries are no longer obligated with respect to those liabilities.

For purposes of this covenant, the following shall be considered cash:

- (1) securities or other assets received by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary from the transferee that are converted by the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary into cash within 180 days (to the extent of the cash received in that conversion);
- (2) any cash consideration paid to the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary in connection with the Asset Sale that is held in escrow or on deposit to support indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or similar obligations in respect of such Asset Sale;
- (3) Productive Assets received by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in connection with the Asset Sale;
- (4) accounts receivable of the disposed business retained by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, following an Asset Sale; *provided* that such accounts receivable (i) are not past due more than 90 days and (ii) do not have a payment date greater than 120 days from the date of the invoices creating such accounts receivable;
- (5) any liabilities, other than Subordinated Obligations, (as shown on the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary's most recent balance sheet or in the notes thereto) that are assumed by the transferee of any such assets or that are otherwise canceled or terminated in connection with the Asset Sale; and
- (6) indebtedness, other than Subordinated Obligations, of any Restricted Subsidiary that is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary as a result of such Asset Sale, to the extent that the Company and each other Restricted Subsidiary are released from any guarantee of payment of such indebtedness in connection with the Asset Sale.

The requirement set forth in clause (b) of the first paragraph of this covenant shall also be considered satisfied if the cash received constitutes at least 75% of the consideration received by the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary in connection with such Asset Sale, determined on an after-tax basis.

The Net Available Cash (or any portion thereof) from Asset Sales may be applied by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, to the extent the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary elects (or is required by the terms of any Debt):

- (a) to Repay Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary (excluding, in any such case, any Debt that is owed to the Company or an Affiliate of the Company) that ranks at least pari-passu in right of payment with the notes, or
- (b) to acquire Productive Assets or make capital expenditures on property used or useful in the business of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (including by means of an Investment in Productive Assets or capital expenditures made by a Restricted Subsidiary with Net Available Cash received by the Company or another Restricted Subsidiary).

Pending the final application of any Net Available Cash, the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries may temporarily reduce revolving credit borrowings or otherwise invest Net Available Cash in any manner that is not prohibited by the indenture.

Any Net Available Cash from an Asset Sale not applied in accordance with the preceding paragraph within 360 days from the date of the receipt of that Net Available Cash or that the Company earlier elects to so designate shall constitute "Excess Proceeds," provided that a binding commitment to acquire Productive Assets

or make capital expenditures pursuant to clause (b) of the preceding paragraph shall be treated as a permitted application of the Net Available Cash from the date of such commitment; *provided* that (i) such reinvestment is consummated within 180 days of the end of the 360-day period referred to in this sentence, and (ii) if such reinvestment is not consummated within the period set forth in subclause (i) or such binding commitment is terminated, the Net Available Cash not so applied will be deemed to be Excess Proceeds.

When the aggregate amount of Excess Proceeds not previously subject to a Prepayment Offer (as defined below) exceeds \$50.0 million (taking into account income earned on those Excess Proceeds, if any), the Company will be required to make an offer to purchase (the "*Prepayment Offer*") the notes, which offer shall be in the amount of the Allocable Excess Proceeds, on a pro rata basis according to principal amount, at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount (or accreted value) thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the purchase date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date), in accordance with the procedures (including prorating in the event of oversubscription) set forth in the indenture. To the extent that any portion of the amount of Net Available Cash remains after compliance with the preceding sentence and provided that all holders of notes have been given the opportunity to tender their notes for purchase in accordance with the indenture, the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary may use the remaining amount for any purpose permitted by the indenture and the amount of Excess Proceeds will be reset to zero.

The term "Allocable Excess Proceeds" will mean the product of:

- (a) the Excess Proceeds, and
- (b) a fraction,
 - (1) the numerator of which is the aggregate principal amount of the notes outstanding on the date of the Prepayment Offer, and
 - (2) the denominator of which is the sum of the aggregate principal amount of the notes outstanding on the date of the Prepayment Offer and the aggregate principal amount of other Debt of the Company outstanding on the date of the Prepayment Offer that is *pari-passu* in right of payment with the notes and subject to terms and conditions in respect of Asset Sales similar in all material respects to the covenant described hereunder and requiring the Company to make an offer to purchase that Debt at substantially the same time as the Prepayment Offer

Not later than five business days after the Company is obligated to make a Prepayment Offer as described in the preceding paragraph, the Company shall send, or cause to be sent, a written notice, by first-class mail (or electronic transmission in the case of notes held in book-entry form), to the holders of notes, accompanied by information regarding the Company and its Subsidiaries as the Company in good faith believes will enable the holders to make an informed decision with respect to that Prepayment Offer. The notice shall state, among other things, the purchase price and the purchase date, which shall be, subject to any contrary requirements of applicable law, a business day no earlier than 30 days and no later than 60 days from the date the notice is mailed.

The Company will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and any other securities laws or regulations in connection with the repurchase of notes pursuant to the covenant described hereunder. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with provisions of the covenant described hereunder, the Company will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under the covenant described hereunder by virtue thereof.

Limitation on Restrictions on Distributions from Restricted Subsidiaries

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist any consensual restriction on the right of any Restricted Subsidiary to:

- (x) pay dividends, in cash or otherwise, or make any other distributions on or in respect of its Capital Stock, or pay any Debt or other obligation owed, to the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary,
- (y) make any loans or advances to the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary, or
- (z) transfer any of its Property to the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary.

The foregoing limitations will not apply to restrictions:

- (a) in effect on the Issue Date,
- (b) relating to Debt of a Restricted Subsidiary existing at the time it became a Restricted Subsidiary if such restriction was not created in connection with or in anticipation of the transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which that Restricted Subsidiary became a Restricted Subsidiary or was acquired by the Company,
- (c) that result from the Refinancing of Debt Incurred pursuant to an agreement referred to in clauses (a) or (b) above or in clauses (d), (h) (i) or (p) below; *provided* that the restrictions, taken as a whole, are no less favorable to the holders of notes in any material respect (as determined in good faith by the Company's Board of Directors) than the restrictions of the same type contained in the agreement evidencing the Debt so Refinanced,
- (d) resulting from the Incurrence of any Permitted Debt described in the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Limitation on Debt," *provided* that the restrictions, taken as a whole, are no less favorable to the holders of notes in any material respect (as determined in good faith by the Company's Board of Directors) than the restrictions of the same type contained in the indenture,
- (e) existing by reason of applicable law,
- (f) constituting Standard Securitization Undertakings relating solely to, and restricting only the rights of, a Receivables Entity in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction,
- (g) existing pursuant to any Debt Incurred by a Foreign Restricted Subsidiary, which restrictions are customary for a financing of such type, and which are otherwise permitted under the indenture; *provided* that the Company's Board of Directors determines in good faith that such restrictions are not reasonably likely to impair the Company's ability to make principal and interest payments on the notes,
- (h) relating to Debt that is permitted to be Incurred and secured pursuant to the covenants described under "—Limitation on Debt" and "—Limitation on Liens" that limit the right of the debtor to dispose of the Property securing that Debt,
- (i) encumbering Property at the time the Property was acquired by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, so long as the restriction relates solely to the Property so acquired and was not created in connection with or in anticipation of the acquisition,
- (j) resulting from customary provisions restricting subletting or assignment of leases or customary provisions in other agreements (including, without limitation, intellectual property licenses entered into in the ordinary course of business) that restrict assignment of the agreements or rights thereunder,
- (k) which are customary restrictions contained in asset sale agreements limiting the transfer of Property pending the closing of the sale,
- (l) in agreements in respect of Liens permitted to be incurred under the provisions of the covenant described above under the caption "— Liens", and the security documents relating thereto, that limit the right of the debtor to dispose of the assets subject to such Liens;

- (m) contained in agreements governing Hedging Obligations permitted under the indenture;
- (n) relating to the issuance of preferred stock by a Restricted Subsidiary or the payment of dividends thereon in accordance with the terms thereof; *provided* that issuance of such preferred stock is permitted pursuant to the covenant described under the caption "—Limitation on Debt" and the terms of such preferred stock do not expressly restrict the ability of a Restricted Subsidiary to pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock (other than requirements to pay dividends or liquidation preferences on such preferred stock prior to paying any dividends or making any other distributions on such other Capital Stock);
- (o) in Debt Incurred or Capital Stock issued by any Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that the restrictions contained in the agreements or instruments governing such Debt or Capital Stock (x) apply only in the event of a payment default or a default with respect to a financial covenant in such agreement or instrument or (y) will not materially affect the Company's ability to pay all principal, interest and premium, if any, on the notes, as determined in good faith by the Company;
- (p) in any agreement or other instrument of a Unrestricted Subsidiary that is designated a Restricted Subsidiary, in each case that is in existence at the time of such designation (but not created in contemplation of or in connection thereof);
- (q) in or in respect of Capital Lease Obligations, security agreements, mortgages, purchase money agreements or similar instruments to the extent such encumbrance or restriction restricts the transfer of the property (including Capital Stock) subject to such Capital Lease Obligations, security agreements, mortgages, purchase money agreements or similar instruments,
- (r) on cash or other deposits or net worth requirements or similar requirements, imposed by suppliers, landlords or customers or required by insurance, security or bonding companies, or
- (s) contained in contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, not relating to any Debt, and that do not, taken as a whole, detract from the value of, or from the ability of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries to realize the value of, property or assets of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in any manner material to the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, as determined in good faith by the Company.

Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates

The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, conduct any business or enter into or suffer to exist any transaction or series of transactions (including the purchase, sale, transfer, assignment, lease, conveyance or exchange of any Property or the rendering of any service) with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Company, involving aggregate consideration payable to or from the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in excess of \$20.0 million (an "Affiliate Transaction"), unless:

- (a) the terms of such Affiliate Transaction are no less favorable to the Company or that Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, than those that could be obtained in a comparable arm's-length transaction with a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company, and
- (b) if the Affiliate Transaction involves aggregate payments or value in excess of \$40.0 million, the Board of Directors (including a majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors) approves the Affiliate Transaction as evidenced by a Board Resolution promptly delivered to the trustee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing limitation, the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary may enter into or suffer to exist the following:

- (a) any transaction or series of transactions between the Company and one or more Restricted Subsidiaries or between two or more Restricted Subsidiaries;
- (b) any Restricted Payment permitted to be made pursuant to the covenant described under "—Limitation on Restricted Payments" or any Permitted Investment (other than under clauses (a) or (b) of the definition thereof);

- (c) the payment of reasonable compensation (including amounts paid pursuant to employee benefit plans and equity incentive plans) for the personal services of, and related indemnities provided to, officers, directors and employees of the Company or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries;
- (d) (i) reimbursement of employee travel and lodging costs and other business expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business and (ii) loans and advances to employees made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with applicable laws and consistent with the past practices of the Company or that Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be; *provided* that those loans and advances under this clause (ii) do not exceed \$20.0 million in the aggregate at any one time outstanding;
- (e) any transaction effected as part of a Qualified Receivables Transaction or any transaction involving the transfer of accounts receivable of the type specified in the definition of "Credit Facilities" and permitted under clause (c) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—
 Limitation on Debt";
- (f) any sale of shares of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company;
- (g) any agreement as in effect on the Issue Date or any amendment thereto (so long as such amendment is not materially adverse to the interests of the holders of the notes) or any transaction contemplated thereby;
- (h) transactions between the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and any Person that would not otherwise constitute an Affiliate Transaction except for the fact that a director or manager of such Person is also a director or manager of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary, as applicable; *provided* that such director or manager abstains from voting as a director or manager of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary, as applicable, on such transaction;
- (i) any transaction in which the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, as the case may be, delivers to the trustee a letter from an accounting, appraisal, advisory or investment banking firm of national standing stating that such transaction is fair to the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary from a financial point of view or that such transaction meets the requirements of clause (a) of the preceding paragraph;
- (j) any Affiliate Transaction with a Person in its capacity as a holder of Debt or Capital Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary of the Company if such Person is treated no more favorably than the other holders of Debt or Capital Stock of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary;
- (k) transactions with any joint venture entered into in the ordinary course of business; and
- (l) transactions with Unrestricted Subsidiaries, customers, clients, suppliers or purchasers or sellers of goods or services, or lessors or lessees of property, in each case in the ordinary course of business and otherwise in compliance with the indenture which are, in the aggregate (taking into account all the costs and benefits associated with such transactions), not materially less favorable to the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries than those contained in similar contracts entered into by the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries with unrelated third parties, or if neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary has entered into a similar contract with a third party, then on the terms no less favorable than those available from third parties on an arm's-length basis, in each case as determined in good faith by the Company.

Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries

The Board of Directors may designate any Subsidiary of the Company to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary if:

- (a) the Subsidiary to be so designated does not own any Capital Stock or Debt of, or own or hold any Lien on any Property of, the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary, and
- (b) either:

- (1) the Subsidiary to be so designated has total assets of \$1,000 or less, or
- (2) if the Subsidiary has consolidated assets greater than \$1,000, then the designation would be permitted under the covenant entitled "— Limitation on Restricted Payments."

Unless so designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary, any Person that becomes a Subsidiary of the Company will be classified as a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that the Subsidiary shall not be designated a Restricted Subsidiary and shall be automatically classified as an Unrestricted Subsidiary if the Person is a Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

Except as provided in the first sentence of the preceding paragraph, no Restricted Subsidiary may be redesignated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary. In addition, neither the Company nor any Restricted Subsidiary shall at any time be directly or indirectly liable for any Debt that provides that the holder thereof may (with the passage of time or notice or both) declare a default thereon or cause the payment thereof to be accelerated or payable prior to its Stated Maturity upon the occurrence of a default with respect to any Debt, Lien or other obligation of any Unrestricted Subsidiary in existence and classified as an Unrestricted Subsidiary at the time the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary is liable for that Debt (including any right to take enforcement action against that Unrestricted Subsidiary).

The Board of Directors may designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary if, immediately after giving *pro-forma* effect to the designation,

- (x) the Company could Incur at least \$1.00 of additional Debt pursuant to clause (1) of the first paragraph of the covenant described under "— Limitation on Debt," and
- (y) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result therefrom.

Any designation or redesignation of this kind by the Board of Directors will be evidenced to the trustee by filing with the trustee a Board Resolution giving effect to the designation or redesignation and an Officers' Certificate that:

- (a) certifies that the designation or redesignation complies with the foregoing provisions, and
- (b) gives the effective date of the designation or redesignation, and the filing with the trustee to occur after the end of the fiscal quarter of the Company in which the designation or redesignation is made within the time period for which reports are required to be provided under "—SEC Reports."

Additional Note Guaranties

If any Domestic Restricted Subsidiary Guarantees or becomes an obligor under the Company's Credit Agreement following the Issue Date, such Domestic Restricted Subsidiary shall promptly provide a Note Guaranty by executing and delivering to the trustee a supplemental indenture, pursuant to which such Guarantor shall Guarantee payment of the notes, and related Officers' Certificates and opinions of counsel required under the indenture; *provided* that the preceding shall not apply to any Unrestricted Subsidiary for so long as it continues to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary. Notwithstanding the preceding, any Note Guarantee of a Restricted Subsidiary that was incurred pursuant to this paragraph may provide by its terms that it shall be automatically and unconditionally released at such time as such Guarantor ceases to be a guarantor or other obligor under the Credit Agreement (other than upon a discharge of a guarantee thereof through payment thereon).

Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property

The Company

The Company shall not merge, consolidate or amalgamate with or into any other Person (other than a merger of a Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiary into the Company) or sell, transfer, assign, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all its Property in any one transaction or series of transactions unless:

- (a) the Company shall be the surviving Person (the "Surviving Person") or the Surviving Person (if other than the Company) formed by that merger, consolidation or amalgamation or to which that sale, transfer, assignment, lease, conveyance or disposition of all or substantially all its Property is made shall be an entity organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, any State thereof or the District of Columbia; provided that, if the surviving entity is not a corporation, the Company shall cause a corporation to be added as a co-issuer of the notes;
- (b) the Surviving Person (if other than the Company) expressly assumes, by supplemental indenture in form satisfactory to the trustee, executed and delivered to the trustee by that Surviving Person, the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, all the notes, according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions of the indenture and the registration rights agreement to be performed by the Company;
- (c) immediately before and after giving effect to that transaction or series of transactions on a *pro-forma* basis (and treating, for purposes of this clause (c) and clause (d) below, any Debt that becomes, or is anticipated to become, an obligation of the Surviving Person or any Restricted Subsidiary as a result of that transaction or series of transactions as having been Incurred by the Surviving Person or the Restricted Subsidiary at the time of that transaction or series of transactions), no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
- (d) immediately after giving effect to that transaction or series of transactions on a *pro-forma* basis, the Company or the Surviving Person, as the case may be, (i) would be able to Incur at least \$1.00 of additional Debt under clause (1) of the first paragraph of the covenant described under "— Limitation on Debt" or (ii) the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio of the Company or the Surviving Person, as applicable, would be greater than or equal to such ratio immediately prior to such transaction; *provided* that this clause (d) shall not be applicable to the Company merging, consolidating or amalgamating with or into an Affiliate incorporated solely for the purpose of reincorporating the Company in another State of the United States so long as the amount of Debt of the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries is not increased thereby; and
- (e) the Company shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the trustee, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the trustee, an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that the transaction and the supplemental indenture, if any, in respect thereto comply with this covenant and that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to the transaction have been satisfied.

The surviving entity will succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the Company under the indenture and the predecessor Company shall be discharged and released from all obligations under the indenture and the notes; *provided* that the Company will not be released from the obligation to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the notes in the case of a sale, transfer, assignment, conveyance or other disposition (unless that sale, transfer, assignment, conveyance or other disposition is of all the assets of the Company as an entirety) or a lease of all or substantially all of the Company's properties or assets in a transaction that is subject to, and that complies with the provisions of, this covenant.

Clauses (c) and (d) of the first paragraph of this covenant will not apply to any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into one of its Restricted Subsidiaries for any purpose.

Guarantors

No Guarantor may

- · merge, consolidate or amalgamate with or into any other Person, or
- · sell, transfer, assign, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all its Property in any one transaction or series of transactions, or
- permit any Person to merge, consolidate or amalgamate with or into the Guarantor unless
- (A) the other Person is the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Guarantor or becomes a Guarantor concurrently with the transaction; or
- (B) (1) either (x) the Guarantor is the continuing Person or (y) the resulting, surviving or transferee Person expressly assumes by supplemental indenture all of the obligations of the Guarantor under its Note Guaranty; and
 - (2) immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no Default has occurred and is continuing; or
- (C) the transaction constitutes a sale or other disposition (including by way of consolidation or merger) of the Guarantor or the sale or disposition of all or substantially all the Property of the Guarantor (in each case other than to the Company or a Domestic Restricted Subsidiary) otherwise permitted by the indenture.

SEC Reports

Notwithstanding that the Company may not be subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Company shall file with the SEC and provide the trustee and holders of notes with annual reports and information, documents and other reports as are specified in Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act and applicable to a U.S. corporation subject to those Sections, and the information, documents and reports to be so filed and provided at the times specified for the filing of the information, documents and reports under those Sections (including any applicable grace period or extension available thereunder or under the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC); *provided* that (i) the Company shall not be so obligated to file the information, documents and reports with the SEC if the SEC does not permit those filings (but shall provide them to the trustee and the holders of notes within the time periods specified in those Sections) and (ii) the electronic filing with the SEC through the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval System (or any successor system providing for free public access to such filings) shall satisfy the Company's obligation to provide such reports, information and documents to the trustee and the holders of notes. The availability of the foregoing materials on a freely accessible page on the Company's website also shall be deemed to satisfy the foregoing delivery obligations.

The Trustee shall have no obligation to determine if and when the Company's financial statements or any other reports are publicly available and accessible electronically or on the Company's website. Delivery of such reports, information and documents to the trustee shall be for informational purposes only and the trustee's receipt of such shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including the compliance by us with any of the covenants contained in the indenture (as to which the trustee will be entitled to conclusively rely upon an Officers' Certificate).

If any direct or indirect parent company of the Company becomes a guarantor of the notes, the Company may satisfy its obligations in this covenant with respect to financial information relating to the Company by furnishing financial information relating to such parent company; *provided* that the same is accompanied by consolidating information that explains in reasonable detail the differences between the information relating to such parent, on the one hand, and the information relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries on a standalone basis, on the other hand.

Events of Default

Events of Default in respect of the notes include:

- (1) failure to make the payment of any interest on the notes when the same becomes due and payable, and that failure continues for a period of 30 days;
- (2) failure to make the payment of any principal of, or premium, if any, on, any of the notes when the same becomes due and payable at its Stated Maturity, upon acceleration, redemption, optional redemption, required repurchase or otherwise;
- (3) failure to comply with the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property";
- (4) failure to comply with any other covenant or agreement in the notes or in the indenture (other than a failure that is the subject of the foregoing clause (1), (2) or (3)) and such failure continues for 30 days (180 days in the case of a failure to comply with a provision under "—Certain Covenants— SEC Reports") after written notice is given to the Company as provided below;
- (5) a default under any Debt by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary that results in acceleration of the maturity of that Debt, or failure to pay any Debt at maturity, in an aggregate amount greater than \$50.0 million or its foreign currency equivalent at the time (the "cross acceleration provisions");
- (6) any judgment or judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of \$50.0 million (or its foreign currency equivalent at the time) (net of amounts covered by insurance or bonded) that shall be rendered against the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary and that shall not be waived, satisfied, annulled, discharged or rescinded for any period of 30 consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement shall not be in effect (the "judgment default provisions");
- (7) specified events involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Company or any Significant Subsidiary (the "bankruptcy provisions"); and
- (8) any Note Guaranty by any Significant Subsidiary ceases to be in full force and effect, other than in accordance with the terms of the indenture, or a Guarantor denies or disaffirms its obligations under its Note Guaranty (the "note guaranty provisions").

A Default under clause (4) is not an Event of Default until the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding notify the Company of the Default and the Company does not cure that Default within the time specified after receipt of the notice. The notice must specify the Default, demand that it be remedied and state that the notice is a "Notice of Default."

The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of a Default or an Event of Default unless an officer of the Trustee with direct responsibility for the administration of the Indenture has received written notice thereof (in accordance with the notice provisions of the Indenture) from the Company or any Holder and such notice references the Notes and the Indenture.

The Company shall deliver to the trustee, within 30 days after the occurrence thereof, written notice in the form of an Officers' Certificate of any event that with the giving of notice and the lapse of time would become an Event of Default, its status and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.

If an Event of Default with respect to the notes (other than an Event of Default resulting from particular events involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to the Company) shall have occurred and be continuing, the trustee or the registered holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of notes then outstanding may declare to be immediately due and payable the principal amount of all the notes then outstanding, plus accrued but unpaid interest to the date of acceleration. In case an Event of Default resulting from events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to the Company shall occur, the amount with respect to all the notes shall be due and payable immediately without any declaration or other act on the part of the trustee or the holders of the notes. After any such acceleration, but before a judgment or decree based on

acceleration is obtained by the trustee, the registered holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding may, under some circumstances, rescind and annul the acceleration if all Events of Default, other than the nonpayment of accelerated principal, premium or interest, have been cured or waived as provided in the indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Default described in clause (5) above shall have occurred and be continuing, such Event of Default and any consequential acceleration (to the extent not in violation of any applicable law or in conflict with any judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction) shall be automatically rescinded if (a) the default relating to such Debt is waived by the holders of such Debt or cured and if such Debt has been accelerated, then the holders thereof have rescinded their declaration of acceleration in respect of such Debt, (b) any other existing Events of Default, except nonpayment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the notes that became due solely because of the acceleration of the notes, have been cured or waived and (c) there has been deposited with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all sums paid or advanced by the Trustee and the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel incurred in connection with the rescinded Event of Default.

Subject to the provisions of the indenture relating to the duties of the trustee, in case an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at the request or direction of any of the holders of the notes, unless the holders shall have offered to the trustee reasonable indemnity. Subject to the provisions for the indemnification of the trustee, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee with respect to the notes.

No holder of notes will have any right to institute any proceeding with respect to the indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any remedy thereunder, unless:

- (a) that holder has previously given to the trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default,
- (b) the registered holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding have made written request and offered reasonable indemnity to the trustee to institute the proceeding as trustee, and
- (c) the trustee shall not have received from the registered holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding a direction inconsistent with that request and shall have failed to institute the proceeding within 60 days.

However, these limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder of any note for enforcement of payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, or interest on, that note on or after the respective due dates expressed in that note. The trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any Default or Event of Default unless an officer of the Trustee having direct responsibility for the administration of the indenture has received written notice of any such event and such notice references the notes and the indenture.

Amendments and Waivers

Subject to some exceptions, the indenture may be amended with the consent of the registered holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for the notes) and any past default or compliance with any provisions may also be waived with the consent of the registered holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding (including waivers obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for the notes), except a default in the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest and particular covenants and provisions of the indenture which cannot be amended without the consent of each holder of an outstanding note. However, without the consent of each holder of an outstanding note affected thereby, no amendment may, among other things,

(1) reduce the amount of notes whose holders must consent to an amendment or waiver,

- (2) reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest on any note,
- (3) reduce the principal of or extend the Stated Maturity of any note,
- (4) make any note payable in money other than U.S. dollars,
- (5) impair the right of any holder of the notes to receive payment of principal of and interest on that holder's notes on or after the due dates therefor or to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to that holder's notes,
- (6) subordinate the notes to any other obligation of the Company,
- (7) reduce the premium payable upon the redemption of any note or change the time at which any note may be redeemed, as described under "— Optional Redemption,"
- (8) at any time after a Change of Control has occurred, reduce the premium payable upon a Change of Control or change the time at which the Change of Control Offer relating thereto must be made or at which the notes must be repurchased pursuant to that Change of Control offer, or
- (9) at any time after the Company is obligated to make a Prepayment Offer with the Excess Proceeds from Asset Sales, change the time at which the Prepayment Offer must be made or at which the notes must be repurchased pursuant thereto.

Without the consent of any holder of the notes, the Company and the trustee may amend the indenture to:

- (1) cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency,
- (2) provide for the assumption by a successor of the obligations of the Company or any Guarantor under the indenture,
- (3) provide for uncertificated notes in addition to or in place of certificated notes; *provided* that the uncertificated notes are issued in registered form for purposes of Section 163(f) of the Code, or in a manner such that the uncertificated notes are described in Section 163(f)(2)(B) of the Code,
- (4) add Guarantees with respect to the notes or release Guarantors from their Note Guaranties as provided by the terms of the indenture or the Note Guaranties.
- (5) secure the notes or the Note Guarantees (and, thereafter, provide releases of collateral in accordance with the security documents entered into in connection therewith), add to the covenants of the Company for the benefit of the holders of the notes or surrender any right or power conferred upon the Company,
- (6) make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of the notes,
- (7) comply with any requirement of the SEC in connection with the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act,
- (8) provide for the issuance of additional notes in accordance with the indenture,
- (9) conform any provisions to this "Description of Exchange Notes,"
- (10) to evidence or provide for the acceptance of appointment under the indenture of a successor trustee;
- (11) to provide for the addition of a corporate co-issuer in accordance with the covenant described under the subheading "—Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets;" or
- (12) to add covenants or Events of Default for the benefit of the holders or surrender any right or power conferred upon the Company or any Guarantor.

The consent of the holders of the notes is not necessary to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment. It is sufficient if such consent approves the substance of the proposed amendment. After an amendment becomes effective, the Company is required to mail, or cause to be mailed, to each registered holder of the notes at the holder's address appearing in the security register a notice briefly describing the amendment. However, the failure to give this notice to all holders of the notes, or any defect therein, will not impair or affect the validity of the amendment. In connection with any modification, amendment or supplement, we will deliver to the trustee an

Opinion of Counsel and an Officers' Certificate upon which the trustee may conclusively rely, each stating that such modification, amendment or supplement complies with the applicable provisions of the indenture.

Defeasance and Discharge

The Company may discharge its obligations under the notes and the indenture by irrevocably depositing in trust with the trustee money or Government Obligations sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the notes to maturity or redemption within one year, subject to meeting certain other conditions.

The Company at any time may also terminate all its obligations under the notes and the indenture ("legal defeasance"), except for particular obligations, including those respecting the defeasance trust and obligations to register the transfer or exchange of the notes, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen notes and to maintain a registrar and paying agent in respect of the notes. The Company at any time may terminate:

- (1) its obligations under the covenants described under "—Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control" and "—Certain Covenants" above,
- (2) the operation of the cross acceleration provisions, the judgment default provisions, the bankruptcy provisions with respect to Significant Subsidiaries and the note guaranty provisions, described under "—Events of Default" above, and
- (3) the limitations contained in clause (d) under the first paragraph of "—Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property" above ("covenant defeasance").

The Company may exercise its legal defeasance option notwithstanding its prior exercise of its covenant defeasance option.

If the Company exercises its legal defeasance option, payment of the notes may not be accelerated because of an Event of Default with respect thereto. If the Company exercises its covenant defeasance option, payment of the notes may not be accelerated because of an Event of Default specified in clause (4) (with respect to the covenants described under "—Certain Covenants"), (5), (6), (7) (with respect only to Significant Subsidiaries) or (8) under "—Events of Default" above or because of the failure of the Company to comply with clause (e) under the first paragraph of "—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property" above. The legal defeasance option or the covenant defeasance option may be exercised only if:

- (a) the Company irrevocably deposits in trust with the trustee money in U.S. dollars or U.S. dollar-denominated Government Obligations for the payment of principal of and interest (including premium, if any) on the notes to maturity or redemption;
- (b) the Company delivers to the trustee a certificate of a nationally recognized accounting firm expressing their opinion that the payments of principal and interest when due and without reinvestment on the deposited Government Obligations plus any deposited money without investment will provide cash at the times and in amounts as will be sufficient to pay principal and interest (including premium, if any) when due on all the notes to maturity or redemption, as the case may be;
- (c) 123 days pass after the deposit is made and during the 123-day period no Default described in clause (7) under "—Events of Default" occurs with respect to the Company or any other Person making the deposit which is continuing at the end of the period;
- (d) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the deposit and after giving effect thereto;
- (e) the deposit does not constitute a default under any other agreement or instrument binding on the Company;
- (f) in the case of the legal defeasance option, the Company delivers to the trustee an Opinion of Counsel stating that:
 - the Company has received from the Internal Revenue Service a ruling, or

- (2) since the Issue Date there has been a change in the applicable Federal income tax law,
- to the effect, in either case, that, and based thereon the Opinion of Counsel shall confirm that, the beneficial owners of the notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the defeasance had not occurred;
- (g) in the case of the covenant defeasance option, the Company delivers to the trustee an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the beneficial owners of the notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for Federal income tax purposes as a result of that covenant defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if that covenant defeasance had not occurred; and
- (h) the Company delivers to the trustee an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent to the defeasance and discharge of the notes have been complied with as required by the indenture.

In the case of either discharge or defeasance, the Note Guaranties, if any, will terminate.

Governing Law

The indenture and the notes will be governed by the internal laws of the State of New York.

The Trustee

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. is the trustee under the indenture and has been appointed by the Company as registrar and paying agent with regard to the notes.

Except during the continuance of an Event of Default, the trustee will perform only the duties as are specifically set forth in the indenture. During the existence of an Event of Default, the trustee will exercise the rights and powers vested in it under the indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances in the conduct of that person's own affairs.

Definitions

Set forth below is a summary of defined terms from the indenture that are used in this "Description of Exchange Notes." Reference is made to the indenture for the full definition of all such terms as well as any other capitalized terms used herein for which no definition is provided. Unless the context otherwise requires, an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with GAAP.

"Affiliate" of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with that specified Person.

For the purposes of this definition, "control" when used with respect to any Person means the power to direct the management and policies of that Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

"Applicable Premium" means, with respect to any note on any redemption date, the excess of (i) the present value on such redemption date of (A) the redemption price of such notes on June 15, 2021 (such redemption price being that described in "—Optional Redemption" above), plus (B) all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on such note through June 15, 2021, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 50 basis points, over (ii) the principal amount of such note.

"Asset Sale" means any sale, lease, transfer, issuance or other disposition (or series of related sales, leases, transfers, issuances or dispositions) by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction (each referred to for the purposes of this definition as a "disposition"), of

- (a) any shares of Capital Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary (other than directors' qualifying shares),
- (b) all or substantially all the assets of any division or line of business of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, or
- (c) any other Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary outside of the ordinary course of business of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary,

other than, in the case of clause (a), (b) or (c) above,

- (1) any disposition by a Restricted Subsidiary to the Company or by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary to a Restricted Subsidiary,
- (2) any disposition that constitutes a Permitted Investment or Restricted Payment permitted by the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Restricted Payments,"
- (3) any disposition effected in compliance with the first paragraph of the covenant described under "— Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property—The Company,"
- (4) a sale of accounts receivables and related assets of the type specified in the definition of "Qualified Receivables Transaction" to a Receivables Entity,
- (5) a transfer of accounts receivables and related assets of the type specified in the definition of "Qualified Receivables Transaction" (or a fractional undivided interest therein) by a Receivables Entity in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction,
- (6) a transfer of accounts receivable that is permitted under clause (2)(c) of the second paragraph of "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt,"
- (7) the disposition of assets or Equity Interests received in settlement of debts owing to a Person as a result of foreclosure, perfection or enforcement of any Lien or debt, which debts were owing to such Person,
- (8) any sale or other disposition of Equity Interests in, or Debt or other securities of, an Unrestricted Subsidiary,
- (9) any disposition that does not (together with all related dispositions) involve assets having a Fair Market Value or consideration in excess of \$25.0 million,
- (10) any disposition that constitutes a Permitted Lien or a Sale and Leaseback Transaction otherwise permitted by the indenture, and
- (11) any surrender, expiration or waiver of contract rights or the settlement, release, recovery on or surrender of contract, tort or other claims of any kind.

"Average Life" means, as of any date of determination, with respect to any Debt or Preferred Stock, the quotient obtained by dividing:

- (a) the sum of the product of the numbers of years (rounded to the nearest one-twelfth of one year) from the date of determination to the dates of each successive scheduled principal payment of that Debt or redemption or similar payment with respect to that Preferred Stock multiplied by the amount of the payment by
- (b) the sum of all payments of this kind.

"Beneficial Owner" means a beneficial owner as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, except that:

- (a) a Person will be deemed to be the Beneficial Owner of all shares that the Person has the right to acquire, whether that right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time, and
- (b) for purposes of clause (a) of the definition of "Change of Control," any "person" or "group" (as those terms are defined in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act or any successor provisions to either of the foregoing), including any group acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of securities within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act, shall be deemed to be the Beneficial Owners of any Voting Stock of a corporation or other legal entity held by any other corporation or legal entity (the "parent corporation"), so long as that person or group Beneficially Owns, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of that parent corporation.

The term "Beneficially Own" shall have a corresponding meaning.

"Capital Lease Obligation" means any obligation under a lease that is required to be capitalized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP; and the amount of Debt represented by that obligation shall be the capitalized amount of the obligations determined in accordance with GAAP; and the Stated Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under that lease prior to the first date upon which that lease may be terminated by the lessee without payment of a penalty. For purposes of "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Liens," a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed secured by a Lien on the Property being leased.

"Capital Stock" means, with respect to any Person, any shares or other equivalents (however designated) of any class of corporate stock or partnership interests or any other participations, rights, warrants, options or other interests in the nature of an equity interest in that Person, including Preferred Stock, but excluding any debt security convertible or exchangeable into that equity interest.

"Capital Stock Sale Proceeds" means the aggregate net proceeds (including the Fair Market Value of property other than cash) received by the Company from the issuance or sale (other than to a Subsidiary of the Company or an employee stock ownership plan or trust established by the Company or the Subsidiary for the benefit of their employees) by the Company of its Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) after the Existing Notes Issue Date, net of attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, initial purchasers' or placement agents' fees, discounts or commissions and brokerage, consultant and other fees actually incurred in connection with the issuance or sale and net of taxes paid or payable as a result thereof.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following events:

- (a) if any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act or any successor provisions to either of the foregoing), including any group acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of securities within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act, becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Company; or
- (b) the sale, transfer, assignment, lease, conveyance or other disposition, directly or indirectly, of all or substantially all the Property of the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries, considered as a whole (other than a disposition of assets as an entirety or virtually as an entirety to a Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiary) shall have occurred, or the Company merges, consolidates or amalgamates with or into any other Person or any other Person merges, consolidates or amalgamates with or into the Company, in any event pursuant to a transaction in which the outstanding Voting Stock of the Company is reclassified into or exchanged for cash, securities or other Property, other than a transaction where:
 - (1) the outstanding Voting Stock of the Company is reclassified into or exchanged for other Voting Stock of the Company or for Voting Stock of the surviving corporation or transferee, and

- (2) the holders of the Voting Stock of the Company immediately prior to the transaction own, directly or indirectly, not less than a majority of the Voting Stock of the Company or the surviving corporation or transferee immediately after the transaction and in substantially the same proportion as before the transaction; or
- (c) the shareholders of the Company shall have approved any plan of liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Commodity Price Protection Agreement" means, in respect of a Person, any forward contract, commodity swap agreement, commodity option agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect that Person against fluctuations in commodity prices.

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having a maturity comparable to June 15, 2021 that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity. "Independent Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by the Company.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, with respect to any redemption date:

- (a) the average of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) on the third business day preceding such redemption date, as set forth in the most recently published statistical release designated "H.15 (519)" (or any successor release) published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and which establishes yields on actively traded United States treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity under the caption "Treasury Constant Maturities," or
- (b) if such release (or any successor release) is not published or does not contain such prices on such business day, the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for such redemption date.

"Consolidated Current Liabilities" means, as of any date of determination, the consolidated current liabilities of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries that may properly be classified as current liabilities in conformity with GAAP, excluding, without duplication, (a) the current portion of any long-term Debt and (b) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the revolving credit loans made to the Company under the Credit Agreement.

"Consolidated Fixed Charges" means, for any period for the Company and its consolidated Restricted Subsidiaries, the sum, without duplication, of,

- (a) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period, plus
- (b) Disqualified Stock Dividends paid, accrued or scheduled to be paid or accrued during such period, excluding dividends paid in Qualified Capital Stock, plus
- (c) Preferred Stock Dividends paid, accrued or scheduled to be paid or accrued during such period, excluding dividends paid or scheduled to be paid in Qualified Capital Stock.

"Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of:

- (a) the aggregate amount of EBITDA for the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters ending prior to such determination date for which internal financial statements of the Company are available, to
- (b) Consolidated Fixed Charges for those four fiscal quarters;

provided that:

- (1) if
 - (a) since the beginning of that period the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary has Incurred any Debt that remains outstanding or Repaid any Debt, or
 - (b) the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio involves an Incurrence or Repayment of Debt,

Consolidated Fixed Charges for that period shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro-forma basis to that Incurrence or Repayment as if the Debt was Incurred or Repaid on the first day of that period; provided that, in the event of any Repayment of Debt, EBITDA for that period shall be calculated as if the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary had not earned any interest income actually earned during such period in respect of the funds used to Repay such Debt, and

- (2) if
 - (a) since the beginning of that period the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary shall have made any Asset Sale or an Investment (by merger or otherwise) in any Restricted Subsidiary (or any Person which becomes a Restricted Subsidiary) or an acquisition of Property which constitutes all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business,
 - (b) the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio involves an Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition, or
 - (c) since the beginning of that period any Person (that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary since the beginning of that period) shall have made such an Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition,

EBITDA for that period shall be calculated after giving *pro-forma* effect to the Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition as if the Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of that period.

If any Debt bears a floating rate of interest and is being given *pro-forma* effect, the interest expense on that Debt shall be calculated as if the base interest rate in effect for the floating rate of interest on the date of determination had been the applicable base interest rate for the entire period (taking into account any Interest Rate Agreement applicable to that Debt if the applicable Interest Rate Agreement has a remaining term in excess of 12 months). In the event the Capital Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary is sold during the period, the Company shall be deemed, for purposes of clause (1) above, to have Repaid during that period the Debt of that Restricted Subsidiary to the extent the Company and its continuing Restricted Subsidiaries are no longer liable for that Debt after the sale.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, for any period for the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, all interest expense on a consolidated basis determined in accordance with GAAP, but, in any event, including the interest component under Capital Lease Obligations and the implied interest component under Qualified Receivables Transactions and excluding (i) commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges related to Qualified Receivables Transaction and (ii) amortization or write-off of deferred financing fees, debt issuance costs, commissions and fees and expenses with respect to Debt.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period for the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, net income (or loss) determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, but excluding:

(a) unusual or non-recurring charges for such period, including restructuring charges or reserves, severance, relocation costs and one-time compensation charges (including without limitation retention bonuses) and other costs relating to the closure of facilities or impairment of facilities; *provided* that the aggregate amount added back pursuant to this clause (a) shall not exceed, for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, 15% of EBITDA for such period (prior to giving effect to any adjustment pursuant to this clause (a);

- (b) the non-cash effects of purchase accounting under Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting Standards Board 805;
- (c) any deduction for income (or addition for losses) attributable to the minority equity interests of third parties in any Restricted Subsidiary except, in the case of income, to the extent of dividends paid in respect of such period to the holder of such minority equity interest;
- (d) any gain (or loss) realized upon the sale or other disposition of any Property of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (including pursuant to any Sale and Leaseback Transaction) that is not sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business;
- (e) any gain or loss attributable to the early extinguishment of Debt;
- (f) any extraordinary gain or loss or cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles to the extent disclosed separately on the consolidated statement of income;
- (g) any unrealized gains or losses of the Company or its Restricted Subsidiaries on any Hedging Obligations;
- (h) the undistributed earnings of any Restricted Subsidiary to the extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Restricted Subsidiary is not at the time permitted by the terms of any agreement, instrument, contract or other undertaking to which such Restricted Subsidiary is a party or by which any of its property is bound or any law, treaty, rule, regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority, in each case, applicable or binding upon such Restricted Subsidiary or any of its property or to which such Restricted Subsidiary or any of its property is subject;
- (i) costs, fees, expenses or premiums incurred during such period in connection with the Transactions; and
- (j) costs, fees and expenses incurred during such period in connection with acquisitions (whether or not consummated), other Investments consisting of acquisitions of assets or equity constituting a business unit, line of business, division or entity (whether or not consummated) and dispositions of Property (whether or not consummated), other than dispositions, to the extent considered Dispositions (or any equivalent term used in the Credit Agreement) under the Credit Agreement, of Property effected in the ordinary course of business.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) for purposes of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Restricted Payments" only, there shall be excluded from Consolidated Net Income any dividends, repayments of loans or advances or other transfers of assets from Unrestricted Subsidiaries to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary to the extent the dividends, repayments or transfers increase the amount of Restricted Payments permitted under that covenant pursuant to clause (c)(4) thereof, and (ii) any net income (loss) of any Person (other than the Company) that is not a Restricted Subsidiary shall be excluded in calculating Consolidated Net Income, except that the Company's equity in the net income of any such Person for any period shall be included, without duplication, in such Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash distributed by the Person during such period to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary as a dividend or distribution.

"Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" means, as of any date of determination, the sum of the amounts that would appear on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its consolidated Restricted Subsidiaries as the total assets (less accumulated depreciation, amortization, allowances for doubtful receivables, other applicable allowances and other properly deductible items) of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, after giving effect to purchase accounting and after deducting therefrom Consolidated Current Liabilities and, to the extent otherwise included, the amounts of (without duplication):

- (a) the excess of cost over Fair Market Value of assets or businesses acquired;
- (b) any revaluation or other write-up in book value of assets subsequent to the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company immediately preceding the Issue Date as a result of a change in the method of valuation in accordance with GAAP;

- (c) unamortized debt discount and expenses and other unamortized deferred charges, goodwill, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, licenses, organization or developmental expenses and other intangible items;
- (d) noncontrolling interests in consolidated Subsidiaries held by Persons other than the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary;
- (e) treasury stock;
- (f) cash or securities set aside and held in a sinking or other analogous fund established for the purpose of redemption or other retirement of Capital Stock to the extent such obligation is not reflected in Consolidated Current Liabilities; and
- (g) Investments in and assets of Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

For the avoidance of doubt any deferred tax assets that would appear on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries shall be included in the calculation of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets.

"Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of

- (a) (x) the aggregate amount of all Debt of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries secured by Liens at the date of determination (on a *pro-forma* basis reflecting any Incurrence of Debt and repayment of Debt made on such date), less
 - (y) the aggregate amount (not to exceed \$150.0 million) of Qualified Cash on such date of determination, to
- (b) the aggregate amount of EBITDA for the Company for the four full fiscal quarters, treated as one period, ending prior to the date of the transaction (the "*Transaction Date*") giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio for which internal financial statements of the Company are available (such four full fiscal quarter period being referred to herein as the "*Four Quarter Period*").

In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, for purposes of this definition, this ratio shall be calculated after giving effect to the following:

- (1) if since the beginning of that period the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary shall have made any Asset Sale or an Investment (by merger or otherwise) in any Restricted Subsidiary (or any Person which becomes a Restricted Subsidiary) or an acquisition of Property which constitutes all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business,
- (2) if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio involves an Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition, or
- (3) since the beginning of the Four Quarter Period any Person (that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary since the beginning of the Four Quarter Period) shall have made such an Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition,

EBITDA for that period shall be calculated after giving *pro-forma* effect to the Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition as if the Asset Sale, Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of the Four Quarter Period.

For purposes of calculating the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio, the Company may elect to treat the entire commitment of any secured revolving credit facility of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary to be deemed to be fully drawn as of the date such agreement is executed, and thereafter the amount of such commitment shall be deemed to be fully borrowed and outstanding at all times for purposes of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt" and calculation of the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio, and shall not be required to retest upon any borrowings thereunder.

"Consolidated Total Debt Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of:

- (a) (x) the aggregate amount of all Debt of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries secured by Liens at the date of determination (on a *pro-forma* basis reflecting any Incurrence of Debt and repayment of Debt made on such date), less
 - (y) the aggregate amount (not to exceed \$150.0 million) of Qualified Cash on such date of determination, to
- (b) the aggregate amount of EBITDA for the Company for the four full fiscal quarters, treated as one period, ending prior such date of determination for which internal financial statements of the Company are available,

in each case with such *pro-forma* adjustments to Consolidated Total Indebtedness, cash and Temporary Cash Investments and EBITDA as are appropriate and consistent with the pro-forma adjustment provisions in the definition of Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio.

"Convertible Notes" means the 8% Senior Secured Third Lien Convertible Notes due 2016 of Sealy Corporation and Sealy Mattress Company, as coissuers, outstanding on the Issue Date.

"Credit Agreement" means the Credit Agreement dated as of April 6, 2016 among the Company, the additional borrowers thereunder, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other lenders from time to time party thereto, as such agreement, in whole or in part, in one or more instances, may be amended, renewed, extended, substituted, refinanced, restructured, replaced (whether or not upon termination, and whether with the original lenders or otherwise), supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time (including, in each case, by means of one or more credit agreements, note purchase agreements, indentures or sales of debt securities to institutional investors whether with the original agents and lenders or otherwise and including, without limitation, any successive renewals, extensions, substitutions, refinancings, restructurings, replacements, supplementations or other modifications of the foregoing) and including, without limitation, to increase the amount of available borrowing thereunder or to add Restricted Subsidiaries as additional borrowers or guarantors or otherwise.

"Credit Facilities" means, one or more debt facilities (including the Credit Agreement), loan agreements, indentures, commercial-paper or other facilities, in each case, with banks or other institutional lenders, institutional investors or other lenders, investors or credit providers providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, term debt, debt securities, receivables financing (including through Qualified Receivables Transactions and other transactions involving the sale of receivables to such lenders or to special purpose entities formed to borrow from such lenders against such receivables) or letters of credit or other Debt, in each case, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, extended, increased, refunded, replaced in any manner (whether upon or after termination or otherwise) or refinanced in whole or in part from time to time.

"Currency Exchange Protection Agreement" means, in respect of a Person, any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement, currency option or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect that Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

"Danish Tax Assessment" means the pending income tax assessment from the Danish Tax Authority and any related assessment from the Danish Tax Authority for subsequent years and related interest and penalties, as described in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015.

"Debt" means, with respect to any Person on any date of determination (without duplication):

- (a) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of:
 - (1) debt of the Person for money borrowed, and

- (2) debt evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar instruments for the payment of which the Person is responsible or liable;
- (b) all Capital Lease Obligations of the Person;
- (c) all obligations of the Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of Property, all conditional sale obligations of the Person under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business);
- (d) all obligations of the Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar credit transaction (other than obligations with respect to letters of credit securing obligations (other than obligations described in clauses (a) through (c) above) entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Person to the extent those letters of credit are not drawn upon or, if and to the extent drawn upon, the drawing is reimbursed no later than the third business day following receipt by the Person of a demand for reimbursement following payment on the letter of credit);
- (e) the amount of all obligations of the Person with respect to the Repayment of any Disqualified Stock or, with respect to any Subsidiary of the Person, any Preferred Stock (but excluding, in each case, any accrued dividends);
- (f) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (e) of other Persons the payment of which, in either case, the Person is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including by means of any Guarantee;
- (g) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (f) of other Persons secured by any Lien on any Property of the Person (whether or not such obligation is assumed by the Person), the amount of such obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the value of that Property or the amount of the obligation so secured; and
- (h) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, Hedging Obligations of such Person.

The amount of Debt of any Person will be deemed to be:

- (1) with respect to contingent obligations, the maximum liability upon the occurrence of the contingency giving rise to the obligation;
- (2) with respect to Debt secured by a Lien on an asset of such Person but not otherwise the obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person, the lesser of (x) the fair market value of such asset on the date the Lien attached and (y) the amount of such Debt;
- (3) with respect to any Debt issued with original issue discount, the face amount of such Debt less the remaining unamortized portion of the original issue discount of such Debt;
- (4) with respect to any Hedging Obligation, zero if the Hedging Obligation has been incurred pursuant to clause (g), (h) or (i) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt," or otherwise the net amount payable if such Hedging Obligation terminated at that time due to default by such Person; and
- (5) otherwise, the outstanding principal amount thereof.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following shall not constitute or be deemed to be "Debt":

- (i) any debt that has been defeased in accordance with GAAP or defeased pursuant to the deposit of cash or Temporary Cash Investments (in an amount sufficient to satisfy all such indebtedness at maturity or redemption, as applicable, and all payments of interest and premium, if any) in a trust or account created or pledged for the sole benefit of the holders of such indebtedness, and subject to no other Liens, and the other applicable terms of the instrument governing such indebtedness;
- (ii) any obligations arising from agreements of a Person providing for indemnification, adjustment of purchase price, holdbacks, contingent payment obligations based on a final financial statement or

performance of acquired or disposed of assets or similar obligations (other than guarantees of Debt), in each case incurred or assumed by such Person in connection with the acquisition or disposition of assets (including through mergers, consolidations or otherwise);

- (iii) accrued expenses or trade payables;
- (iv) contingent obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business and not in respect of borrowed money; and
- (v) deferred or prepaid revenues.

"Default" means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of Default.

"Disqualified Stock" means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock that by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable, in either case at the option of the holder thereof) or otherwise:

- (a) matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise,
- (b) is or may become redeemable or repurchaseable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, or
- (c) is convertible or exchangeable at the option of the holder thereof for Debt or Disqualified Stock,

on or prior to, in the case of clause (a), (b) or (c), the first anniversary of the Stated Maturity of the notes.

"Disqualified Stock Dividends" means all dividends with respect to Disqualified Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary held by Persons other than the Company or a Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiary. The amount of any dividend of this kind shall be equal to the quotient of the dividend divided by the difference between one and the maximum statutory consolidated federal, state and local income tax rate (expressed as a decimal number between 1 and 0) then applicable to the issuer of the Disqualified Stock.

"Dollar Equivalent" means, with respect to any monetary amount in a currency other than U.S. dollars, at any time for the determination thereof, the amount of U.S. dollars obtained by converting such foreign currency involved in such computation into U.S. dollars at the spot rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with the applicable foreign currency as published by the Federal Reserve Board on the date of such determination.

"Domestic Restricted Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary formed under the laws of the United States of America or any jurisdiction thereof.

"EBITDA" means, for any period for the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries:

- (a) Consolidated Net Income for such period, plus
- (b) without duplication and to the extent deducted in determining such Consolidated Net Income for such period, the sum of:
 - (1) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period,
 - (2) consolidated income tax expense for such period,
 - (3) all amounts attributable to depreciation and amortization (including amortization of deferred financing fees) for such period,
 - (4) costs, fees, expenses or premiums paid during such period in connection with (A) the acquisition of Sealy Corporation, (B) the Incurrence of Debt by the Company, and (C) amendments, waivers, modifications or repayments of the Credit Agreement or other Debt,

- (5) non-cash charges (other than (x) the write-down of current assets, (y) accrual of liabilities in the ordinary course of business and (z) any non-cash charge representing an accrual or reserve for cash expenses in a future period) for such period, and
- (6) any expense or charges incurred during such period in connection with any permitted issuance of Debt, equity securities or any refinancing transactions, *minus*
- (c) without duplication:
 - (1) all cash payments made during such period on account of non-cash charges added back pursuant to clause (b)(5) above in a previous period and
 - (2) to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income, any unusual or nonrecurring gains and all non-cash items of income for such period (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the recognition of deferred revenue or any items which represent the reversal of any accrual of, or cash reserve for, anticipated cash charges that reduced EBITDA in any prior period and in any items which cash was received in a prior period),

all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Equipment Financing Transaction" means any arrangement (together with any Refinancings thereof) with any Person pursuant to which the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary Incurs Debt secured by a Lien on equipment or equipment related property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary.

"Equity Offering" means (i) an underwritten public equity offering of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, or any direct or indirect parent company of the Company but only to the extent contributed to the Company in the form of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company or (ii) a private equity offering of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company, or any direct or indirect parent company of the Company but only to the extent contributed to the Company in the form of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company, other than any public offerings registered on Form S-8.

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth under "-Events of Default."

"Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute, and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder.

"Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any Property, the price that could be negotiated in an arm's-length free market transaction, for cash, between a willing seller and a willing buyer, neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. For purposes of the covenants described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Restricted Payments" and "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Asset Sales" and the definitions of "Qualified Receivables Transaction" and "Credit Facilities," Fair Market Value shall be determined, except as otherwise provided,

- (a) if the Property has a Fair Market Value equal to or less than \$25.0 million, by any Officer of the Company, or
- (b) if the Property has a Fair Market Value in excess of \$25.0 million, by a majority of the Board of Directors and evidenced by a Board Resolution, dated within 12 months of the relevant transaction.

"Foreign Restricted Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Domestic Restricted Subsidiary.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the Issue Date, including those set forth in the Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and in the rules and regulations of the SEC governing the inclusion of financial statements (including pro-forma

financial statements) in periodic reports required to be filed pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act, including opinions and pronouncements in staff accounting bulletins and similar written statements from the accounting staff of the SEC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining compliance with any covenant (including the computation of any financial covenant) contained herein, Debt shall be deemed to be carried at 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, and the effects of Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting Standards Board 825 and 470-20 (or any other Accounting Standards Codification or Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) on financial liabilities (including valuing any such Debt in a reduced or bifurcated manner as described therein) shall be disregarded.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank) and any group or body charged with setting financial accounting or regulatory capital rules or standards (including, without limitation, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Bank for International Settlements or the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision or any successor or similar authority to any of the foregoing).

"Government Obligations" means direct obligations (or certificates representing an ownership interest in such obligations) of the United States of America or any country that is a member of the European Union on the Issue Date (including any agency or instrumentality thereof) for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States of America or such European Union country is pledged and which are not callable or redeemable at the issuer's option.

"Guarantee" means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Debt of any other Person and any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of that Person:

- (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) the Debt of such other Person (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, or by agreements to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), or
- (b) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part);

provided that the term "Guarantee" shall not include:

- (1) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business, or
- (2) a contractual commitment by one Person to invest in another Person for so long as the Investment is reasonably expected to constitute a Permitted Investment under clause (a), (b) or (i) of the definition of "Permitted Investment."

The term "Guarantee" used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

"Guarantor" means each Restricted Subsidiary that executes a supplemental indenture in the form attached to the indenture providing for the guarantee of the payment of the notes, or any successor obligor under its Note Guaranty pursuant to "—Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Property," in each case unless and until such Guarantor is released from its Note Guaranty pursuant to the indenture.

"Hedging Obligation" of any Person means any obligation of that Person pursuant to any Interest Rate Agreement, Currency Exchange Protection Agreement, Commodity Price Protection Agreement or any other similar agreement or arrangement.

"Incur" means, with respect to any Debt or other obligation of any Person, to create, issue, incur (by merger, conversion, exchange or otherwise), extend, assume, Guarantee or become liable in respect of that Debt or other obligation or the recording, as required pursuant to GAAP or otherwise, of any Debt or obligation on the balance sheet of that Person (and "Incurrence" and "Incurred" shall have meanings correlative to the foregoing); provided that a change in GAAP that results in an obligation of that Person that exists at such time, and is not theretofore classified as Debt, becoming Debt shall not be deemed an Incurrence of that Debt; provided further that any Debt or other obligations of a Person existing at the time the Person becomes a Subsidiary (whether by merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise) shall be deemed to be Incurred by that Subsidiary at the time it becomes a Subsidiary; and provided further that solely for purposes of determining compliance with "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt," amortization of debt discount or premium shall not be deemed to be the Incurrence of Debt; provided that in the case of Debt sold at a discount or at a premium, the amount of the Debt Incurred shall at all times be the aggregate principal amount at Stated Maturity.

"Independent Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers selected by the Company.

"Interest Rate Agreement" means, for any Person, any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate option agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect against fluctuations in interest rates.

"Investment" by any Person means any direct or indirect loan (other than advances to customers and suppliers in the ordinary course of business that are recorded as accounts receivable on the balance sheet of that Person), advance or other extension of credit or capital contribution (by means of transfers of cash or other Property to others or payments for Property or services for the account or use of others, or otherwise) to, or Incurrence of a Guarantee of any obligation of, or purchase or acquisition of Capital Stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities or evidence of Debt issued by, any other Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such other Person and any arrangement pursuant to which the investor undertakes any Support Obligation with respect to Debt or other obligations of such other Person. For purposes of the covenants described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Restricted Payments" and "—Certain Covenants— Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries" and the definition of "Restricted Payment," "Investment" shall include the portion (proportionate to the Company's equity interest in the Subsidiary; provided that upon a redesignation of that Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary, the Company shall be deemed to continue to have a permanent "Investment" in an Unrestricted Subsidiary of an amount (if positive) equal to:

- (a) the Company's "Investment" in that Subsidiary at the time of such redesignation, less
- (b) the portion (proportionate to the Company's equity interest in such Subsidiary) of the Fair Market Value of the net assets of that Subsidiary at the time of such redesignation.

In determining the amount of any Investment made by transfer of any Property other than cash, the Property shall be valued at its Fair Market Value at the time of the Investment.

"Investment Grade Rating" means a rating equal to or higher than Baa3 (or the equivalent) by Moody's and BBB-(or the equivalent) by S&P.

"Issue Date" means the date on which the notes in this offering are initially issued.

"Lien" means, with respect to any Property of any Person, any mortgage or deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, security interest, lien, charge, easement (other than any easement not materially impairing usefulness or marketability), encumbrance, preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever on or with respect to that Property (including any Capital Lease Obligation, conditional sale or other title retention agreement having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or any successor to the rating agency business thereof.

"Net Available Cash" from any Asset Sale means cash payments received therefrom (including any cash payments received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant to a note or installment receivable or otherwise, but only as and when received, but excluding any other consideration received in the form of assumption by the acquiring Person of Debt or other obligations relating to the Property that is the subject of that Asset Sale or received in any other non-cash form), in each case net of:

- (a) all legal, title and recording tax expenses, commissions and other fees (including, without limitation, brokers' or investment bankers' commissions or fees) and expenses incurred, and all Federal, state, provincial, foreign and local taxes required to be accrued as a liability under GAAP, as a consequence of the Asset Sale,
- (b) all payments made on any Debt that is secured by any Property subject to the Asset Sale, in accordance with the terms of any Lien upon or other security agreement of any kind with respect to that Property, or which must by its terms, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to the Asset Sale, or by applicable law, be repaid out of the proceeds from the Asset Sale,
- (c) all distributions and other payments required to be made to noncontrolling interest holders in Subsidiaries or joint ventures as a result of the Asset Sale, and
- (d) the deduction of appropriate amounts provided by the seller as a reserve, in accordance with GAAP, against any liabilities associated with the Property disposed in the Asset Sale and retained by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary after the Asset Sale.

"Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, any President, the Chief Accounting Officer, any Senior Vice President or Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary of the Company.

"Officers' Certificate" means a certificate signed by two Officers of the Company, at least one of whom shall be the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or the principal accounting officer of the Company, and delivered to the trustee.

"Opinion of Counsel" means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the trustee. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Company or the trustee.

"Permitted Business" means any business that is reasonably similar, ancillary, complementary or related to, or a reasonable extension, development or expansion of, the businesses in which the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries are engaged in on the Issue Date.

"Permitted Investment" means any Investment by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in:

- (a) any Restricted Subsidiary or any Person that will, upon the making of such Investment, become a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that the primary business of the Restricted Subsidiary is a Permitted Business;
- (b) any Person if as a result of the Investment that Person is merged or consolidated with or into, or transfers or conveys all or substantially all its Property to, the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that the Person's primary business is a Permitted Business;
- (c) cash and Temporary Cash Investments;
- (d) (i) receivables owing to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary,
 - (x) if created or acquired in the ordinary course of business and payable or dischargeable in accordance with customary trade terms; *provided* that those trade terms may include such concessionary trade terms as the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary deems reasonable under the circumstances, or

- (y) reflecting credit extended to customers to finance the purchase of products of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount not to exceed, in the case of this clause (y), (A) \$20.0 million made in any fiscal year or (B) \$50.0 million outstanding at any time, and
- (ii) Investments received in satisfaction or partial satisfaction thereof from financially troubled account debtors to the extent reasonably necessary in order to prevent or limit loss;
- (e) payroll, travel and similar advances to cover matters that are expected at the time of those advances ultimately to be treated as expenses for accounting purposes and that are made in the ordinary course of business;
- (f) loans and advances to directors, officers and employees made in the ordinary course of business or to finance the purchase of Capital Stock of the Company, in compliance with applicable laws and consistent with past practices of the Company or the applicable Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be; *provided* that those loans and advances do not exceed \$20.0 million at any one time outstanding;
- (g) stock, obligations or other securities received in settlement of debts created in the ordinary course of business and owing to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary or in satisfaction of judgments;
- (h) any Person to the extent the Investment represents the non-cash portion of the consideration received in connection with an Asset Sale consummated in compliance with the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Asset Sales";
- (i) Hedging Obligations permitted under clauses (g), (h) or (i) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt":
- (j) a Receivables Entity or any Investment by a Receivables Entity in any other Person in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction, including Investments of funds held in accounts permitted or required by the arrangements governing that Qualified Receivables Transaction or any related Debt; *provided* that any Investment in a Receivables Entity is in the form of a purchase money note, contribution of additional receivables or an equity interest;
- (k) customers or suppliers of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the form of extensions of credit or transfers of property, to the extent otherwise constituting an Investment, and in the ordinary course of business and any Investments received in the ordinary course of business in satisfaction or partial satisfaction thereof;
- (l) any Person if the Investments (or binding commitments in respect thereof) are outstanding on the Issue Date and not otherwise described in clauses (a) through (k) above and any Investment consisting of an extension, modification or renewal of any Investment existing on, or made pursuant to a binding commitment existing on, the Issue Date; *provided* that the amount of any such Investment may be increased (i) as required by the terms of such Investment as in existence on the Issue Date or (ii) as otherwise permitted under the indenture;
- (m) any securities, derivative instruments or other Investments of any kind that are acquired and held for the benefit of Company employees in the ordinary course of business pursuant to deferred compensation plans or arrangements approved by the Board of Directors; *provided* that (i) the amount of such Investment represents funds paid or payable in respect of deferred compensation previously included as an expense in the calculation of Consolidated Net Income (and not excluded pursuant to clause (f) of the definition of Consolidated Net Income), and (ii) the terms of such Investment shall not require any additional Investment by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary;
- (n) any Person (other than an Affiliate) in aggregate amount, taken together with all other Investments made in reliance on this clause, not to exceed the greater of (x) \$200 million and (y) 28.0% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets (measured at the time made) outstanding at any one time;
- (o) any Investment acquired in exchange for shares of Capital Stock of the Company (other than Disqualified Stock); *provided* that the proceeds of such issuance shall be excluded from the definition of Capital Stock Sale Proceeds;

- (p) Investments by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary made in respect of the Danish Tax Assessment;
- (q) any Investment in the Bernalillo County, New Mexico Taxable Fixed Rate Unsecured Industrial Revenue Bonds (Tempur Production USA, Inc. Project), Series 2005B, in the aggregate principal amount of up to \$25.0 million Incurred in connection with the Albuquerque IRB Financing;
- (r) repurchases of the notes or any other indebtedness of the Company and/or its Restricted Subsidiaries;
- (s) any Guarantee of Debt permitted to be incurred by the covenant entitled "—Certain Covenants— Limitation on Debt" other than a Guarantee of Debt of an Affiliate of the Company that is not a Restricted Subsidiary of the Company;
- (t) Investments acquired after the Issue Date as a result of the acquisition by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary of the Company of another Person, including by way of a merger, amalgamation or consolidation with or into the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, or all or substantially all of the assets of another Person, in each case, in a transaction that is not prohibited by the covenant described above under the caption "—Certain Covenants—Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Property" after the Issue Date to the extent that such Investments were not made in contemplation of such acquisition, merger, amalgamation or consolidation and were in existence on the date of such acquisition, merger, amalgamation or consolidation;
- (u) Guarantees by the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of operating leases (other than Capital Lease Obligations) or of other obligations that do not constitute Debt, in each case entered into by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business;
- (v) Investments in any Person to the extent such Investments consist of prepaid expenses, negotiable instruments held for collection or pledges or deposits (or guarantees or other contingent obligations), in each case made by the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;
- (w) Investments received as a result of a foreclosure by, or other transfer of title to, the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries with respect to any secured Investment in default;
- (x) professional or advisory, administrative, management, treasury or similar services, indemnification, insurance, officers' and directors' fees and expenses, registration fees and other like expenses paid or provided for the benefit of any joint venture or Unrestricted Subsidiary pursuant to arrangements not involving the incurrence of Debt that comply with the covenant described under the caption "—Certain Covenants—Transactions with Affiliates";
- (y) Guarantees or other Investments arising from the incurrence of Debt by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary with respect to Debt of any Unrestricted Subsidiary or joint venture permitted under the covenant described above under the caption "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt";
- (z) any transaction that constitutes an Investment to the extent permitted and made in accordance with the provisions of the second paragraph of the covenant described above under the caption "—Certain Covenants—Transactions with Affiliates" other than clauses (b), (h), (i), (j), (k) or (l); and
- (aa) surety and performance bonds and workers' compensation, utility, lease, tax, performance and similar deposits, negotiable instruments held for collection, endorsements for collection or deposit and prepaid expenses, in each case, arising in the ordinary course of business.

For the avoidance of doubt, any Investment that is a Permitted Investment hereunder may be transferred to the Company or another Restricted Subsidiary, or exchanged for other assets of the Company or another Restricted Subsidiary.

"Permitted Liens" means:

- (a) Liens (including, without limitation and to the extent constituting a Lien, negative pledges) to secure Debt in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the greater of (x) the amount permitted to be Incurred under clause (b) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "— Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt," regardless of whether the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries are actually subject to that covenant at the time the Lien is Incurred and (y) an amount that does not cause the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.50 to 1.0;
- (b) Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies on the Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary and deposits in respect thereof (including, without limitation, security for bonds and/or amounts deposited to secure the Danish Tax Assessment) if the same shall not at the time be delinquent or thereafter can be paid without penalty, or are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently concluded; *provided* that any reserve or other appropriate provision that shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made therefor;
- (c) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers', warehousemen's, materialmen's, repairmen's and mechanics' Liens and other similar Liens, on the Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary arising in the ordinary course of business and securing payment of obligations that are not more than 60 days past due or are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings;
- (d) Liens on the Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary Incurred in the ordinary course of business to secure performance of obligations with respect to statutory or regulatory requirements, performance or return-of-money bonds, surety bonds or other obligations of a like nature and Incurred in a manner consistent with industry practice, including banker's liens and rights of set-off, in each case which are not Incurred in connection with the borrowing of money, the obtaining of advances or credit or the payment of the deferred purchase price of Property and which do not in the aggregate impair in any material respect the use of Property in the operation of the business of the Company and the Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole;
- (e) Liens on Property at the time the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary acquired the Property (together with all improvements, additions, accessions and contractual rights relating primarily thereto and all proceeds thereof (including dividends, distributions and increases in respect thereof)), including any acquisition by means of a merger or consolidation with or into the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that any Lien of this kind may not extend to any other Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary; and *provided further* that the Liens shall not have been Incurred in anticipation of or in connection with the transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which the Property was acquired by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary;
- (f) Liens on the Property of a Person at the time that Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary (together with all improvements, additions, accessions and contractual rights relating primarily thereto and all proceeds thereof (including dividends, distributions and increases in respect thereof)); provided that any Lien of this kind may not extend to any other Property of the Company or any other Restricted Subsidiary that is not a direct Subsidiary of that Person; and provided further that the Lien was not Incurred in anticipation of or in connection with the transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which the Person became a Restricted Subsidiary;
- (g) pledges or deposits by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary under worker's compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation, or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of Debt) or leases to which the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, or deposits for the payment of rent, in each case Incurred in the ordinary course of business;
- (h) Liens (including, without limitation and to the extent constituting Liens, negative pledges), assignments and pledges of rights to receive premiums, interest or loss payments or otherwise arising

in connection with worker's compensation loss portfolio transfer insurance transactions or any insurance or reinsurance agreements pertaining to losses covered by insurance, and Liens (including, without limitation and to the extent constituting Liens, negative pledges) in favor of insurers or reinsurers on pledges or deposits by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary under workmen's compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation;

- (i) Liens of landlords on fixtures, equipment and movable property located on leased premises and utility easements, building restrictions and such other encumbrances or charges against real Property as are of a nature generally existing with respect to properties of a similar character;
- (j) Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary with respect to which the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary shall then be proceeding with an appeal or other proceeding for review;
- (k) Liens in favor of issuers of performance or surety bonds, completion guarantees or letters of credit issued pursuant to the request of and for the account of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary course of its business; *provided* that these letters of credit do not provide credit support for Debt;
- (l) leases or subleases of real property granted by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary to any other Person and not interfering in any material respect with the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (m) Liens (including, without limitation and to the extent constituting Liens, negative pledges) on intellectual property arising from intellectual property licenses entered into in the ordinary course of business;
- (n) Liens or negative pledges attaching to or related to joint ventures engaged in a Permitted Business, restricting Liens on interests in those joint ventures;
- (o) Liens existing on the Issue Date not otherwise described in clauses (a) through (n) above;
- (p) Liens securing Debt Incurred pursuant to clause (o) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt" on the Property purchased with the proceeds of such Debt;
- (q) Liens not otherwise described in clauses (a) through (p) above on the Property of any Foreign Restricted Subsidiary to secure any Debt permitted to be Incurred by the Foreign Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt";
- (r) Liens on the Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary to secure any Refinancing, in whole or in part, of any Debt secured by Liens referred to in clauses (a)(y), (e), (f), (o) (other than Liens securing the Convertible Notes) or (p) above; *provided* that any Lien of this kind shall be limited to all or part of the same Property that secured the original Lien (together with improvements and accessions to such Property) and the aggregate principal amount of Debt that is secured by the Lien shall not be increased to an amount greater than the sum of:
 - (1) the outstanding principal amount, or, if greater, the committed amount, of the Debt secured by Liens described under clause (a)(y), (e), (f), (o) (other than Liens securing the Convertible Notes) or (p) above, as the case may be, at the time the original Lien became a Permitted Lien under the indenture, and
 - (2) an amount necessary to pay any fees and expenses, including premiums and defeasance costs, incurred by the Company or the Restricted Subsidiary in connection with the Refinancing;
- (s) Liens on cash or Temporary Cash Investments held as proceeds of Permitted Refinancing Debt pending the payment, purchase, defeasance or other retirement of the Debt being Refinanced;
- (t) Liens not otherwise permitted by clauses (a) through (s) above encumbering assets having an aggregate Fair Market Value not in excess of the greater of (i) \$50.0 million and (ii) 7.0% of Consolidated Net

Tangible Assets (measured at the time of Incurrence) as determined based on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter ending prior to the date the Lien shall be Incurred and for which reports are required to be provided under "—SEC Reports";

- (u) Liens securing Hedging Obligations permitted under clause (g), (h) or (i) of the second paragraph of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt";
- (v) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods;
- (w) Liens on receivables and related assets in a Qualified Receivables Transaction or securing Debt or other obligations of a Receivables Entity;
- (x) any encumbrance or restriction (including put-and-call arrangements) with respect to Capital Stock of any joint venture or similar arrangement pursuant to any joint venture or similar agreement; and
- (y) statutory liens arising as a result of contributions deducted from member's pay but not yet due under Canadian pension standards legislation and any employer contributions accrued but not yet due under Canadian pension standards legislation.

"Permitted Refinancing Debt" means any Debt that Refinances any other Debt, including any successive Refinancings, so long as:

- (a) the new Debt is in an aggregate principal amount (or if Incurred with original issue discount, an aggregate issue price) not in excess of the sum of:
 - (1) the aggregate principal amount (or if Incurred with original issue discount, the aggregate accreted value) then outstanding of the Debt being Refinanced, and
 - (2) an amount necessary to pay any fees and expenses, including premiums and defeasance costs, related to the Refinancing,
- (b) the Average Life of the new Debt is equal to or greater than the Average Life of the Debt being Refinanced,
- (c) the Stated Maturity of the new Debt is no earlier than the Stated Maturity of the Debt being Refinanced, and
- (d) the new Debt shall not be senior in right of payment to the Debt that is being Refinanced;

provided that Permitted Refinancing Debt shall not include:

- (x) Debt of a Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor that Refinances Debt of the Company or any Guarantor, or
- (y) Debt of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary that Refinances Debt of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, company (including any limited liability company), association, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Preferred Stock" means any Capital Stock of a Person, however designated, which entitles the holder thereof to a preference with respect to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of that Person, over shares of any other class of Capital Stock issued by that Person.

"Preferred Stock Dividends" means all dividends with respect to Preferred Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary held by Persons other than the Company or a Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiary. The amount of any dividend of this kind shall be equal to the quotient of the dividend divided by the difference between one and the maximum statutory consolidated federal, state and local income rate (expressed as a decimal number between 1 and 0) then applicable to the issuer of the Preferred Stock.

"Productive Assets" means (a) assets (other than securities and inventory) that are used or usable by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in Permitted Businesses, or (b) Capital Stock of a Person that is or becomes a Restricted Subsidiary as a result of the acquisition of that Capital Stock by the Company or another Restricted Subsidiary from any Person other than the Company or an Affiliate of the Company; provided that, in the case of this clause (b), the Restricted Subsidiary is primarily engaged in a Permitted Business.

"pro-forma" means, with respect to any calculation made or required to be made pursuant to the terms hereof, a calculation performed in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act, as interpreted in good faith by a financial or accounting Officer of the Company, together with adjustments that have been certified by a financial or accounting Officer of the Company as having been prepared in good faith based upon reasonable assumptions that are reasonably detailed in such certification.

"Property" means, with respect to any Person, any interest of that Person in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, including Capital Stock in, and other securities of, any other Person. For purposes of any calculation required pursuant to the indenture, the value of any Property shall be its Fair Market Value.

"Purchase Money Debt" means Debt:

- (a) consisting of the deferred purchase price of property, conditional sale obligations, obligations under any title retention agreement, other purchase money obligations and obligations in respect of industrial revenue bonds, in each case where the maturity of the Debt does not exceed the anticipated useful life of the Property being financed, and
- (b) Incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or lease by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary of the Property, including additions and improvements thereto;

provided that the Debt is Incurred within 365 days after the acquisition, construction or lease of the Property by the Company or Restricted Subsidiary.

"Qualified Capital Stock" means any Capital Stock that is not Disqualified Stock.

"*Qualified Cash*" means the sum of (a) 100% of the unrestricted cash and Temporary Cash Investments of the Company and its Domestic Restricted Subsidiaries and (b) 60% of the unrestricted cash and Temporary Cash Investments of the Company's Foreign Restricted Subsidiaries.

"Qualified Receivables Transaction" means any transaction or series of transactions that may be entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may sell, convey or otherwise transfer to:

- (a) a Receivables Entity (in the case of a transfer by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), and
- (b) any other Person (in the case of a transfer by a Receivables Entity),

or may grant a security interest in, any accounts receivable (whether now existing or arising in the future) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and any assets related thereto including, without limitation, all collateral securing those accounts receivable, all contracts and all Guarantees or other obligations in respect of those accounts receivable, proceeds of those accounts receivable and other assets which are customarily transferred or in respect of which security interests are customarily granted in connection with asset securitization transactions involving accounts receivable; provided that:

(1) if the transaction involves a transfer of accounts receivable with Fair Market Value equal to or greater than \$25.0 million, the Board of Directors shall have determined in good faith that the Qualified Receivables Transaction is economically fair and reasonable to the Company and the Receivables Entity,

- (2) all sales of accounts receivable and related assets to or by the Receivables Entity are made at Fair Market Value, and
- (3) the financing terms, covenants, termination events and other provisions thereof shall be market terms (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors).

The grant of a security interest in any accounts receivable of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to secure the Credit Facilities shall not be deemed a Qualified Receivables Transaction.

"Rating Agencies" mean Moody's and S&P.

"Real Estate Financing Transaction" means any arrangement with any Person pursuant to which the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary Incurs
Debt secured by a Lien on real property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary and related personal property together with any Refinancings thereof.

"Receivables Entity" means a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company (or another Person formed for the purposes of engaging in a Qualified Receivables Transaction with the Company in which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company makes an Investment and to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company transfers accounts receivable and related assets) which engages in no activities other than in connection with the financing of accounts receivable of the Company and its Subsidiaries, all proceeds thereof and all rights (contractual or other), collateral and other assets relating thereto, and any business or activities incidental or related to that business, and (with respect to any Receivables Entity formed after the Issue Date) which is designated by the Board of Directors (as provided below) as a Receivables Entity and

- (a) no portion of the Debt or any other obligations (contingent or otherwise) of which
 - (1) is Guaranteed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (excluding Guarantees of obligations (other than the principal of, and interest on, Debt) pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings),
 - (2) is recourse to or obligates the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any way other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings, or
 - (3) subjects any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, directly or indirectly, contingently or otherwise, to the satisfaction thereof, other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings;
- (b) with which neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any material contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding other than on terms which the Company reasonably believes to be no less favorable to the Company or the Subsidiary than those that might be obtained at the time from Persons that are not Affiliates of the Company, and
- (c) to which neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any obligation to maintain or preserve the entity's financial condition or cause the entity to achieve certain levels of operating results other than pursuant to Standard Securitization Undertakings.

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC; provided that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in New York City (a "Primary Treasury Dealer"), the Company shall substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the Independent Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. on the third business day preceding such redemption date.

"Refinance" means, in respect of any Debt, to refinance, extend, renew, refund, repay, prepay, repurchase, redeem, defease or retire, or to issue other Debt, in exchange or replacement for, that Debt. "Refinanced" and "Refinancing" shall have correlative meanings.

"Repay" means, in respect of any Debt, to repay, prepay, repurchase, redeem, legally defease or otherwise retire that Debt. "Repayment" and "Repaid" shall have correlative meanings. For purposes of the covenants described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Asset Sales" and "—Certain Covenants—Limitation on Debt" and the definition of "Consolidated Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio," Debt shall be considered to have been Repaid only to the extent the related loan commitment, if any, shall have been permanently reduced in connection therewith.

"Restricted Payment" means:

- (a) any dividend or distribution (whether made in cash, securities or other Property) declared or paid on or with respect to any shares of Capital Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (including any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation with or into the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary), except for any dividend or distribution that is made to the Company or the parent of the Restricted Subsidiary or any dividend or distribution payable solely in shares of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company;
- (b) the purchase, repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement for value of any Capital Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than from the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary) or any securities exchangeable for or convertible into Capital Stock of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, including the exercise of any option to exchange any Capital Stock (other than for or into Capital Stock of the Company that is not Disqualified Stock);
- (c) the purchase, repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement for value, more than five business days prior to the date for any scheduled maturity, sinking fund or amortization or other installment payment, of any Subordinated Obligation (other than (i) any Subordinated Obligation Incurred under clause (c) of the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants— Limitation on Debt" and (ii) the purchase, repurchase, redemption or other acquisition of any Subordinated Obligation purchased in anticipation of satisfying a scheduled maturity, sinking fund or amortization or other installment obligation, in each case under this subclause (ii) due within one year of the date of acquisition);
- (d) any Investment (other than Permitted Investments) in any Person; or
- (e) if the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (i) sells or otherwise disposes of any Capital Stock of any direct or indirect Restricted Subsidiary so that, after giving effect to that sale or disposition, such Person is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer, or (ii) designates any Restricted Subsidiary as an Unrestricted Subsidiary in accordance with the provisions of the indenture, all remaining Investments of the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries in such Person.

"Restricted Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of the Company other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a business of Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC, a subsidiary of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., or any successor to the rating agency business thereof.

"Sale and Leaseback Transaction" means any direct or indirect arrangement relating to Property now owned or hereafter acquired whereby the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary transfers that Property to another Person and the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary leases it from that other Person together with any Refinancings thereof.

"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any successor statute, and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary or group of Restricted Subsidiaries that would be a "Significant Subsidiary" of the Company within the meaning of Rule 1-02 under Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC.

"Standard Securitization Undertakings" means representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company which are customary in an accounts receivable securitization transaction involving a comparable company.

"Stated Maturity" means, with respect to any security, the date specified in the security as the fixed date on which the payment of principal of the security is due and payable, including pursuant to any mandatory redemption provision (but excluding any provision providing for the repurchase of the security at the option of the holder thereof upon the happening of any contingency beyond the control of the issuer unless that contingency has occurred).

"Subordinated Obligation" means any Debt of the Company or the Guarantors (whether outstanding on the Issue Date or thereafter Incurred) that is subordinate or junior in right of payment to the notes pursuant to a written agreement to that effect.

"Subsidiary" means, in respect of any Person, any corporation, company (including any limited liability company), association, partnership, joint venture or other business entity of which a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by:

- (a) that Person,
- (b) that Person and one or more Subsidiaries of that Person, or
- (c) one or more Subsidiaries of that Person.

"Support Obligation" means, as to any Person, (a) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Debt or other obligation payable or performable by another Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of such Person, direct or indirect, (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other obligation, (ii) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the obligee in respect of such Debt or other obligation of the payment or performance of such Debt or other obligation, (iii) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Debt or other obligation, or (iv) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee in respect of such Debt or other obligation of the payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part), or (b) any Lien on any assets of such Person securing any Debt or other obligation of any other Person, whether or not such Debt or other obligation is assumed by such Person (or any right, contingent or otherwise, of any holder of such Debt to obtain any such Lien). The amount of any Support Obligation shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the related primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such Support Obligation is made or, if not stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by the guaranteeing Person in good faith.

"Temporary Cash Investments" means any of the following:

- (a) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof (*provided* that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than twelve months from the date of acquisition,
- (b) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts, time deposits and certificates of deposit of (i) any lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) any domestic commercial bank of recognized standing having capital

- and surplus in excess of \$500.0 million or (iii) any bank whose short-term commercial paper rating from S&P is at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof or from Moody's is at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof (collectively, an "Approved Bank"), in each case with maturities of not more than 364 days from the date of acquisition,
- (c) commercial paper and variable or fixed rate notes issued by any Approved Bank (or by the parent company thereof) or any variable rate notes issued by, or guaranteed by, any domestic corporation rated A-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or P-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody's and maturing within twelve months of the date of acquisition,
- (d) repurchase agreements entered into by any Person with a bank or trust company or recognized securities dealer having capital and surplus in excess of \$500.0 million for direct obligations issued by or fully guaranteed by the United States in which such Person shall have a perfected first priority security interest (subject to no other Liens) and having, on the date of purchase thereof, a fair market value of at least one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of the repurchase obligations,
- (e) Investments (classified in accordance with GAAP as current assets) in money market investment programs registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 that are administered by reputable financial institutions having capital of at least \$500.0 million and the portfolios of which are limited to Investments of the character described in the foregoing subclauses hereof, and
- (f) other short-term investments utilized by Foreign Restricted Subsidiaries in accordance with normal investment practices for cash management in investments of a type analogous to the foregoing.

"*Transactions*" means the Company's acquisition of Sealy Corporation, the incurrence of the Company's 6.875% senior notes due 2020 and borrowings under the Credit Agreement to finance the acquisition of Sealy Corporation, the related debt repayment and payment of fees and expenses related thereto.

"*Treasury Rate*" means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue, compounded semi-annually, assuming a price for such Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date.

"Unrestricted Subsidiary" means:

- (a) any Subsidiary of the Company that is designated after the Issue Date as an Unrestricted Subsidiary as permitted or required pursuant to the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants— Designation of Restricted and Unrestricted Subsidiaries" and is not thereafter redesignated as a Restricted Subsidiary as permitted pursuant thereto; and
- (b) any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

"Voting Stock" of any Person means all classes of Capital Stock or other interests (including partnership interests) of that Person then outstanding and normally entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof.

"Wholly Owned" means a Subsidiary all the Voting Stock of which (except directors' qualifying shares) is at that time owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company and its other Wholly Owned Restricted Subsidiaries.

THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

In connection with the issuance of the Original Notes, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers of the Original Notes for the benefit of the holders of the Original Notes, pursuant to which we agreed, among other things, to use our commercially reasonable efforts to file and to have declared effective an exchange offer registration statement under the Securities Act and to consummate an exchange offer.

We are making the exchange offer in reliance on the position of the SEC as set forth in certain no-action letters. However, we have not sought our own no-action letter. Based upon these interpretations by the SEC, we believe that a holder of Exchange Notes who exchanges Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the exchange offer generally may offer the Exchange Notes for resale, sell the Exchange Notes and otherwise transfer the Exchange Notes without further registration under the Securities Act and without delivery of a prospectus that satisfies the requirements of Section 10 of the Securities Act. This does not apply, however, to a holder who is our "affiliate" within the meaning of Rule 405 of the Securities Act. We also believe that a holder may offer, sell or transfer the Exchange Notes only if the holder acknowledges that the holder is acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of its business and is not participating, does not intend to participate and has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution of the Exchange Notes.

Any holder of the Original Notes using the exchange offer to participate in a distribution of Exchange Notes also cannot rely on the no-action letters referred to above. Any broker-dealer who holds Original Notes acquired for its own account as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities and who receives Exchange Notes in exchange for such Original Notes pursuant to the exchange offer may be a statutory underwriter, must deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes and must acknowledge such delivery requirement. See "Plan of Distribution."

Except as described above, this prospectus may not be used for an offer to resell, resale or other transfer of Exchange Notes.

The exchange offer is not being made to, nor will we accept tenders for exchange from, holders of Original Notes in any jurisdiction in which the exchange offer or the acceptance of it would not be in compliance with the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdiction.

Terms of the Exchange

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the exchange offer we will accept any and all Original Notes validly tendered prior to midnight, New York time, on the Expiration Date (as defined below) for the exchange offer. Promptly after the Expiration Date (unless extended as described in this prospectus), we will issue an aggregate principal amount of up to \$600,000,000 of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of outstanding Original Notes tendered and accepted in connection with the exchange offer. The Exchange Notes issued in connection with the exchange offer will be delivered promptly after the Expiration Date. Holders may tender some or all of their Original Notes in connection with the exchange offer, but only in principal amounts of \$2,000 or in integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

The terms of the Exchange Notes will be identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes will have been registered under the Securities Act and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes. The Exchange Notes will evidence the same debt as the Original Notes and will be issued under the same indenture and be entitled to the same benefits under that Indenture as the Original Notes being exchanged. As of the date of this prospectus, \$600,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes are outstanding.

In connection with the issuance of the Original Notes, we arranged for the Original Notes purchased by qualified institutional buyers and those sold in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act to be issued and

transferable in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC, acting as depositary. Except as described under "Book-Entry, Delivery and Form", Exchange Notes will be issued in the form of a global note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and each beneficial owner's interest in it will be transferable in book-entry form through DTC. See "Book-Entry, Delivery and Form."

Holders of Original Notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters' rights in connection with the exchange offer. Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange or are tendered but not accepted in connection with the exchange offer will remain outstanding and be entitled to the benefits of the indenture, but certain registration and other rights under the registration rights agreement will terminate and holders of the Original Notes will generally not be entitled to any registration rights under the registration rights agreement. See "—Consequences of Failures to Properly Tender Original Notes in the Exchange Offer."

We shall be considered to have accepted validly tendered Original Notes if and when we have given oral (to be followed by prompt written notice) or written notice to the Exchange Agent (as defined below). The Exchange Agent will act as agent for the tendering holders for the purposes of receiving the Exchange Notes from us.

If any tendered Original Notes are not accepted for exchange because of an invalid tender, the occurrence of certain other events described in this prospectus or otherwise, we will return the Original Notes, without expense, to the tendering holder promptly after the Expiration Date for the Exchange Offer.

Holders who tender Original Notes will not be required to pay brokerage commissions or fees or, subject to the instructions in the letter of transmittal, transfer taxes on exchange of Original Notes in connection with the exchange offer. We will pay all charges and expenses, other than certain applicable taxes described below, in connection with the exchange offer. See "—Fees and Expenses."

Expiration Date; Extensions: Amendments

The "Expiration Date" for the exchange offer is midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, unless extended by us in our sole discretion, in which case the term "Expiration Date" shall mean the latest date and time to which the exchange offer is extended.

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion:

- to delay accepting any Original Notes, to extend the exchange offer or to terminate the exchange offer if, in our reasonable judgment, any of the conditions described below shall not have been satisfied, by giving oral (to be followed by prompt written notice) or written notice of the delay, extension or termination to the Exchange Agent; or
- to amend the terms of the exchange offer in any manner.

If we amend the exchange offer in a manner that we consider material, we will disclose such amendment by means of a prospectus supplement, and we will extend the Exchange Offer for a period of five to ten business days.

If we determine to extend, amend or terminate the exchange offer, we will publicly announce this determination by making a timely release through an appropriate news agency.

If we delay accepting any Original Notes or terminate the exchange offer, we promptly will pay the consideration offered, or return any Original Notes deposited, pursuant to the exchange offer as required by Rule 14e-l(c).

Interest on Exchange Notes

The Exchange Notes will bear interest at the rate of 5.500% per annum from the most recent date on which interest on the Original Notes has been paid or, if no interest has been paid on such Original Notes, from May 24, 2016. Interest will be payable semiannually on May 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on December 15, 2016.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the exchange offer, or any extension of the exchange offer, we will not be required to accept for exchange, or to exchange any Exchange Notes for, any Original Notes and we may terminate the exchange offer or, at our option, modify, extend or otherwise amend the exchange offer, if any of the following conditions exist on or prior to the Expiration Date:

- a) no action or event shall have occurred or been threatened, no action shall have been taken, and no statute, rule, regulation, judgment, order, stay, decree or injunction shall have been issued, promulgated, enacted, entered, enforced or deemed to be applicable to the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer by or before any court or governmental regulatory or administrative agency, authority, instrumentality or tribunal, including, without limitation, taxing authorities, that either:
 - i. challenges the making of the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer or might, directly or indirectly, be expected to prohibit, prevent, restrict or delay consummation of, or might otherwise adversely affect in any material manner, the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer; or
 - ii. in our reasonable judgment, could materially adversely affect our (or our subsidiaries') business, condition (financial or otherwise), income, operations, properties, assets, liabilities or prospects or materially impair the contemplated benefits to us of the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer;
- b) nothing has occurred or may occur that would or might, in our reasonable judgment, be expected to prohibit, prevent, restrict or delay the exchange offer or impair our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the exchange offer;
- there shall not have occurred (a) any general suspension of or limitation on trading in securities in the United States securities or financial markets, whether or not mandatory, (b) any material adverse change in the prices of the Original Notes that are the subject of the exchange offer, (c) a material impairment in the general trading market for debt securities, (d) a declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks by federal or state authorities in the United States, whether or not mandatory, (e) a commencement of a war, armed hostilities, a terrorist act or other national or international calamity directly or indirectly relating to the United States, (f) any limitation, whether or not mandatory, by any governmental authority on, or other event having a reasonable likelihood of affecting, the extension of credit by banks or other lending institutions in the United States, (g) any catastrophic event caused by meteorological, geothermal or geophysical occurrences or other acts of God that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on us or our affiliates' or subsidiaries' business, operations, condition or prospects, (h) any material adverse change in the securities or financial markets in the United States generally (i) in the case of any of the foregoing existing at the time of the commencement of the exchange offer, a material acceleration or worsening thereof or (j) any other change or development, including a prospective change or development, in general economic, financial, monetary or market conditions that, in our reasonable judgment, has or may have a material adverse effect on the market price or trading of the Exchange Notes; and
- d) the trustee with respect to the indenture for the Original Notes that are the subject of the exchange offer and the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offer shall not have been directed by any holders of Original Notes to object in any respect to, nor take any action that could, in our reasonable judgment, adversely affect the consummation of the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer, nor shall the trustee have taken any action that challenges the validity or effectiveness of the procedures used by us in making the exchange offer or the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes under the exchange offer.

The foregoing conditions are for our sole benefit and may be waived by us, in whole or in part, in our absolute discretion. Any determination made by us concerning an event, development or circumstance described or referred to above will be conclusive and binding.

If any of the foregoing conditions are not satisfied, we may, at any time on or prior to the Expiration Date:

- terminate the exchange offer and promptly return all tendered Original Notes to the respective tendering holders;
- modify, extend or otherwise amend the exchange offer and retain all tendered Original Notes until the Expiration Date, as extended, subject, however, to the withdrawal rights of holders; or
- · waive the unsatisfied conditions with respect to the exchange offer and accept all Original Notes tendered and not previously validly withdrawn.

In addition, subject to applicable law, we may in our absolute discretion terminate the exchange offer for any other reason.

Effect of Tender

Any tender by a holder, and our subsequent acceptance of that tender, of Original Notes will constitute a binding agreement between that holder and us upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer described in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal. The participation in the exchange offer by a tendering holder of Original Notes will constitute the agreement by that holder to deliver good and marketable title to the tendered Original Notes, free and clear of any and all liens, restrictions, charges, pledges, security interests, encumbrances or rights of any kind of third parties.

Absence of Dissenters' Rights

Holders of the Original Notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters' rights in connection with the exchange offer.

Procedures for Tendering

If you wish to participate in the exchange offer and your Original Notes are held by a custodial entity such as a bank, broker, dealer, trust company or other nominee, you must instruct that custodial entity to tender your Original Notes on your behalf pursuant to the procedures of that custodial entity. Please ensure you contact your custodial entity as soon as possible to give them sufficient time to meet your requested deadline.

To participate in the Exchange Offer, you must either:

- complete, sign and date a letter of transmittal, or a facsimile thereof, in accordance with the instructions in the letter of transmittal, including guaranteeing the signatures to the letter of transmittal, if required, and mail or otherwise deliver the letter of transmittal or a facsimile thereof, together with the certificates representing your Original Notes specified in the letter of transmittal, to the Exchange Agent at the address listed in the letter of transmittal, for receipt on or prior to the Expiration Date; or
- comply with the Automated Tender Offer Program, or ATOP, procedures for book-entry transfer described below on or prior to the Expiration Date; or
- the holder must comply, on or before the expiration date, with the guaranteed delivery procedures described below under "—Guaranteed Delivery Procedures."

The Exchange Agent and DTC have confirmed that the exchange offer is eligible for ATOP with respect to book-entry notes held through DTC. The letter of transmittal, or a facsimile thereof, with any required signature

guarantees, or, in the case of book-entry transfer, an agent's message in lieu of the letter of transmittal, and any other required documents, must be transmitted to and received by the Exchange Agent on or prior to the Expiration Date at its address set forth below under the caption "Exchange Agent." Original Notes will not be deemed to have been tendered until the letter of transmittal and signature guarantees, if any, or agent's message, is received by the Exchange Agent.

Agent.

The method of delivery of Original Notes, the letter of transmittal and all other required documents to the Exchange Agent is at the election and risk of the holders. Instead of delivery by mail, we recommend that holders use an overnight or hand delivery service, properly insured. In all cases, sufficient time should be allowed to assure delivery to and receipt by the Exchange Agent on or prior to the Expiration Date. **Do not send the letter of transmittal or any Original Notes to anyone other than the Exchange Agent.**

If you are tendering your Original Notes in exchange for Exchange Notes and anticipate delivering your letter of transmittal and other documents other than through DTC, we urge you to contact promptly a bank, broker or other intermediary that has the capability to hold notes custodially through DTC to arrange for receipt of any Original Notes to be delivered pursuant to the exchange offer and to obtain the information necessary to provide the required DTC participant with account information in the letter of transmittal.

If you are a beneficial owner which holds Original Notes through Euroclear (as defined below) or Clearstream (as defined below) and wish to tender your Original Notes, you must instruct Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, to block the account in respect of the tendered Original Notes in accordance with the procedures established by Euroclear or Clearstream. You are encouraged to contact Euroclear and Clearstream directly to ascertain their procedure for tendering Original Notes.

Book-Entry Delivery Procedures for Tendering Original Notes Held with DTC

If you wish to tender Original Notes held on your behalf by a nominee with DTC, you must:

- inform your nominee of your interest in tendering your Original Notes pursuant to the exchange offer; and
- instruct your nominee to tender all Original Notes you wish to be tendered in the exchange offer into the Exchange Agent's account at DTC on or prior to the Expiration Date.

Any financial institution that is a nominee in DTC, including Euroclear and Clearstream, must tender Original Notes by effecting a book- entry transfer of Original Notes to be tendered in the exchange offer into the account of the Exchange Agent at DTC by electronically transmitting its acceptance of the exchange offer through the ATOP procedures for transfer. DTC will then verify the acceptance, execute a book-entry delivery to the Exchange Agent's account at DTC and send an agent's message to the Exchange Agent. An "agent's message" is a message, transmitted by DTC to, and received by, the Exchange Agent and forming part of a book-entry confirmation, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgement from an organization that participates in DTC (a "participant"), tendering Original Notes that the participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal and that we may enforce the agreement against the participant. A letter of transmittal need not accompany tenders effected through ATOP.

Proper Execution and Delivery of the Letter of Transmittal

Signatures on a letter of transmittal or notice of withdrawal described under "—Withdrawal of Tenders", as the case may be, must be guaranteed by an eligible institution unless the Original Notes tendered pursuant to the letter of transmittal are tendered for the account of an eligible institution. An "eligible institution" is one of the following firms or other entities identified in Rule 17 Ad-15 under the Exchange Act (as the terms are used in Rule 17 Ad-15):

- a bank:
- a broker, dealer, municipal securities dealer, municipal securities broker, government securities dealer or government securities broker;

- · a credit union;
- · a national securities exchange, registered securities association or clearing agency; or
- · a savings institution that is a participant in a Securities Transfer Association recognized program.

If signatures on a letter of transmittal or notice of withdrawal are required to be guaranteed, that guarantee must be made by an eligible institution.

If the letter of transmittal is signed by the holders of Original Notes tendered thereby, the signatures must correspond with the names as written on the face of the Original Notes without any change whatsoever. If any of the Original Notes tendered thereby are held by two or more holders, each holder must sign the letter of transmittal. If any of the Original Notes tendered thereby are registered in different names on different Original Notes, it will be necessary to complete, sign and submit as many separate letters of transmittal, and any accompanying documents, as there are different registrations of certificates.

If Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange pursuant to the Exchange Offer are to be returned to a person other than the tendering holder, certificates for those Original Notes must be endorsed or accompanied by an appropriate instrument of transfer, signed exactly as the name of the registered owner appears on the certificates, with the signatures on the certificates or instruments of transfer guaranteed by an eligible institution.

If the letter of transmittal is signed by a person other than the holder of any Original Notes listed in the letter of transmittal, those Original Notes must be properly endorsed or accompanied by a properly completed bond power, signed by the holder exactly as the holder's name appears on those Original Notes. If the letter of transmittal or any Original Notes, bond powers or other instruments of transfer are signed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorneys-in-fact, officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, those persons should so indicate when signing, and, unless waived by us, evidence satisfactory to us of their authority to so act must be submitted with the letter of transmittal.

No alternative, conditional, irregular or contingent tenders will be accepted. By executing the letter of transmittal, or facsimile thereof, the tendering holders of Original Notes waive any right to receive any notice of the acceptance for exchange of their Original Notes. Tendering holders should indicate in the applicable box in the letter of transmittal the name and address to which payments and/or substitute certificates evidencing Original Notes for amounts not tendered or not exchanged are to be issued or sent, if different from the name and address of the person signing the letter of transmittal. If those instructions are not given, Original Notes not tendered or exchanged will be returned to the tendering holder.

All questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, including time of receipt, and acceptance and withdrawal of tendered Original Notes will be determined by us in our absolute discretion, which determination will be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject any and all tendered Original Notes determined by us not to be in proper form or not to be tendered properly or any tendered Original Notes our acceptance of which would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve the right to waive, in our absolute discretion, any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular Original Notes, whether or not waived in the case of other Original Notes. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offer, including the terms and instructions in the letter of transmittal, will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of Original Notes must be cured within the time we determine. Although we intend to notify holders of defects or irregularities with respect to tenders of Original Notes, neither we, the Exchange Agent nor any other person will be under any duty to give that notification or shall incur any liability for failure to give that notification. Tenders of Original Notes will not be deemed to have been made until any defects or irregularities therein have been cured or waived.

Any holder whose Original Notes have been mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed will be responsible for obtaining replacement securities or for arranging for indemnification with the trustee of the Original Notes. Holders may contact the Exchange Agent for assistance with these matters.

In addition, we reserve the right, as set forth above under the caption "—Conditions to the Exchange Offer", to terminate the exchange offer. By tendering, each holder represents and acknowledges to us, among other things, that:

- it has full power and authority to tender, exchange, sell, assign and transfer the Original Notes it is tendering and that we will acquire good and unencumbered title thereto, free and clear of all liens, restrictions, charges and encumbrances and not subject to any adverse claim when the same are accepted by us;
- the Exchange Notes acquired in connection with the exchange offer are being obtained in the ordinary course of business of the person receiving the Exchange Notes;
- at the time of commencement of the exchange offer it is not engaged in, and does not intend to engage in, and has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution (within the meaning Securities Act) of such Exchange Notes;
- it is not an "affiliate" (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) of the Company; and
- if the holder is a broker-dealer, it is not engaged in, and does not intend to engage in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes, and it will receive Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes that were acquired by such broker- dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities and it will be required to acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. See "Plan of Distribution."

Guaranteed Delivery Procedures

If you desire to tender your Original Notes and your Original Notes are not immediately available, time will not permit your Original Notes or other required documents to reach the Exchange Agent before the time of expiration or you cannot complete the procedure for book-entry on a timely basis, you may tender if:

- · you tender through an eligible institution;
- on or prior to midnight, New York City time, on the Expiration Date, the Exchange Agent receives from an eligible institution, a written or
 facsimile copy of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and notice of guaranteed delivery, substantially in the form
 provided by us; and
- the certificates for all certificated Original Notes, in proper form for transfer, or a book-entry confirmation, and all other documents required by
 the letter of transmittal, are received by the Exchange Agent within three New York Stock Exchange trading days after the date of execution of
 the notice of guaranteed delivery.

The notice of guaranteed delivery may be sent by facsimile transmission, mail or hand delivery.

The notice of guaranteed delivery must set forth:

- your name and address;
- the amount of Original Notes you are tendering; and
- a statement that your tender is being made by the notice of guaranteed delivery and that you guarantee that within three New York Stock Exchange trading days after the execution of the notice of guaranteed delivery, the eligible institution will deliver the following documents to the Exchange Agent: (a) the certificates of all certificated Original Notes being tendered, in proper form for transfer or a book entry confirmation of tender; (b) a written or facsimile copy of the letter of transmittal, or a book-entry confirmation instead of the letter of transmittal; and (c) any other document required by the letter of transmittal.

Withdrawal of Tenders

Tenders of Original Notes in the exchange offer may be validly withdrawn at any time prior to the Expiration Date.

For a withdrawal of a tender to be effective, a written or facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal must be received by the Exchange Agent prior to the Expiration Date at its address set forth below under the caption "Exchange Agent." The withdrawal notice must:

- specify the name of the tendering holder of Original Notes;
- bear a description, including the series, of the Original Notes to be withdrawn;
- specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the certificate numbers shown on the particular certificates evidencing those Original Notes;
- specify the aggregate principal amount represented by those Original Notes;
- specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the name of the registered holder, if different from that of the tendering holder, or specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer, the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn Original Notes; and
- be signed by the holder of those Original Notes in the same manner as the original signature on the letter of transmittal, including any required signature guarantees, or be accompanied by evidence satisfactory to us that the person withdrawing the tender has succeeded to the beneficial ownership of those Original Notes.

The signature on any notice of withdrawal must be guaranteed by an eligible institution, unless the Original Notes have been tendered for the account of an eligible institution.

Withdrawal of tenders of Original Notes may not be rescinded, and any Original Notes validly withdrawn will thereafter be deemed not to have been validly tendered for purposes of the Exchange Offer. Validly withdrawn Original Notes may, however, be re-tendered by again following one of the procedures described in "—Procedures for Tendering" on or prior to the Expiration Date.

Exchange Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. has been appointed as "Exchange Agent" in connection with the Exchange Offer. Questions and requests for assistance, as well as requests for additional copies of this prospectus or of the letter of transmittal, should be directed to the Exchange Agent at its offices at The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Exchange Agent, Corporate Trust Operations—Reorganization Unit, Attention: Pamela Adamo, 111 Sanders Creek Parkway, East Syracuse, NY 13057. The Exchange Agent's telephone number is (315) 414-3317 and facsimile number is (732) 667-9408.

Fees and Expenses

We will not make any payment to brokers, dealers or others soliciting acceptances of the exchange offer. We will pay certain other expenses to be incurred in connection with the exchange offer, including the fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent and certain accountant and legal fees.

Holders who tender their Original Notes for exchange will not be obligated to pay transfer taxes. If however:

- specify the name of the tendering holder of Original Notes;
- · bear a description, including the series, of the Original Notes to be withdrawn;

- specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the certificate numbers shown on the particular certificates evidencing those Original Notes;
- specify the aggregate principal amount represented by those Original Notes;
- specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the name of the registered holder, if different from that of the tendering holder, or specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer, the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn Original Notes; and
- be signed by the holder of those Original Notes in the same manner as the original signature on the letter of transmittal, including any required signature guarantees, or be accompanied by evidence satisfactory to us that the person withdrawing the tender has succeeded to the beneficial ownership of those Original Notes.

Accounting Treatment

The Exchange Notes will be recorded at the same carrying value as the Original Notes as reflected in our accounting records on the date of the exchange. Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon the completion of the exchange offer. The expenses of the exchange offer that we pay will increase our deferred financing costs in accordance with GAAP.

Consequences of Failures to Properly Tender Original Notes in the Exchange Offer

Issuance of the Exchange Notes in exchange for the Original Notes under the exchange offer will be made only after timely receipt by the Exchange Agent of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal (or an agent's message from DTC) and the certificate(s) representing such Original Notes (or confirmation of book-entry transfer), and all other required documents. Therefore, holders of the Original Notes desiring to tender such Original Notes in exchange for Exchange Notes should allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery. We are under no duty to give notification of defects or irregularities of tenders of Original Notes for exchange. Original Notes that are not tendered or that are tendered but not accepted by us will, following completion of the exchange offer, continue to be subject to the existing restrictions upon transfer thereof under the Securities Act, and, upon completion of the exchange offer, certain registration rights under the registration rights agreement will terminate.

In the event the exchange offer is completed, we generally will not be required to register the remaining Original Notes, subject to limited exceptions. Remaining Original Notes will continue to be subject to the following restrictions on transfer:

- the remaining Original Notes may be resold only if registered pursuant to the Securities Act, if any exemption from registration is available, or if neither such registration nor such exemption is required by law; and
- · the remaining Original Notes will bear a legend restricting transfer in the absence of registration or an exemption.

We do not currently anticipate that we will register the remaining Original Notes under the Securities Act. To the extent that Original Notes are tendered and accepted in connection with the exchange offer, any trading market for remaining Original Notes could be adversely affected. See "Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the Exchange Offer—If you fail to exchange your Original Notes, they will continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid."

BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM

General

Initially, the Exchange Notes will be represented by one or more registered notes in global form, without interest coupons (collectively, the "Global Notes"). The Global Notes will be deposited on the issue date with, or on behalf of, DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, or will remain with the trustee as custodian for DTC.

DTC holds interests in the Global Notes on behalf of its participants through customers' securities accounts in their respective names on the books of their respective depositaries. Except under the limited circumstances described below, owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated notes.

Book-Entry Interests will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be done only through, records maintained in book-entry form by DTC and its participants. The laws of some jurisdictions, including certain states of the United States, may require that certain purchasers of securities take physical delivery of such securities in definitive form. The foregoing limitations may impair your ability to own, transfer or pledge Book-Entry Interests. In addition, while the notes are in global form, holders of Book-Entry Interests are not considered the owners or "holders" of notes for any purpose.

So long as the notes are held in global form, DTC (or its nominees) will be considered the sole holders of Global Notes for all purposes under the indenture governing the notes. In addition, participants in DTC must rely on the procedures of DTC and indirect participants must rely on the procedures of DTC and the participants through which they own Book-Entry Interests, to transfer their interests or to exercise any rights of holders under the indenture.

Neither the Company nor the trustee has any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to the Book-Entry Interests.

Redemption of the Global Notes

In the event any Global Note (or any portion thereof) is redeemed, DTC (or its nominees) will redeem an equal amount of the Book-Entry Interests in such Global Note from the amount received by it in respect of the redemption of such Global Note. The redemption price payable in connection with the redemption of such Book-Entry Interests will be equal to the amount received by DTC in connection with the redemption of such Global Note (or any portion thereof). The Company understands that, under existing practices of DTC, if fewer than all of the notes are to be redeemed at any time, DTC will credit its participants' accounts on a proportionate basis (with adjustments to prevent fractions) or by lot or on such other basis as they deem fair and appropriate; provided, however, that no Book-Entry Interest of \$2,000 principal amount or less may be redeemed in part.

Payments on Global Notes

The Company will make payments of any amounts owing in respect of the Global Notes (including principal, premium, if any, and interest) to DTC or its nominee, which will distribute such payments to participants in accordance with its procedures. The Company will make payments of all such amounts without deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature except as may be required by law. The Company expects that standing customer instructions and customary practices will govern payments by participants to owners of Book-Entry Interests held through such participants.

Under the terms of the indenture, the Company and the trustee will treat the registered holders of the Global Notes (i.e., DTC (or its nominees)) as the owners thereof for the purpose of receiving payments and for all other purposes. Consequently, none of the Company, the trustee or any of their respective agents has or will have any responsibility or liability for:

- any aspect of the records of DTC or any participant or indirect participant relating to payments made on account of a Book-Entry Interest or for
 maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records of DTC, or any participant or indirect participant relating to, or payments made on account of,
 a Book-Entry Interest; or
- DTC or any participant or indirect participant.

Payments by participants to owners of Book-Entry Interests held through participants are the responsibility of such participants.

Currency of Payment for the Global Notes

Except as may otherwise be agreed between DTC and any holder, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, and all other amounts payable in respect of, the Global Notes will be paid to holders of interests in such notes (the "DTC Holders") through DTC in U.S. dollars.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations (including any regulations of the applicable clearing system) applicable thereto. None of the Company, the trustee, the initial purchasers or any of their respective agents will be liable to any holder of a Global Note or any other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection with any such payment.

Action by Owners of Book-Entry Interests

DTC has advised the Company that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes (including the presentation of notes for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account the Book-Entry Interests in the Global Notes are credited and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of notes as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. DTC will not exercise any discretion in the granting of consents, waivers or the taking of any other action in respect of the Global Notes. However, if there is an event of default under the notes, DTC reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for definitive registered notes in certificated form (the "Definitive Registered Notes"), and to distribute Definitive Registered Notes to its participants. See "—Definitive Registered Notes."

Transfers

Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the applicable rules and procedures of DTC and its direct or indirect participants, which rules and procedures may change from time to time.

Any Book-Entry Interest in one of the Global Notes that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of a Book-Entry Interest in any other Global Note of the same series will, upon transfer, cease to be a Book-Entry Interest in the first-mentioned Global Note and become a Book-Entry Interest in such other Global Note, and accordingly will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions, if any, and other procedures applicable to Book-Entry Interests in such other Global Note for as long as it remains such a Book-Entry Interest.

Definitive Registered Notes

Under the terms of the indenture, owners of the Book-Entry Interests will receive Definitive Registered Notes:

- if DTC notifies the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Notes, or DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, a qualified successor depositary is not appointed by the Company within 120 days; or
- if an event of default under the indenture occurred or is continuing and the owner of a Book-Entry Interest requests such exchange in writing delivered through DTC.

In the case of the issuance of Definitive Registered Notes, the holder of a Definitive Registered Note may transfer such note by surrendering it to the registrar. In the event of a partial transfer or a partial redemption of a holding of Definitive Registered Notes represented by one Definitive Registered Note, a Definitive Registered Note shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred, and a new Definitive Registered Note in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred or redeemed shall be issued to the transferor or the holder, as applicable; provided that no Definitive Registered Note in a denomination less than \$2,000 shall be issued. The Company will bear the cost of preparing, printing, packaging and delivering the Definitive Registered Notes.

The Company shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Registered Notes for a period of 15 calendar days preceding (a) the record date for any payment of interest on the notes, (b) any date fixed for redemption of the notes or (c) the date fixed for selection of the notes to be redeemed in part. Also, the Company is not required to register the transfer or exchange of any notes selected for redemption. In the event of the transfer of any Definitive Registered Note, the transfer agent may require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents as described in the indenture. The Company may require a holder to pay any taxes and fees required by law and permitted by the indenture and the notes.

If Definitive Registered Notes are issued and a holder thereof claims that such Definitive Registered Notes have been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken or if such Definitive Registered Notes are mutilated and are surrendered to the registrar or at the office of a transfer agent, the Company shall issue and the trustee shall authenticate a replacement Definitive Registered Note if the trustee's and the Company's requirements are met. The trustee or the Company may require a holder requesting replacement of a Definitive Registered Note to furnish an indemnity bond sufficient in the judgment of both the trustee and the Company to protect the Company, the trustee or the paying agent appointed pursuant to the indenture from any loss which any of them may suffer if a Definitive Registered Note is replaced. The Company may charge for its expenses in replacing a Definitive Registered Note.

In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Definitive Registered Note has become or is about to become due and payable, or is about to be redeemed or purchased by the Company pursuant to the provisions of the indenture, the Company in its discretion may, instead of issuing a new Definitive Registered Note, pay, redeem or purchase such Definitive Registered Note, as the case may be.

Definitive Registered Notes may be transferred and exchanged for Book-Entry Interests in a Global Note only in accordance with the indenture.

Information Concerning DTC

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC is provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control of DTC and are subject to change by DTC at any time. We take no responsibility for these operations and procedures and urge investors to contact DTC or its participants directly to discuss these matters.

The Company understands as follows with respect to DTC:

DTC is:

- a limited purpose trust company organized under the Banking Law of the State of New York;
- a "banking organization" under the Banking Law of the State of New York;
- a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- · a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a "clearing agency" registered under Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions among its participants. It does this through electronic book-entry changes in the accounts of securities participants, eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC's owners are NYSE Euronext, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. and a number of its direct participants. Others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant also have access to the DTC system and are known as indirect participants.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants and certain banks, the ability of an owner of a beneficial interest to pledge such interest to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be limited by the lack of a definitive certificate for that interest. The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests to such persons may be limited. In addition, owners of beneficial interests through the DTC system will receive distributions attributable to the Global Notes only through DTC participants.

Global Clearance and Settlement Under the Book-Entry System

The notes are expected to trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System and any permitted secondary market trading activity in the notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available funds. Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Global Notes, cross-market transfers of Book-Entry Interests in the notes between the participants in DTC will be done through DTC in accordance with DTC's rules.

Although DTC is expected to follow the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Notes among participants in DTC, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Company, the trustee, the initial purchasers, the registrar, any transfer agent or any paying agent will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary based on present law of the material United States federal income tax considerations relating to the exchange of the Original Notes for the Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer and the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the notes, but does not purport to be a complete analysis of all of the potential tax considerations relating thereto. This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), final and temporary Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, rulings and pronouncements of the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), and judicial decisions, all as of the date of this prospectus. These authorities may be changed, perhaps retroactively, and are subject to differing interpretations, so the United States federal income tax consequences may be different from those described herein. We have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the IRS or opinion of counsel with respect to the statements made and conclusions reached in this summary, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with and not challenge these statements and conclusions.

This summary applies only to the holders who acquired the Original Notes for cash upon their original issue at their original offering price and who hold the notes as capital assets (generally, property held for investment). This summary does not address tax considerations arising under the laws of any foreign, state or local jurisdiction, the effect of any tax treaty, or any federal non-income tax consequences. In addition, this discussion does not address tax considerations that are the result of a holder's particular circumstances or of special rules, such as those that apply to holders subject to the alternative minimum tax, banks and other financial institutions, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, dealers or traders in securities or commodities, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, real estate mortgage investment conduits, United States Holders (as defined below) whose "functional currency" is not the U.S. dollar, certain former citizens or former long-term residents of the United States, foreign governments or international organizations, persons who will hold the notes as a position in a hedging transaction, "straddle," "conversion transaction" or other risk reduction or integrated transaction, or partnerships (including any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes), S corporations, or other pass-through entities or investors in such entities.

If a partnership (including any entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) holds Original Notes, then the United States federal income tax treatment of a partner in that partnership generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partner of a partnership that holds Original Notes, you should consult your tax advisor.

EACH HOLDER OF ORIGINAL NOTES SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON SUCH HOLDER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICATION TO SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS AS WELL AS WITH RESPECT TO ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER FEDERAL NON-INCOME TAX LAWS, UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR OTHER TAXING JURISDICTION OR UNDER ANY APPLICABLE TAX TREATY.

Exchange Offer

The Exchange Notes do not differ materially in kind or extent from the Original Notes and, as a result, your exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes will not constitute a taxable disposition of the Original Notes for United States federal income tax purposes. As a result, you will not recognize taxable gain or loss on such exchange, your holding period for the Exchange Notes generally will include the holding period for the Original Notes so exchanged, and your adjusted tax basis in the Exchange Notes generally will be the same as your adjusted tax basis in the Original Notes so exchanged.

Payments Upon Early Redemptions and Other Circumstances

In certain circumstances (see "Description of Exchange Notes—Optional Redemption" and "Description of Exchange Notes—Repurchase at the Option of Holders Upon a Change of Control"), we may be entitled or

obligated to redeem the notes offered hereby before their stated maturity date or obligated to pay you additional amounts in excess of stated interest or principal on the notes offered hereby. We do not intend to treat the potential redemption or payment of any such amounts as part of, or affecting, the yield to maturity of any notes offered hereby or as causing the notes to be treated as contingent payment debt instruments for United States federal income tax purposes. Our determination is not, however, binding on the IRS and if the IRS were to challenge this determination, you might be required to accrue income on the notes offered hereby at a higher yield and to treat as ordinary income (rather than capital gain) income realized on the taxable disposition of a note before the resolution of the applicable contingencies. The remainder of this discussion assumes that the payment of any amounts pursuant to a redemption will not be treated as part of, or affecting, the yield to maturity of the notes and that the notes will not be treated as contingent payment debt instruments for United States federal income tax purposes.

United States Holders

As used in this discussion, "United States Holder" means a beneficial owner of notes that for United States federal income tax purposes is:

- an individual who is a citizen or permanent resident of the United States;
- a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia;
- · an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
- a trust (i) if its administration is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more "United States persons" (within the meaning of the Code) have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) that has a valid election in effect under applicable United States Treasury Regulations to be treated as a United States person.

Payments of Interest

Interest on the notes generally will be taxable to you as ordinary income at the time such interest is received or accrued in accordance with your regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes.

Taxable Disposition of Notes

Upon the sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of the notes, you generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference (if any) between:

- the amount of cash proceeds and the fair market value of any property received on such disposition (less any amount attributable to accrued and unpaid interest on the notes, which will generally be taxable as ordinary income to the extent not previously included in income); and
- your adjusted tax basis in the notes.

Your adjusted tax basis in a note generally will equal the amount you paid for the note. Any gain or loss that is recognized on the disposition of the notes generally will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if you have held the notes for more than one year at the time of disposition. Long-term capital gains of individuals, estates and trusts currently are generally taxed at reduced rates. Your ability to deduct capital losses is subject to certain limitations.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

In general, information reporting is required as to payments of interest on the notes and on the proceeds of a disposition (including a redemption or retirement) of the notes unless you are a corporation or other exempt

person and, if requested, certify such status. In addition, you may be subject to backup withholding on payments made to you of principal and interest on your notes and on payments of proceeds of a sale or other disposition of your notes if you are not exempt, you fail to properly furnish a taxpayer identification number, certified under penalties of perjury, or if the IRS has notified you that you are subject to backup withholding.

Additional Tax on Net Investment Income

An additional 3.8% tax is imposed on the "net investment income" of certain United States individuals, and on the "undistributed net investment income" of certain estates and trusts. Among other items, "net investment income" and "undistributed net investment income" generally include interest and certain net gain from the disposition of property, such as the notes, less certain deductions.

Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the additional tax described above.

Non-United States Holders

As used in this tax discussion, "non-United States Holder" means any beneficial owner of notes that is an individual, corporation, estate or trust that is not a United States Holder. The rules governing the United States federal income taxation of a non-United States Holder are complex, and no attempt will be made herein to provide more than a summary of certain of those rules. NON-UNITED STATES HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS TO DETERMINE THE EFFECT OF UNITED STATES FEDERAL, STATE AND OTHER TAX LAWS, AS WELL AS FOREIGN TAX LAWS, INCLUDING ANY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.

Payments of Interest

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding and FATCA withholding below, payments of interest on the notes will not be subject to United States federal income tax or withholding tax if the interest is not effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States and if you qualify for the "portfolio interest" exemption. You generally will qualify for the portfolio interest exemption if you:

- · do not own, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote;
- are not a controlled foreign corporation related to us, directly or indirectly, actually or constructively, within the meaning of Section 864(d)(4) of the Code;
- are not a bank whose receipt of interest on the notes is pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of your trade or business;
 and
- appropriately certify as to your foreign status.

You generally may meet the certification requirement listed above by providing to the applicable withholding agent a properly completed IRS Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (as applicable). If the portfolio interest exemption is not available to you, then payments of interest on the notes generally will be subject to United States federal withholding tax at a rate of 30% unless you certify on IRS Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (as applicable) as to your eligibility for a lower rate under an applicable income tax treaty.

Interest that is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by you in the United States) is not subject to withholding if you provide a properly completed IRS Form W-8ECI. However, you generally will be subject to United States federal income tax on such interest on a net income basis at graduated rates applicable to United States persons generally. In addition, if you are a foreign corporation you may incur a branch profits tax on such interest equal to 30% of your effectively connected earnings and profits

for the taxable year, as adjusted for certain items, unless a lower rate applies to you under a United States income tax treaty with your country of residence. For this purpose, you must include interest and gain on your notes in the earnings and profits subject to United States branch profits tax if these amounts are effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Disposition of the Notes

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding and FATCA withholding below, you generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax on any gain realized on the sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of the notes unless:

- such gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by you in the United States), in which case you generally will be subject to United States federal income tax in the same manner as a United States person, and if you are a foreign corporation, you may incur a branch profits tax at a rate of 30% (or a lower applicable treaty rate) of your effectively connected earnings and profits, which will include such gain, as adjusted for certain items; or
- you are an individual present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year in which such disposition occurs and certain other
 conditions are met, in which case you will be subject to United States federal income tax at a 30% rate (or lower applicable treaty rate) on the
 gain, which may be offset by United States source capital losses.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Payments to you of interest on the notes (including amounts withheld from such payments, if any) generally will be required to be reported to the IRS and to you. United States backup withholding generally will not apply to payments to you of interest on the notes if the statement described in "—Non-United States Holders—Payments of Interest" is duly provided by you or you otherwise establish an exemption, provided that the applicable withholding agent does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a United States person.

Payment of the proceeds of a disposition of the notes effected by the U.S. office of a U.S. or foreign broker will be subject to information reporting requirements and backup withholding unless you properly certify under penalties of perjury as to your foreign status and certain other conditions are met or you otherwise establish an exemption. Information reporting requirements and backup withholding generally will not apply to any payment of the proceeds of the disposition of the notes effected outside the United States by a foreign office of a broker. However, unless such a broker has documentary evidence in its records that you are a non-United States Holder and certain other conditions are met, or you otherwise establish an exemption, information reporting generally will apply to a payment of the proceeds of the disposition of the notes effected outside the United States by such a broker if it is:

- a United States person;
- a foreign person which derives 50% or more of its gross income for certain periods from the conduct of a trade or business in the United States;
- · a controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes; or
- a foreign partnership that, at any time during its taxable year, has more than 50% of its profits or capital interests owned by United States persons or is engaged in the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amount withheld from a payment under the backup withholding rules may be allowed as a credit against your United States federal income tax liability, if any, and may entitle you to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code and U.S. Treasury Regulations and administrative guidance thereunder ("FATCA") generally impose a 30% withholding tax on any payments on debt obligations of U.S. obligors made to a foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity (including, in some cases, when such foreign financial institution or entity is acting as an intermediary), and on the gross proceeds of the sale or other disposition of debt obligations of U.S. obligors, unless (i) in the case of a foreign financial institution, such institution enters into an agreement with the U.S. government to withhold on certain payments, and to collect and provide to the U.S. tax authorities substantial information regarding U.S. account holders of such institution (which includes certain equity and debt holders of such institution, as well as certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners), (ii) in the case of a non-financial foreign entity, such entity provides the withholding agent with a certification identifying the direct and indirect substantial U.S. owners of the entity or certifies that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or (iii) the foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity otherwise qualifies for an exemption from these rules. Foreign governments may enter into an agreement with the U.S. government to implement FATCA in a different manner.

Pursuant to applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations, debt obligations issued after June 30, 2014, are subject to these rules and withholding under such rules applies to interest payments made after June 30, 2014, and payments of proceeds from a disposition occurring after December 31, 2018.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of Exchange Notes received in exchange for Original Notes where such Original Notes were acquired as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed that we will make this prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale for a period ending on the earlier of (i) 180 days from the date on which the registration statement on Form S-4, to which this prospectus forms a part, became effective and (ii) the date on which each broker-dealer is no longer required to deliver a prospectus in connection with market-making or other trading activities.

We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of Exchange Notes by broker-dealers. Exchange Notes received by broker-dealers for their own account pursuant to the exchange offer may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the Exchange Notes or a combination of such methods of resale, at market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or negotiated prices. Any such resale may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions or concessions from any such broker-dealer or the purchasers of any such Exchange Notes. Any broker-dealer that resells Exchange Notes that were received by it for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer and any broker or dealer that participates in a distribution of such Exchange Notes may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act and any profit on any such resale of Exchange Notes and any commission or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

We will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests such documents in the letter of transmittal for a period ending on the earlier of (i) 180 days from the date on which the registration statement on Form S-4, to which this prospectus forms a part, became effective and (ii) the date on which each broker-dealer is no longer required to deliver a prospectus in connection with market-making or other trading activities. We have agreed to pay all expenses incident to the Exchange Offer other than commissions or concessions of any brokers or dealer and will indemnify the holders of the Exchange Notes (including any broker-dealers) against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the notes and certain other legal matters will be passed upon for us by Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Subsidiaries appearing in Tempur Sealy International, Inc.'s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2015 (including the schedule appearing therein), and the effectiveness of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their reports thereon, included therein, and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

TEMPUR + SEALY

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Offer to Exchange
5.500% Senior Notes due 2026
for
New 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026
which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933

PROSPECTUS

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

(a) Tempur Sealy International Inc., Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc., Sealy Corporation, Sealy Mattress Corporation, The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group and Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc.

Tempur Sealy International, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc., Sealy Corporation, Sealy Mattress Corporation, The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group and Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. are incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware. Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, provides that a corporation may indemnify any persons who were, are or are threatened to be made, parties to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of such corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was an officer, director, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. The indemnity may include expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, provided such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation's best interests and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful.

Section 145 of the DGCL further authorizes a corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise, against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the corporation would otherwise have the power to indemnify him or her under Section 145 of the DGCL.

The certificates of incorporation, as amended, of each of Tempur Sealy International, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc., Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc., Sealy Corporation, Sealy Mattress Corporation, The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group and Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. eliminate the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liabilities arising (a) from any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders; (b) from acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (c) under Section 174 of the DGCL; or (d) from any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. The certificate of incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc. provides for indemnification of executive officers or directors with respect to all threatened, pending or completed actions, suits or proceedings in which the person was, is or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent relating to proceedings arising from that person's conduct in his official capacity to the extent permitted by the DGCL.

The bylaws of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. provide for indemnification of directors, officers, employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law and authorize Tempur Sealy International, Inc. to purchase and maintain insurance to protect itself and any of its directors, officers, employees or agents, or another business entity, against any expense, liability, or loss, regardless of whether it would have the power to indemnify such person under its bylaws or Delaware law.

The certificates of incorporation and/or bylaws of each of Sealy Corporation, Sealy Mattress Corporation, The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group and Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company,

Inc. provide that the companies must indemnify directors and officers to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL against expenses, liability and loss reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection with any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that person is an officer or director of the corporation.

Each of Sealy Corporation, Sealy Mattress Corporation, The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group and Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance to protect itself and its directors, officers and representatives and those of its subsidiaries against any such expense, liability or loss, whether or not it would have the power to indemnify them against such expense, liability or loss under applicable law.

(b) Tempur World, LLC, Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC, Tempur Retail Stores, LLC, Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC, Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC, Sealy US Sales, LLC and Cocoon International Sales, LLC

Tempur World, LLC, Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC, Tempur Retail Stores, LLC, Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC, Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC, Sealy US Sales, LLC and Cocoon International Sales, LLC were each formed as a limited liability company under the laws of the State of Delaware. Section 18-108 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, as it currently exist or may hereafter be amended, or the DLLCA, provides that, subject to such standards and restrictions, if any, as are set forth in its limited liability company agreement, a limited liability company may, and shall have the power to, indemnify and hold harmless any member or manager or other person from and against any and all claims and demands whatsoever.

The limited liability company agreement of Tempur World, LLC and Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC provide for indemnification of managers (out of company assets only) to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law from any losses, expenses, judgments, liabilities and amounts paid in settlement of any claims sustained by them in connection with Tempur World, LLC or Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC, as applicable, provided that the same were not the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of such manager.

The limited liability company agreements of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC, Tempur Retail Stores, LLC, Sealy US Sales, LLC and Cocoon International Sales, LLC provide for indemnification of members, manager and officers (out of company assets only) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law from any losses, damages or claims incurred by them in connection with their duties as members, managers and officers of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC, Tempur Retail Stores, LLC, Sealy US Sales, LLC or Cocoon International Sales, LLC, provided that the same were not the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct with respect to any actions or omissions of such member, manager or officer.

The limited liability company agreement of Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC provides for indemnification of the member (out of company assets only) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law from any losses, damages or claims incurred by it in connection with its duties as the member Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC, provided that the same were not the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct with respect to any actions or omissions of such member, manager or officer.

(c) Tempur Production USA, LLC

Tempur Production USA, LLC was formed as limited liability company under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Section 13.1-1025 of the Virginia Limited Liability Company Act provides for limitations on the amount of damages assessed against members and managers of a limited liability company arising out of a single transaction, occurrence or course of conduct which may not exceed the lesser of (i) the monetary amount, including the elimination of liability, specified in writing in the articles of organization or an operating agreement as a limitation on or elimination of the liability of the manager or member; or (ii) the greater of (a) \$100,000 or (b) the amount of cash compensation received by the manager or member from the limited

liability company during the twelve months immediately preceding the act or omission for which liability was imposed. The Act also provides that the liability of a manger or member shall not be limited to the extent otherwise provided in the articles of organization or an operating agreement, or if the manager or member engaged in willful misconduct or a knowing violation of the criminal law.

The operating agreement of Tempur Production USA, LLC provides for indemnification of its managers (out of company assets only) to the fullest extent permitted by Virginia law from any losses, expenses, judgments, liabilities and amounts paid in settlement of any claims sustained by them in connection with Tempur Production USA LLC, provided that the same were not the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of such manager.

(d) Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico and Sealy, Inc.

Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico and Sealy, Inc. are incorporated under the laws of the State of Ohio. Section 1701.13(E) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio provides that an Ohio corporation may indemnify or agree to indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, other than an action by or in the right of the corporation, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee, member, manager, or agent of another corporation, domestic or foreign, nonprofit or for profit, a limited liability company, or a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorney's fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, if the person had no reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful. An Ohio corporation may indemnify or agree to indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee, member, manager, or agent of another corporation, domestic or foreign, nonprofit or for profit, a limited liability company, or a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorney's fees), actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit, if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification is permitted (i) with respect to any claim, issue or matter to which the person is adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of the person's duty to the corporation without judicial approval or (ii) with respect to any action or suit in which the only liability asserted against a director is pursuant to unlawful loans, dividends, or distribution of assets as contemplated by Section 1701.95 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio. Where an officer, director, employee, trustee, member, manager or agent is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to above or in the defense of any claim, issue or matter in the action, suit or proceeding, the corporation must indemnify the person against the expenses (including attorney's fees), which the person has actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding.

Subject to certain exceptions, Section 1701.13(E)(5)(a) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio requires an Ohio corporation to advance expenses (including attorney's fees) incurred by a director in defending any action, suit or proceeding brought against the director, so long as the director agrees to reasonably cooperate with the corporation in the matter and agrees to repay the amount advanced if it is proven by clear and convincing evidence that the director's act or failure to act was done with deliberate intent to cause injury to the corporation or with reckless disregard for the corporation's best interests. Section 1701.13(E)(5)(b) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio permits an Ohio corporation to advance expenses (including attorney's fees) to a director, trustee, officer, employee, member, manager or agent in defending any action, suit

or proceeding brought against such person, if authorized by the directors of the Ohio corporation and upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amount, if it ultimately is determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation.

The code of regulations of each of Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico and Sealy, Inc. requires the corporation to indemnify each person that is made a party to or is threatened to be made a party to or is involved in any action, suit or proceeding, by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person of whom he or she is a legal representative, is or was a director or officer of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation or enterprise against all expense, liability and loss reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection therewith to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended (if such amendment permits the corporation to provide broader indemnification rights); provided, however, that with respect to each of Sealy Mattress Company and Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico, the corporation is required to indemnify any such person seeking indemnification in connection with an action, suit or proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person only if such action, suit proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the board of directors of the corporation, suit or proceeding (or part thereof) only if such action suit or proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the board of directors of the corporation. Such indemnification includes the right to be paid by the corporation the expenses incurred in defending any such action, suit or proceeding in advance of the final disposition.

Both Section 1701.13(E)(6) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio and the code of regulations of each of Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico and Sealy, Inc. provide that the rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses authorized or conferred thereby are not exclusive of any other rights the person may have to indemnification or advancement of expenses.

Section 1701.13(E)(7) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio permits an Ohio corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise, against any liability, including a liability under the Securities Act of 1933, incurred by the person in any such capacity, or arising out of the person's status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify the person under Section 1701.13(E) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio. The code of regulations of each of Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico and Sealy, Inc. contains a comparable provision.

(e) Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.

Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Georgia. Sections 14-2-850 through 14-2-859 of the Georgia Business Corporation Code, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the GBCC, provides for the indemnification of officers and directors by the corporation under certain circumstances against expenses and liabilities incurred in legal proceedings involving such persons because of their being or having been an officer or director of the corporation. Under the GBCC, a corporation may purchase insurance on behalf of an officer or director of the corporation incurred in his or her capacity as an officer or director regardless of whether the person could be indemnified under the GBCC.

The bylaws of Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the GBCC.

Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(f) Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois and A. Brandwein & Co.

Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois and A. Brandwein & Company are incorporated under the laws of the State of Illinois. Section 8.75 of the Illinois Business Corporation Act, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the IBCA, provides that a corporation may indemnify any person who, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, other than one brought on behalf of the corporation, against reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and settlement payments incurred in connection with the action, suit or proceeding, if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be not opposed to the best interests of such corporation and, in criminal actions or proceedings, in addition, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. In the case of actions on behalf of the corporation, indemnification may extend only to reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit and only if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, provided that no such indemnification is permitted in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person is adjudged to be liable to the corporation except to the extent that the adjudicating court otherwise provides. To the extent that a present or former director, officer or employee of the corporation has been successful in defending any such action, suit or proceeding (even one on behalf of the corporation) or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person is entitled to indemnification for reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by such person in connection therewith if the person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation. The indemnification provided for by the IBCA is not exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, and a corporation may maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent against any liability asserted against such person, whether or not the corporation would have the power to otherwise indemnify such person under the IBCA.

The bylaws of each of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois and A. Brandwein & Company provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the IBCA.

Each of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois and A. Brandwein & Company is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(g) Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc.

Sealy of Maryland and Virginia Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland. Section 2-418 of the Maryland General Corporation Law, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the MGCL, provides that a corporation may indemnify directors and officers against liabilities they may incur in such capacities unless it is established that: (a) the directors act or omission was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; or (b) the director actually received an improper personal benefit; or (c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful. A corporation is required to indemnify directors and officers against reasonable expenses they may incur in defending actions against them in such capacities if they are successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of such actions. The MGCL provides that the foregoing provisions shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which a director or officer seeking indemnification may be entitled under, among other things, any bylaw or charter provision, or resolution of stockholders or directors, agreement, or otherwise.

The bylaws of Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the MGCL against expenses, liability and loss reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection with any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that that person is an officer or director of the corporation.

Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(h) Sealy of Minnesota, Inc.

Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Minnesota. Section 302A.521 Subd. 2 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the MBCA, provides that a corporation shall indemnify any person made or threatened to be made a party to a proceeding by reason of the former or present official capacity (as defined in Section 302A.521 Subd. 1 of the MBCA) of such person against judgments, penalties, fines (including, without limitation, excise taxes assessed against such person with respect to an employee benefit plan), settlements and reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements), incurred by such person in connection with the proceeding, if, with respect to the acts or omissions of such person complained of in the proceeding, such person (1) has not been indemnified therefor by another organization or employee benefit plan; (2) acted in good faith; (3) received no improper personal benefit and Section 302A.255 of the MBCA (with respect to director conflicts of interest), if applicable, has been satisfied; (4) in the case of a criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful; and (5) reasonably believed that the conduct was in the best interests of the corporation in the case of acts or omissions occurring in such person's official capacity for other organizations, reasonably believed that the conduct was not opposed to the best interests of the corporation.

The bylaws of Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Minnesota Statutes.

Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(i) Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc.

Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Missouri. Section 351.355 of the Missouri General and Business Corporation Law, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the MGBCL, provides that a corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorney's fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. However, a corporation may not indemnify such a person against judgments and fines, and no person shall be indemnified as to any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his or her duty to the corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action or suit was brought determines upon application that the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for proper expenses. The MGBCL also

provides that, to the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation has been successful in defense of any such action, suit, or proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, he or she shall be indemnified against expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and reasonably incurred in connection with the action, suit, or proceeding. The MGBCL also provides that a corporation may provide additional indemnification to any person indemnifiable as described above, provided such additional indemnification is authorized by the corporation's articles of incorporation or shareholder-approved bylaw or agreement, and provided further that no person shall be indemnified against conduct that was finally adjudged to have been knowingly fraudulent, deliberately dishonest or willful misconduct.

The bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the MGBCL.

Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(j) Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc.

Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of New York. The New York Business Corporation Law, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the NYBCL, permits a corporation to indemnify its current and former directors and officers against expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in connection with a legal proceeding. To be indemnified, the person must have acted, in good faith, for a purpose which he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation. With respect to any criminal action or proceeding, the person must not have had reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful. NYBCL permits a present or former director or officer of a corporation to be indemnified against certain expenses if the person has been successful, on the merit or otherwise, in defense of any proceeding brought against such person by virtue of the fact that the person is or was an officer or director of the corporation. In addition, NYBCL permits the advancement of expenses relating to the defense of any proceeding to directors and officers contingent upon the person's commitment to repay advances for expenses in the case he or she is ultimately found not to be entitled to be indemnified. NYBCL provides that the indemnification provisions contained in NYBCL are not exclusive of any other right that a person seeking indemnification may have or later acquire under any provision of a corporation's bylaws, by any agreement, by any vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise. NYBCL also provides that a corporation may maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect its directors and officers in instances in which they may not otherwise be indemnified by the corporation under the provisions of NYBCL provided the contract of insurance covering the directors and officers provides, in a manner acceptable to the New York superintendent of financial services, for a retention amount and for co-insurance.

The bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the NYBCL against expenses, liability and loss reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection with any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that that person is an officer or director of the corporation.

Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(k) Sealy Texas Management, Inc.

Sealy Texas Management, Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas. Under Section 8.051 of the Texas Business Organizations Code, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the TBOC, entities

must indemnify a governing person, former governing person, or delegate against reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with a proceeding in which the person is a respondent because the person is or was a governing person or delegate if the person is wholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of the proceeding. Under Section 8.101 of the TBOC, entities may indemnify a governing person, former governing person, or delegate who was, is, or is threatened to be made a respondent in a proceeding if it is determined that the person acted in good faith and reasonably believed, or in the case of conduct in the person's official capacity, that the person's conduct was in the enterprise's best interests, and in any other case, that the person's conduct was not opposed to the enterprise's best interests and, in the case of a criminal proceeding, did not have a reasonable cause to believe that the person's conduct was unlawful. The expenses other than a judgment must be reasonable

The bylaws of Sealy Texas Management, Inc. provide for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the TBOC.

Sealy Texas Management, Inc. is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

(I) Sealy Technology LLC

Sealy Technology LLC was formed as a limited liability company under the laws of the State of North Carolina. Part 3 of Article 3 of the North Carolina Limited Liability Company Act, as it currently exists or may hereafter be amended, or the NCLLCA, Sections 57D-3-30 and 57D-3-31 of the North Carolina General Statutes, permits or requires indemnification of its directors and officers in a variety of circumstances, which may include liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The limited liability company agreement of Sealy Technology LLC provides for the indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the NCLLCA.

Sealy Technology LLC is permitted to maintain insurance policies covering all of its directors and officers against some liabilities for actions taken in such capacities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 26, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 27, 2012).(1)
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-109798) as filed on December 12, 2003).(1)
3.2	Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2013).(1)
3.3	Sixth Amended and Restated By-Laws of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 14, 2015).(1)
3.4	Certificate of Formation of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.5	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.6	Certificate of Formation Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.6 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.7	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.7 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.8	Articles of Organization of Tempur Production USA, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.8 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.9	Operating Agreement of Tempur Production USA, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.9 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.10	Certificate of Formation of Tempur World, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.10 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.11	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur World, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.11 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.12	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.12 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.13	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.13 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.14	Certificate of Formation of Cocoon International Sales, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Dawn Sleep Technologies, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 3.14 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.15	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cocoon International Sales, LLC (f/k/a Dawn Sleep Technologies, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 3.15 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.16	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.16 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.17	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.17 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.18	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.18 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.19	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.19 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.20	Certificate of Formation of Tempur Retail Stores, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Tempur-Pedic America, LLC) (filed as Exhibit 3.20 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.21	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur Retail Stores, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Tempur-Pedic America, LLC) (filed as Exhibit 3.21 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.22	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.26 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.23	Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sealy Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.27 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.24	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.28 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.25	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.29 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.26	Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group (f/k/a Sealy, Incorporated) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.30 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.27	Bylaws of The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group (filed as Exhibit 3.31 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.28	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.32 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.29	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.33 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.30	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.31	Bylaws of Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.41 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.32	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. (f/k/a Empire State Bedding Co., Inc. and Sealy of Eastern New York, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.44 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.33	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.45 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.34	Amended Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company (f/k/a Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.) (filed as Exhibit 3.48 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.35	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company (filed as Exhibit 3.49 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.36	Articles of Incorporation of Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. (f/k/a Sealy Mattress Co., of Georgia, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.50 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.37	Bylaws of Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.51 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.38	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.52 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.39	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.53 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.40	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois (f/k/a R.H. Taylor Bedding Company and Sealy Mattress Company) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.54 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.41	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois (filed as Exhibit 3.55 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.42	Articles of Incorporation of A. Brandwein & Co. (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.56 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.43	Bylaws of A. Brandwein & Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.57 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.44	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. (f/k/a Super Rest Products, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.58 to the Registrant' registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.45	Bylaws of Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.59 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.46	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy, Inc. (f/k/a OMT Corp.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.62 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.47	Code of Regulations of Sealy, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.63 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.48	Articles of Organization of Sealy Technology LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.64 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.49	Operating Agreement of Sealy Technology LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.65 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.50	Amended Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico (f/k/a Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.) (filed as Exhibit 3.68 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.51	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico (filed as Exhibit 3.69 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.52	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Texas Management, Inc. (f/k/a Sealy Mattress Company of Fort Worth and Ohio- Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.—Fort Worth) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.70 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.53	Bylaws of Sealy Texas Management, Inc. (f/k/a The Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.—Fort Worth) (filed as Exhibit 3.71 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.54	Certificate of Formation of Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC (f/k/a TS Extended Warranty, LLC f/k/a Sealy International Distribution, LLC) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.54 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.55	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC (f/k/a TS Extended Warranty, LLC f/k/a Sealy International Distribution, LLC) (as amended). (filed as Exhibit 3.55 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.56	Certificate of Formation of Sealy US Sales, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 3.56 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.57	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sealy US Sales, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 3.57 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
4.1	Specimen certificate for shares of common stock (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-109798) as filed on December 12, 2003).(1)
4.2	Indenture, dated as of September 24, 2015, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
4.3	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2015, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the several Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
4.4	Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)
4.5	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2016, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the several Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)
5.1	Opinion of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
5.2	Opinion of FisherBroyles, LLP with respect to the Georgia guarantor.
5.3	Opinion of Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. with respect to the Minnesota guarantor.
5.4	Opinion of Husch Blackwell LLP with respect to the Missouri guarantor.
5.5	Opinion of McGuire, Wood & Bissette, P.A. with respect to the North Carolina guarantors.
5.6	Opinion of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP with respect to the Ohio guarantors.
10.1	Credit Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2016, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., as parent borrower, the several banks and other financial institutions party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on April 7, 2016).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.2	Purchase Agreement, dated May 19, 2016, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)
10.3	Purchase Agreement, dated September 21, 2015, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
10.4	Bond Purchase Agreement, dated October 26, 2005, by and among Tempur World LLC, Tempur Production USA, Inc. and Bernalillo County (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.5	Trust Indenture, dated September 1, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.6	Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of October 27, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and Tempur Production USA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.7	Lease Agreement, dated September 1, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and Tempur Production USA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.8	Agreement by and among H Partners, other members of the H Partners Group and the Company, dated as of May 11, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 13, 2015).(1)
10.9	Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.10	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan, which includes as Exhibit A the Form of Acknowledgement and Award Agreement and as Exhibit B the Election Form under such Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.11	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.12	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 23, 2013).(1)(2)
10.13	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Severance and Retention Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 23, 2013).(1)(2)
10.14	Amended and Restated Tempur-Pedic International Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix B to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on March 25, 2009).(1)(2)
10.15	First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant's Registration Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on March 25, 2009).(1)(2)
10.16	Tempur-Pedic International Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on April 12, 2013).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.17	Tempur-Pedic International Inc. Long-term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.18	Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Senior Executives (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on April 27, 2010).(1)(2)
10.19	Employment Agreement dated September 12, 2003, between Tempur International Limited and David Montgomery (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-109054-02) as filed on October 31, 2003).(1)(2)
10.20	Employment Agreement dated as of July 18, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Richard Anderson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed November 7, 2006).(1)(2)
10.21	Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated March 5, 2008 by and among Tempur-Pedic International Inc., Tempur World, LLC and Dale E. Williams (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed March 7, 2008).(1)(2)
10.22	Amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Dale Williams dated as of July 30, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed July 30, 2015).(1)(2)
10.23	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as June 30, 2008, between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Mark Sarvary (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 30, 2008).(1)(2)
10.24	First Amendment to the Employment and Non-Competition Agreement, by and between the Company and Mark Sarvary, dated as of May 22, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
10.25	Letter Agreement, between the Company and Mark Sarvary, dated as of May 22, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
10.26	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement by and between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Lou Hedrick Jones dated as of June 1, 2009) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 27, 2009).(1)(2)
10.27	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement by and between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Brad Patrick dated as of September 1, 2010) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on October 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.28	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of February 4, 2013, between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 4, 2013).(1)(2)
10.29	First Amendment to the Employment and Non-Competition Agreement dated as of March 10, 2016, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on March 10, 2016).(1)(2)
10.30	Separation Agreement dated as of March 10, 2016, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on March 10, 2016).(1)(2)
10.31	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of August 28, 2014, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Barry Hytinen (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 7, 2014).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.32	Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Barry Hytinen dated as of July 30, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed July 30, 2015).(1)(2)
10.33	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of November 18, 2014, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Jay Spenchian (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.34	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Scott Thompson dated as of September 4, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.35	Stock Option Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.36	Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.37	Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.38	2015 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.39	Subscription Agreement (dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.40	Amendment to Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of October 12, 2015, between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed October 14, 2015).(1)(2)
10.41	Form of 2016 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed May 5, 2016).(1)(2)
10.42	Form of 2015 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed October 29, 2015).(1)(2)
10.43	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.44	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 9.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 19, 2008).(1)(2)
10.45	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.40 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2009).(1)(2)
10.46	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.47	Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.48	Form of Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 26, 2016).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.49	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the United Kingdom Approved Share Option Sub Plan to the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on April 30, 2009).(1)(2)
10.50	Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.51	Form of Stock Option Agreement under Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.52	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.53	Stock Option Agreement dated June 28, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and David Montgomery (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.54	Stock Option Agreement dated June 28, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Dale E. Williams (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.55	Stock Option Agreement dated February 5, 2008 between Tempur-Pedic International, Inc. and Richard Anderson (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on May 6, 2008).(1)(2)
10.56	Stock Option Agreement dated June 30, 2008 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Mark Sarvary (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 30, 2008).(1)(2)
10.57	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.58	Amended and Restated Sealy Benefit Equalization Plan dated December 18, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to Sealy Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on January 15, 2009).(1)(2)
10.59	Form of Letter Agreement Outlining Retention Program for United States Executive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
10.60	Form of Letter Agreement Outlining Retention Program for non-United States Executive Officer (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
12.1	Statement Regarding Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
21.1	Subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
23.2	Consent of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1 hereto).
23.3	Consent of FisherBroyles, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2 hereto).
23.4	Consent of Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. (included in Exhibit 5.3 hereto).
23.5	Consent of Husch Blackwell LLP (included in Exhibit 5.4 hereto).
23.6	Consent of McGuire, Wood & Bissette, P.A. (included in Exhibit 5.5 hereto).
23.7	Consent of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP (included in Exhibit 5.6 hereto).

Exhibit Number		Description of Exhibit
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on signature page).	
25.1	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification of True	stee.
99.1	Form of Letter of Transmittal.	
99.2	Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.	
99.3	Letter of Clients.	
99.4	Letter of Brokers.	

- (1) Incorporated by reference.
- (2) Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 22. Undertakings

- The undersigned hereby undertakes:
 - (1) To file during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
 - (i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
 - (ii) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent posteffective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the
 registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in the volume of securities offered (if the total dollar
 value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated
 maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the
 aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth
 in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and (iii) to include any material information with
 respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the
 registration statement; and
 - (iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement
 - (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
 - (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
 - (4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement.

- (b) The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser.
 - (1) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
 - (2) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
 - (3) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
 - (4) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.
- (c) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the Registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (d) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by one of our directors, officers or controlling persons in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
- (e) The undersigned hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11 or 13 of this form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.
- (f) The undersigned hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR SEALY INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ Barry A. Hytinen

Name: Barry A. Hytinen

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief

Signature

Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

/s/ Scott L. Thompson	
Scott L. Thompson	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Chief Accounting Officer and Senior Vice President Finance (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Evelyn S. Dilsaver	
Evelyn S. Dilsaver	Director
/s/ John A. Heil	
John A. Heil	Director
/s/ Jon L. Luther	
Jon L. Luther	Director

Signature		Title
/s/ Usman Nabi		
Usman Nabi	Director	
/s/ Richard W. Neu		
Richard W. Neu	Director	
/s/ Robert B. Trussell Jr.		
Robert B. Trussell Jr.	Director	

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR WORLD, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Signature

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

-0	
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Manager
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR-PEDIC MANAGEMENT, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

Signature

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

o ignature	
/s/ Richard Anderson	
President	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Manager
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR-PEDIC NORTH AMERICA, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Manager
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR-PEDIC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Signature

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
President	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) and Director
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR PRODUCTION USA, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Manager

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

COCOON INTERNATIONAL SALES, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

Signaturo

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR-PEDIC MANUFACTURING, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title	
/s/ Richard Anderson		
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer)	
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen		
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi	icer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoun	ting
	Officer) and Director	_

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR-PEDIC SALES, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR RETAIL STORES, LLC

By: /s/ Barry A. Hytinen

Name: Barry A. Hytinen

Title: President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) and Manager

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

TEMPUR SEALY INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

Signaturo

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

orginiture .	THE
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Manager
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
	(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY CORPORATION

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson
Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	Richard Anderson (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson
Title: President

Signaturo

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Director
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
	(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS COMPANY

By:	/s/ Richard Anderson	
Name:	Richard Anderson	
Title:	President	

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

OHIO-SEALY MATTRESS MANUFACTURING CO.

By:	/s/ Richard Anderson
Name:	Richard Anderson
Title	President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS COMPANY OF KANSAS CITY, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

By:	/s/ Richard Anderson	
Name:	Richard Anderson	
Title:	President	

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

A. BRANDWEIN & CO.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS COMPANY OF ALBANY, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Tiue
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY OF MARYLAND AND VIRGINIA, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY OF MINNESOTA, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
President	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

THE OHIO MATTRESS COMPANY LICENSING AND COMPONENTS GROUP

By:	/s/ Scott L. Thompson	
Name:	Scott L. Thompson	
Title:	Chief Executive Officer	

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Title

Signature	Title
/s/ Scott L. Thompson	
Scott L. Thompson	Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Director
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS MANUFACTURING COMPANY, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY TECHNOLOGY, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY MATTRESS COMPANY OF PUERTO RICO

By: /s/ Richard Anderson

Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) and Director
/s/ Bhaskar Rao	
Bhaskar Rao	Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY TEXAS MANAGEMENT, INC.

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
President	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer) and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Lexington, state of Kentucky on August 5, 2016.

SEALY US SALES, LLC

By: /s/ Richard Anderson
Name: Richard Anderson

Title: President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Scott L. Thompson and Barry A. Hytinen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him and his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such said attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power and authority to do so and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature	Title
/s/ Richard Anderson	
Richard Anderson	President (Principal Executive Officer) and Manager
/s/ Barry A. Hytinen	
Barry A. Hytinen	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
	(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
	Officer)

Exhibit Index

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 26, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 27, 2012).(1)
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-109798) as filed on December 12, 2003).(1)
3.2	Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2013).(1)
3.3	Sixth Amended and Restated By-Laws of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 14, 2015).(1)
3.4	Certificate of Formation of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.5	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.6	Certificate of Formation Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.6 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.7	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.7 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.8	Articles of Organization of Tempur Production USA, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.8 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.9	Operating Agreement of Tempur Production USA, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.9 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.10	Certificate of Formation of Tempur World, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.10 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.11	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur World, LLC (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.11 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.12	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.12 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.13	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.13 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.14	Certificate of Formation of Cocoon International Sales, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Dawn Sleep Technologies, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 3.14 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.15	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cocoon International Sales, LLC (f/k/a Dawn Sleep Technologies, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 3.15 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.16	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.16 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.17	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.17 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.18	Certificate of Incorporation of Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.18 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.19	Bylaws of Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.19 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.20	Certificate of Formation of Tempur Retail Stores, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Tempur-Pedic America, LLC) (filed as Exhibit 3.20 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.21	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur Retail Stores, LLC (as amended) (f/k/a Tempur-Pedic America, LLC) (filed as Exhibit 3.21 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.22	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.26 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.23	Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sealy Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.27 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.24	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.28 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.25	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.29 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.26	Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group (f/k/a Sealy, Incorporated) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.30 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.27	Bylaws of The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group (filed as Exhibit 3.31 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.28	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.32 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.29	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.33 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.30	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.31	Bylaws of Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.41 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.32	Certificate of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. (f/k/a Empire State Bedding Co., Inc. and Sealy of Eastern New York, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.44 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.33	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.45 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.34	Amended Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company (f/k/a Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.) (filed as Exhibit 3.48 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.35	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company (filed as Exhibit 3.49 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.36	Articles of Incorporation of Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. (f/k/a Sealy Mattress Co., of Georgia, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.50 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.37	Bylaws of Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.51 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.38	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.52 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.39	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.53 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.40	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois (f/k/a R.H. Taylor Bedding Company and Sealy Mattress Company) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.54 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.41	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois (filed as Exhibit 3.55 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.42	Articles of Incorporation of A. Brandwein & Co. (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.56 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.43	Bylaws of A. Brandwein & Co. (filed as Exhibit 3.57 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.44	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. (f/k/a Super Rest Products, Inc.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.58 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.45	Bylaws of Sealy of Minnesota, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.59 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.46	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy, Inc. (f/k/a OMT Corp.) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.62 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.47	Code of Regulations of Sealy, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.63 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.48	Articles of Organization of Sealy Technology LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.64 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
3.49	Operating Agreement of Sealy Technology LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.65 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.50	Amended Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico (f/k/a Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.) (filed as Exhibit 3.68 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.51	Bylaws of Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico (filed as Exhibit 3.69 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.52	Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Texas Management, Inc. (f/k/a Sealy Mattress Company of Fort Worth and Ohio- Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.—Fort Worth) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.70 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.53	Bylaws of Sealy Texas Management, Inc. (f/k/a The Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.—Fort Worth) (filed as Exhibit 3.71 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-189063) as filed on June 4, 2013).(1)
3.54	Certificate of Formation of Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC (f/k/a TS Extended Warranty, LLC f/k/a Sealy International Distribution, LLC) (as amended) (filed as Exhibit 3.54 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.55	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC (f/k/a TS Extended Warranty, LLC f/k/a Sealy International Distribution, LLC) (as amended). (filed as Exhibit 3.55 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.56	Certificate of Formation of Sealy US Sales, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 3.56 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
3.57	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sealy US Sales, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 3.57 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-209511) as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
4.1	Specimen certificate for shares of common stock (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-109798) as filed on December 12, 2003).(1)
4.2	Indenture, dated as of September 24, 2015, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
4.3	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2015, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the several Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
4.4	Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)
4.5	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2016, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the several Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
5.1	Opinion of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
5.2	Opinion of FisherBroyles, LLP with respect to the Georgia guarantor.
5.3	Opinion of Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. with respect to the Minnesota guarantor.
5.4	Opinion of Husch Blackwell LLP with respect to the Missouri guarantor.
5.5	Opinion of McGuire, Wood & Bissette, P.A. with respect to the North Carolina guarantors.
5.6	Opinion of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP with respect to the Ohio guarantors.
10.1	Credit Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2016, by and among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., as parent borrower, the several banks and other financial institutions party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on April 7, 2016).(1)
10.2	Purchase Agreement, dated May 19, 2016, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 24, 2016).(1)
10.3	Purchase Agreement, dated September 21, 2015, among Tempur Sealy International, Inc., the Guarantors named therein, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as representative of the Initial Purchasers named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on September 24, 2015).(1)
10.4	Bond Purchase Agreement, dated October 26, 2005, by and among Tempur World LLC, Tempur Production USA, Inc. and Bernalillo County (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.5	Trust Indenture, dated September 1, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.6	Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of October 27, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and Tempur Production USA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.7	Lease Agreement, dated September 1, 2005, by and between Bernalillo County and Tempur Production USA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on March 14, 2006).(1)
10.8	Agreement by and among H Partners, other members of the H Partners Group and the Company, dated as of May 11, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 13, 2015).(1)
10.9	Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.10	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan, which includes as Exhibit A the Form of Acknowledgement and Award Agreement and as Exhibit B the Election Form under such Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.11	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.12	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 23, 2013).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.13	Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Severance and Retention Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on October 23, 2013).(1)(2)
10.14	Amended and Restated Tempur-Pedic International Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix B to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on March 25, 2009).(1)(2)
10.15	First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant's Registration Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on March 25, 2009).(1)(2)
10.16	Tempur-Pedic International Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-31922) as filed on April 12, 2013).(1)(2)
10.17	Tempur-Pedic International Inc. Long-term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.18	Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for Senior Executives (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on April 27, 2010).(1)(2)
10.19	Employment Agreement dated September 12, 2003, between Tempur International Limited and David Montgomery (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-109054-02) as filed on October 31, 2003).(1)(2)
10.20	Employment Agreement dated as of July 18, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Richard Anderson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed November 7, 2006).(1)(2)
10.21	Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated March 5, 2008 by and among Tempur-Pedic International Inc., Tempur World, LLC and Dale E. Williams (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed March 7, 2008).(1)(2)
10.22	Amendment to the Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Dale Williams dated as of July 30, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed July 30, 2015).(1)(2)
10.23	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as June 30, 2008, between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Mark Sarvary (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 30, 2008).(1)(2)
10.24	First Amendment to the Employment and Non-Competition Agreement, by and between the Company and Mark Sarvary, dated as of May 22, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
10.25	Letter Agreement, between the Company and Mark Sarvary, dated as of May 22, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
10.26	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement by and between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Lou Hedrick Jones dated as of June 1, 2009) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 27, 2009).(1)(2)
10.27	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement by and between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Brad Patrick dated as of September 1, 2010) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on October 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.28	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of February 4, 2013, between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 4, 2013).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.29	First Amendment to the Employment and Non-Competition Agreement dated as of March 10, 2016, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on March 10, 2016).(1)(2)
10.30	Separation Agreement dated as of March 10, 2016, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and W. Timothy Yaggi (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on March 10, 2016).(1)(2)
10.31	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of August 28, 2014, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Barry Hytinen (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 7, 2014).(1)(2)
10.32	Amended and Restated Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Barry Hytinen dated as of July 30, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed July 30, 2015).(1)(2)
10.33	Employment and Noncompetition Agreement dated as of November 18, 2014, between Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Jay Spenchian (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.34	Employment and Non-Competition Agreement of Scott Thompson dated as of September 4, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.35	Stock Option Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.36	Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.37	Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.38	2015 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.39	Subscription Agreement (dated as of September 4, 2015 between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed September 8, 2015).(1)(2)
10.40	Amendment to Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of October 12, 2015, between the Company and Scott Thompson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed October 14, 2015).(1)(2)
10.41	Form of 2016 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed May 5, 2016).(1)(2)
10.42	Form of 2015 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed October 29, 2015).(1)(2)
10.43	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.44	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 9.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on May 19, 2008).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.45	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.40 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2009).(1)(2)
10.46	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.47	Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)(2)
10.48	Form of Matching Performance Restricted Stock Unit under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 26, 2016).(1)(2)
10.49	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the United Kingdom Approved Share Option Sub Plan to the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on April 30, 2009).(1)(2)
10.50	Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.51	Form of Stock Option Agreement under Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Executive) (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on February 19, 2010).(1)(2)
10.52	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on July 28, 2010).(1)(2)
10.53	Stock Option Agreement dated June 28, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and David Montgomery (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.54	Stock Option Agreement dated June 28, 2006 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Dale E. Williams (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed August 8, 2006).(1)(2)
10.55	Stock Option Agreement dated February 5, 2008 between Tempur-Pedic International, Inc. and Richard Anderson (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on May 6, 2008).(1)(2)
10.56	Stock Option Agreement dated June 30, 2008 between Tempur-Pedic International Inc. and Mark Sarvary (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 30, 2008).(1)(2)
10.57	Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (Director) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on November 8, 2013).(1)(2)
10.58	Amended and Restated Sealy Benefit Equalization Plan dated December 18, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to Sealy Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on January 15, 2009).(1)(2)
10.59	Form of Letter Agreement Outlining Retention Program for United States Executive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)

Exhibit Number	Description of Exhibit
10.60	Form of Letter Agreement Outlining Retention Program for non-United States Executive Officer (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 1, 2015).(1)(2)
12.1	Statement Regarding Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
21.1	Subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on February 12, 2016).(1)
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
23.2	Consent of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1 hereto).
23.3	Consent of FisherBroyles, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2 hereto).
23.4	Consent of Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. (included in Exhibit 5.3 hereto).
23.5	Consent of Husch Blackwell LLP (included in Exhibit 5.4 hereto).
23.6	Consent of McGuire, Wood & Bissette, P.A. (included in Exhibit 5.5 hereto).
23.7	Consent of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP (included in Exhibit 5.6 hereto).
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
25.1	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification of Trustee.
99.1	Form of Letter of Transmittal.
99.2	Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.
99.3	Letter of Clients.
99.4	Letter of Brokers.

- (1) (2)
- Incorporated by reference. Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

August 5, 2016

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

Re: Tempur Sealy International, Inc., Registration Statement on Form S-4

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), and the additional registrants (the "<u>Guarantors</u>") in connection with the offer (the "<u>Exchange Offer</u>") by the Company to exchange up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Company's 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "<u>Exchange Notes</u>"), which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "<u>Securities Act</u>"), and the guarantees as to the payment of principal and interest on the Exchange Notes by the Guarantees") for an equivalent amount of outstanding unregistered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "<u>Old Notes</u>") and existing guarantees as to the payment of principal and interest on the Old Notes by the Guarantors (the "<u>Old Guarantees</u>") pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4 (the "<u>Registration Statement</u>") under the Securities Act and prospectus forming a part of such Registration Statement (the "<u>Prospectus</u>") filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "<u>SEC</u>") on the date hereof. The Old Notes and the Old Guarantees were issued and the Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees are to be issued under the Indenture, dated May 24, 2016 (the "<u>Indenture</u>"), by and among the Company, the Guarantors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (the "<u>Trustee</u>").

In connection with this opinion letter, we have examined the Registration Statement, the Indenture, and such other documents, records and other instruments as we have deemed appropriate for purposes of the opinion set forth herein.

We have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of all natural persons, the authenticity of the documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity with the originals of all documents submitted to us as certified, facsimile or photostatic copies and the authenticity of the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies. We have also assumed for purposes of our opinion that the Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Trustee, that the Indenture constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Trustee and that the Trustee has the requisite organizational and legal power and authority to perform its obligations under the Indenture.

Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion that when the Exchange Notes are executed by duly authorized officers of the Company, as provided in the Indenture, and the Exchange Notes are duly authenticated by the Trustee and are delivered by the Company pursuant to the Exchange Offer described in the Registration Statement, the Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees will constitute valid and binding obligations of the Company and the Guarantors, as applicable, enforceable against the Company and the Guarantors in accordance with their respective terms.

The opinions expressed above are subject to the following limitations and qualifications:

The opinions expressed herein are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer and other similar laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally and general principles of equity.

Under applicable law, the Guarantors may be entitled to certain rights or protections which as a matter of statutory or common law may not be waived or altered. We express no opinion herein as to the enforceability of any provisions of the Exchange Note Guarantees which purport to waive or alter such rights or protections, except to the extent permitted by law.

The opinions expressed herein are limited to the laws of the State of New York, the General Corporation Law and the Limited Liability Company Act of the State of Delaware, the General Corporation Law of the State of Maryland, the Illinois Business Corporation Act, the Texas Business Organizations Code, the Virginia Limited Liability Company Act, and the federal laws of the United States of America, and we express no opinion with respect to the laws of any other state or jurisdiction. To the extent that our opinions involve (i) the laws of the States of Minnesota, we have relied, with their consent, solely on the opinion letter of Fredrikson & Byron, P.A., dated the date hereof and delivered to you and filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement; (ii) the laws of the State of Missouri, we have relied, with their consent, solely on the opinion letter of Husch Blackwell LLP, dated the date hereof and delivered to you and filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement; (iv) the laws of the State of Ohio we have relied, with their consent, solely on the opinion letter of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, dated the date hereof and delivered to you and filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement; and (v) the laws of the State of Georgia we have relied, with their consent, solely on the opinion letter of FisherBroyles, LLP, dated the date hereof and delivered to you and filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement.

We hereby consent to the use of this opinion as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement and to the reference to us under the caption "Legal Matters" in the prospectus included in the Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not hereby admit that we are acting within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the rules or regulations of the SEC thereunder.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP



Christopher T. Wilson, Esq. Atlanta Office Managing Partner

Northpark Town Center 1200 Abernathy Road Building 600, Suite 1700 Atlanta, Georgia 30328

Direct: 404.941.0647 Fax: 770.291.2049 cwilson@fisherbroyles.com

August 5, 2016

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

Re: Registration Statement on Form S-4 Relating to \$600,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special Georgia counsel to Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co., a Georgia corporation (the "Company"), in connection with that certain registration statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") filed by Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Tempur Sealy International"), and certain subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy International, including the Company, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), relating to the issuance by Tempur Sealy International of its 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes") and the guarantees contained in the Indenture (as defined below) as to the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Exchange Notes (the "Exchange Note Guarantees") by each of the entities listed in the Registration Statement as Guarantors (the "Guarantors"), including the Company. Pursuant to the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement (the "Prospectus"), Tempur Sealy International is offering to exchange in the exchange offer up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of its outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Old Notes"), which have not been registered under the Act, and to exchange the Exchange Note Guarantees for the existing guarantees as to the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Old Notes by the Guarantors. The Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees will be registered under the Act as set forth in the Registration Statement and will be issued pursuant to the provisions of that certain Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016, entered into by and among Tempur Sealy International, as issuer, the guarantors party thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Indenture").

This opinion is furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Act. This opinion letter is limited to the matters expressly stated herein, and no opinions are to be inferred or may be implied beyond the opinions expressly so stated.

ATLANTA ◆ AUSTIN ◆ BOSTON ◆ CHARLOTTE ◆ CHICAGO ◆ CINCINNATI ◆ CLEVELAND ◆ COLUMBUS ◆ DALLAS ◆ DENVER ◆ DETROIT HOUSTON ◆ LOS ANGELES ◆ NAPLES ◆ NEW YORK ◆ PALO ALTO ◆ PHILADELPHIA ◆ PRINCETON ◆ SEATTLE ◆ WASHINGTON D.C.

In connection with the foregoing, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of the following:

- A. The Indenture, including the provisions related to the Exchange Note Guarantees (collectively, the "Note Indenture");
- B. A specimen form of the Exchange Notes;
- C. The articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Company, as presently in effect (collectively, the "Constituent Documents"); and
- D. Certain resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Company relating to the Registration Statement and related matters.

Further, in rendering our opinions we have also considered such other matters of law and of fact, including the examination of originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such records and documents of the Company, certificates of officers and representatives of the Company, certificates of public officials, certificates of officers or representatives of the Company and others, and such other documents, certificates, and records as we have deemed necessary or appropriate to form the basis for the opinions herein expressed. The documents listed in A and B above are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Opinion Documents."

For purposes of the opinions expressed below, we have relied, without investigation or independent verification, on each of the following assumptions:

- (i) the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals;
- (ii) the conformity to the original documents of all documents submitted to us as certified, conformed or photostatic copies and the authenticity of the originals thereof;
 - (iii) all natural persons executing the Opinion Documents are legally competent to do so;
 - (iv) the genuineness of all signatures;
- (v) the due authorization, execution and delivery of all documents by all parties and the validity, binding effect and enforceability thereof (other than the authorization, execution and delivery of the Opinion Documents by the Company); and
- (vi) as to factual matters, the truthfulness of the representations and statements included in the Opinion Documents and in the certificates of public officials and officers and representatives of the Opinion Parties.

ATLANTA ◆ AUSTIN ◆ BOSTON ◆ CHARLOTTE ◆ CHICAGO ◆ CINCINNATI ◆ CLEVELAND ◆ COLUMBUS ◆ DALLAS ◆ DETROIT HOUSTON ◆ LOS ANGELES ◆ NAPLES ◆ NEW YORK ◆ PALO ALTO ◆ PHILADELPHIA ◆ PRINCETON ◆ SEATTLE ◆ WASHINGTON D.C.

Based on the foregoing and subject to the assumptions, limitations, exceptions and qualifications set forth herein, it is our opinion that:

- 1. The Company is duly organized as a corporation and is existing as of August 5, 2016 under the laws of the State of Georgia.
- 2. The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into, and perform its obligations under, the Note Indenture.
- 3. The Company has duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Note Indenture and further duly authorized the performance by the Company thereunder. The Company has duly executed and delivered the Note Indenture.
- 4. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Note Indenture does not violate (i) the Constituent Documents, or (ii) any applicable Georgia statute, regulation or law.

We have not considered and, hence, express no opinion with respect to any of the following:

- (A) The compliance with the laws governing interest and usury in effect in the State of Georgia on the date hereof of any provisions in the Opinion Documents that (i) purport to permit interest to be charged or paid on interest if and to the extent that such provisions result in a violation of Section 7-4-17 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated ("O.C.G.A."), or (ii) purport to permit interest charges, however denominated and regardless of whether or not denominated as interest, to be charged, paid, collected or contracted for at a rate in excess of five percent (5%) per month if and to the extent that a violation of Section 7-4-18 of the O.C.G.A. results (whether due to prepayment, acceleration, redemption, cancellation, termination or otherwise);
 - (B) The effect of Section 13-1-11 of the O.C.G.A. on provisions in the Opinion Documents relating to attorneys' fees;
 - (C) State, federal or other securities, "blue-sky", environmental or intellectual property laws; and
 - (D) The effect on any opinion expressed herein of any future event except as specifically addressed herein.

We express no opinion as to matters under or involving the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Georgia.

This opinion letter speaks only as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update or supplement this opinion letter if any applicable laws change after the date of this opinion letter or if we become aware after the date of this opinion letter of any facts, whether existing before or arising after the date hereof, that might change the opinions expressed above.

ATLANTA ◆ AUSTIN ◆ BOSTON ◆ CHARLOTTE ◆ CHICAGO ◆ CINCINNATI ◆ CLEVELAND ◆ COLUMBUS ◆ DALLAS ◆ DETROIT HOUSTON ◆ LOS ANGELES ◆ NAPLES ◆ NEW YORK ◆ PALO ALTO ◆ PHILADELPHIA ◆ PRINCETON ◆ SEATTLE ◆ WASHINGTON D.C.

Christopher T. Wilson Atlanta Office Managing Partner FisherBroyles, LLP www.fisherbroyles.com

The opinions expressed herein represent the judgment of this law firm as to certain legal matters, but they are not guarantees or warranties and should not be construed as such. This opinion letter is furnished in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement. No portion of this letter may be quoted, circulated or referred to in any other document for any other purpose without our prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP may rely upon this opinion letter in connection with the opinion letter to be filed by such firm with respect to the Registration Statement.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter with the Commission in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement referred to above. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission issued thereunder.

Very truly yours,

/s/ FisherBroyles, LLP

FisherBroyles, LLP

ATLANTA ◆ AUSTIN ◆ BOSTON ◆ CHARLOTTE ◆ CHICAGO ◆ CINCINNATI ◆ CLEVELAND ◆ COLUMBUS ◆ DALLAS ◆ DETROIT HOUSTON ◆ LOS ANGELES ◆ NAPLES ◆ NEW YORK ◆ PALO ALTO ◆ PHILADELPHIA ◆ PRINCETON ◆ SEATTLE ◆ WASHINGTON D.C.

August 5, 2016

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special counsel to Sealy of Minnesota, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the "Company"), to render this opinion in connection with that certain registration statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") filed by Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (formerly known as Tempur-Pedic International Inc.), a Delaware corporation ("Tempur Sealy International"), and certain subsidiaries of Tempur Sealy International, including the Company, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), relating to the issuance by Tempur Sealy International of its 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes") and the guarantees contained in the Indenture (as defined below) as to the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Exchange Notes (the "Exchange Note Guarantees") by each of the entities listed in the Registration Statement as Guarantors (the "Guarantors"), including the Company. We have been advised by the Company that, pursuant to the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement (the "Prospectus"), Tempur Sealy International is offering to exchange in the exchange offer (the "Exchange Offer") up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of its outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Old Notes"), which have not been registered under the Act, and to exchange the Exchange Note Guarantees for the existing guarantees as to the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Old Notes by the Guarantors. We have been advised by the Company that the Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees will be registered under the Act as set forth in the Registration Statement and will be issued pursuant to the provisions of that certain Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016, entered into by and among Tempur Sealy International, as issuer, the guarantors party thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee") (th

In connection with this opinion, we have reviewed the following documents:

- 1. The Indenture, including the provisions relating to the Exchange Note Guarantees; and
- 2. A specimen form of the Exchange Notes.

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. Page 2

August 5, 2016

In addition, we have examined the Company's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, each as amended to the date hereof, as certified by an officer of the Company as of the date hereof (collectively, the "Company Organizational Documents"), a Certificate executed by an officer of the Company certifying to the adoption of certain resolutions by the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with the Indenture, and a Certificate of Good Standing, dated August 1, 2016, issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Minnesota relating to the Company.

As to various matters material to this opinion, we have relied upon factual representations made by the Company in the Indenture and upon the certificates and documents identified in the preceding paragraph. We have not verified or investigated such representations, documents, or certificates, and we have not made any independent investigation of any factual matter. We have examined such matters of law as we have deemed appropriate in connection with the opinions hereinafter set forth.

In our examination, we have assumed the legal capacity of all natural persons, the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as copies, and the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents.

Our opinions expressed below are limited to the law of the State of Minnesota (excluding its conflict of laws principles).

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the qualifications, assumptions and limitations set forth herein, it is our opinion as of this date that:

- 1. The Company is a corporation that is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Minnesota.
- 2. The Company has the corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations set forth in the Indenture. The execution and delivery by the Company of the Indenture, and the performance by the Company of its obligations set forth therein, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, and the Indenture has been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Company.
- 3. The execution and delivery by the Company of the Indenture and the performance by the Company of its obligations set forth therein (a) do not violate the Company Organizational Documents and (b) do not violate any existing Minnesota law or regulation applicable to the Company.

This opinion is provided solely in connection with your filing of the Registration Statement and may be relied upon only in connection with the filing of such Registration

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Page 3

August 5, 2016

Statement. Our opinion may not be quoted by, referred to or relied upon for any other purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP may rely on this opinion for the sole purpose of providing its opinion to be filed with respect to the Registration Statement.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter with the Commission in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement referred to above. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission issued thereunder.

Very truly yours,

FREDRIKSON & BYRON, P.A.

By: /s/ Mark H. Tranovich

Its: Vice President

HUSCH BLACKWELL

190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 600 St. Louis, MO 63105

Main: 314.480.1500 Fax: 314.480.1505

August 5, 2016

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

RE: Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc.
Registration Statement on Form S-4 in connection with \$600,000,000
Aggregate Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special local counsel to Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc., a Missouri corporation ("Sealy Kansas City") in connection with that certain Registration Statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") filed by Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (the "Issuer") and certain subsidiaries of the Issuer, including Sealy Kansas City, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), relating to the issuance by the Issuer of the Issuer's \$600,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes") and the guarantee as to the payment of principal and interest on the Exchange Notes as set forth in Article 10 of the "Indenture" (as such term is hereinafter defined) (the "Exchange Note Guarantees") by subsidiaries of the Issuer (including Sealy Kansas City). Pursuant to the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement, the Issuer is offering to exchange in the exchange offer up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of its outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Old Notes") which have not been registered under the Act, and to exchange the Exchange Note Guarantees for the existing guarantees as to the payment of principal and interest on the Old Notes by certain subsidiaries of the Issuer. The Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees will be registered under the Act as set forth in the Registration Statement and will be issued pursuant to the provisions of an Indenture dated as of May 24, 2016, among the Issuer, other subsidiaries of the Issuer listed on the signature pages thereof and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Indenture"). This opinion is being delivered in connection with an opinion required by Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Act. This opinion letter is limited to the matters expressly stated herein and no opinions are to be inferred beyond the opinions expressly so

HUSCHBLACKWELL

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 2

Section 1. The documents we have examined for purposes of this opinion are the following documents:

- 1.1. Originals as signed, or copies of originals showing signatures and identified to us as true copies of originals as signed, of the following documents each dated as set forth herein:
 - (a) The Indenture, including the provisions relating to the Exchange Note Guarantees;
 - (b) An undated specimen form of the Exchange Notes;
 - (c) Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. Directors' Consent to Action in Lieu of Meeting dated as of May 16, 2016 as certified by the corporate secretary of Sealy Kansas City in the Opinion Certificate as hereinafter defined; and
 - (d) The Certificate of the Secretary of Sealy Kansas City dated as of even date herewith with respect to certain facts necessary for this opinion (the "Opinion Certificate").

1.2. We have also examined:

- (a) A copy of the Certificate of Corporate Records of Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc. issued by the Secretary of State of Missouri dated May 11, 2016 to which is attached the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sealy Kansas City (the "Amended and Restated Articles") and to which there have been no changes as certified by the Assistant Secretary of Sealy Kansas City in the Opinion Certificate;
 - (b) The Bylaws of Sealy Kansas City certified by the corporate secretary of Sealy Kansas City in the Opinion Certificate (the "Bylaws"); and
- (c) The Good Standing Certificate of the Secretary of State of Missouri issued with respect to Sealy Kansas City dated August 1, 2016 (the "Good Standing Certificate").

The documents listed in <u>Sections 1.1(a)</u> and <u>1.1(b)</u> above are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Transaction Documents**." The Amended and Restated Articles and the Bylaws are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Organizational Documents**". The Amended and Restated Articles and the Good Standing Certificate are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Public Documents**". All of the documents set forth in <u>Subsections 1.1</u> and <u>1.2</u> are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Documents**."

HUSCH BLACKWELL

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 3

In rendering the following opinions, as to factual matters that affect our opinions, we have relied on (and assumed the accuracy of) representations and warranties of Sealy Kansas City set forth in the Transaction Documents, certificates, statements and other representations of officers of Sealy Kansas City set forth in the Opinion Certificate and the statements of public officials set forth in the Public Documents. We have also assumed the legal capacity of all natural persons and the genuineness of all signatures. We have further assumed that the information upon which we have relied is accurate, that none of such information, if any, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not misleading. We have not reviewed other records, documents, certificates or instruments, or conducted any other investigations (beyond our review of the Documents) for purposes of rendering the opinions expressed below.

- **Section 2.** Based on the foregoing and in reliance thereon and on the assumptions and subject to the qualifications and limitations set forth in this opinion, we are of the opinion that:
 - 2.1. Sealy Kansas City is a corporation validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Missouri.
 - 2.2. Sealy Kansas City has all necessary corporate power and authority to perform its obligations under the Indenture.
- 2.3. The performance by Sealy Kansas City of the Indenture is not in contravention of or in conflict with any term or provision of the Organizational Documents, or the statutes, regulations or other laws of Missouri.
- **Section 3.** Our opinions are based on the assumptions upon which we have relied and are subject to the qualifications and limitations set forth in this letter including the following:
- 3.1. Without limiting the foregoing, no opinion is expressed herein with respect to (a) the qualification of the Exchange Notes or the Exchange Note Guarantees under the securities or blue sky laws of any federal, state or any foreign jurisdiction, or (b) the compliance with any federal or state law, rule or regulation relating to securities, or to the sale or issuance thereof.

This opinion may only be used in connection with the Registration Statement, it is limited to matters governed by the General and Business Corporation Law of Missouri and only as to the matters expressly set forth herein; no opinion should be inferred as to any other matter. We specifically acknowledge that the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP will rely upon this opinion letter in connection with the opinion letter to be filed by such firm with respect to the Registration Statement. This opinion letter is rendered as of the date hereof, and we disclaim any obligation to advise you of facts, circumstances, events or developments including without limitation, future changes in applicable law that hereafter may be brought to our attention and that may alter, affect or modify the opinions expressed herein. This letter is our opinion as to certain legal conclusions as specifically set forth herein and is not and should not be deemed to be a representation or opinion as to any factual matters.

HUSCH BLACKWELL

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 4

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter with the Commission in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement referred to above. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission issued thereunder.

Very truly yours,

/s/ HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP

HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special counsel in the State of North Carolina (the "State") for SEALY TECHNOLOGY LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the "Guarantor"), a subsidiary of Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), in connection with that certain registration statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") filed by the Company, and certain subsidiaries, including the Guarantor, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), relating to the issuance of the Company's 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes") and the guarantees as to the payment of principal and interest on the Exchange Notes (the "Exchange Note Guarantees") by each of the entities listed in the Registration Statement as Guarantors (the "Guarantors").

Pursuant to the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement (the "Prospectus"), the Company is offering to exchange in the exchange offer (the "Exchange Offer") up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of its outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Old Notes"), which have not been registered under the Act, and to exchange the Exchange Note Guarantees for the existing guarantees as to the payment of principal and interest on the Old Notes by certain guarantors. The Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guarantees will be registered under the Act as set forth in the Registration Statement and will be issued pursuant to the provisions of an Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016 (the "Indenture") among the Company, the subsidiaries of the Company listed on the signature pages thereto, as guarantors and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the "Trustee").

This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Act. This opinion letter is limited to the matters expressly stated herein, and no opinions are to be inferred or may be implied beyond the opinions expressly as stated.

In rendering the opinions hereinafter set forth, we have reviewed final forms of the following documents (collectively, the "Documents"):

(i) The Indenture, including the provisions related to the Exchange Note Guarantees;

- (ii) A specimen form of the Exchange Notes;
- (iii) The Articles of Organization of SEALY TECHNOLOGY LLC;
- (iv) The Operating Agreement of SEALY TECHNOLOGY LLC;
- (v) Certain resolutions adopted by the sole Member of the Guarantor appointing a Board of Directors and authorizing such Board of Directors to make decisions with respect to the management of the business and affairs of the Guarantor, certain resolutions adopted by the sole Member and Sole Manager of the Guarantor replacing one of the directors of the Guarantor and certain resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor relating to the approval of the Opinion Documents and related matters;
- (vi) A Certificate of Existence with respect to Guarantor from the state of North Carolina dated August 1, 2016, a copy of which is delivered with this opinion (the "Certificate of Existence");
- (vii) Certificate from the Manager of Guarantor with respect to certain factual matters contained therein (the "Manager's Certificate").
- (viii) Certificate as to Incumbency and Signatures of Certain Officers.

The documents referenced in items (i) and (ii) above, inclusive, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Opinion Documents." We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such records of the Guarantor, certificates of public officials, certificates of officers or representative of the Guarantor and others, and such other documents, certificates and records as we have deemed necessary or appropriate to form the basis for the opinions set forth herein.

For purposes of the opinions expressed below, we have relied, without investigation or independent verification, on each of the following assumptions: (i) the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, (ii) the conformity to the originals of all documents submitted as certified or photostatic copies and the authenticity of the originals thereof, (iii) the legal capacity of natural persons, (iv) the genuineness of all signatures, (v) the due authorization, execution and delivery of all documents by all parties and the validity, binding effect and enforceability thereof (other than the authorization, execution and delivery of the Opinion Documents, respectively, by the Guarantor, as the case may be), (vi) the person conducting the execution, delivery and performance of the Opinion Documents on behalf of the Guarantor is an officer of the Guarantor pursuant to the Guarantor's Operating Agreement, and (vii) as to factual matters, the truthfulness of the representations and statements included in the Documents and in the certificates of public officials and officers and representatives of the Guarantor.

"Applicable Laws" means the laws, rules and regulations of the State of North Carolina that in our experience are normally applicable to the Guarantor, the Opinion Documents or transactions of the type contemplated in the Opinion Documents. However, the term "Applicable Laws"

expressly does not include the following non-exhaustive list of legal issues or laws or regulations:

- (i) Any state or federal laws, rules or regulations relating to: (A) pollution or protection of the environment; (B) zoning, land use, building or construction; (C) occupational safety and health or other similar matters; (D) labor or employee rights or benefits, including without limitation the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended; (E) the regulation of utilities; (F) antitrust and trade regulation; (G) tax; (H) securities, including without limitation federal and state securities laws, rules or regulations and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"); (I) corrupt practices, including without limitation the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended; (J) insurance; (K) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act; (L) copyrights, patents, service marks and trademarks; and (M) receivership or conservatorship; (N) laws, rules and regulations relating to money laundering and terrorist groups (including any requirements imposed under the USA Patriot Act of 2001, as amended);
- (ii) Any laws, rules or regulations of any county, municipality or similar political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof.
- (iii) Any laws, rules or regulations that are applicable to the Guarantor, the Opinion Documents or such transactions solely because such laws, rules or regulations are part of a regulatory regime applicable to any party to the Opinion Documents or any of its affiliates because of the specific assets or business of such other party or such affiliate.

Further, we have considered such matters of law and fact as we, in our professional judgment, have deemed appropriate to render the opinions contained herein. Where we have considered it appropriate, as to certain facts we have relied, without investigation or analysis of any underlying data contained therein, upon certificates and oral or written statements and other information or other comparable documents of public officials and officers or other representatives of Guarantor. Further, our conclusions are subject to general principles of public policy and equity and interpretations by various administrative authorities who are vested with broad discretionary powers. Additionally, changes in personnel in agencies can affect the operational meaning of the various applicable statutes and regulations.

We have no knowledge of the underlying business operations of the Guarantor. Without limiting the foregoing, other than the agreements, instruments and certificates specified in this Opinion, we have not made any review of any public records, or any other independent review or investigation of agreements, instruments, orders, judgments or decrees by which Guarantor is bound, nor have we made any independent investigation as to the existence of actions, suits, investigations or proceedings, if any, pending or threatened against Guarantor or any other person.

With your permission, with respect to our Opinion expressed in Paragraph 1 below, we have relied exclusively upon the Certificate of Existence described more fully in Item (vi) above and, to update such Certificate of Existence, the Manager's Certificate described more fully in Item (vii) above.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the qualifications, assumptions and limitations set forth herein, we are of the opinion that:

- 1. The Guarantor is a North Carolina limited liability company in existence under the laws of the State.
- 2. The Guarantor has the limited liability company power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under the Indenture.
- 3. The execution, delivery and performance of the Indenture has been duly authorized by all necessary limited liability company action on the part of the Guarantor.
- 4. The Indenture has been duly executed and delivered by Guarantor.
- 5. The execution and delivery of the Indenture by the Guarantor does not and the performance of the Indenture by the Guarantor will not (i) violate the Articles of Organization or Operating Agreement of the Guarantor, or (ii) violate any applicable provisions of Applicable Laws that are material to Guarantor and its business.

We express no opinion as to matters governed by the laws of any jurisdiction other than the laws of the State of North Carolina.

This opinion letter speaks only as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update or supplement this opinion letter if any applicable laws change after the date of this opinion letter or if we become aware after the date of this opinion letter of any facts, whether existing before or arising after the date hereof, that might change the opinions expressed above.

This opinion letter is furnished in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement and, except as set forth below, may not be relied upon for any other purpose without our prior written consent in each instance. Further, no portion of this letter may be quoted, circulated or referred to in any other document for any other purpose without our prior written consent.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, LLP may rely upon this opinion letter in connection with the opinion letter to be filed by such firm with respect to the Registration Statement.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter with the Commission in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement referred to above. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission issued thereunder.

Very Truly Yours,

McGUIRE, WOOD & BISSETTE, P.A.

By: _/s/ Peter U. Kanipe

Peter U. Kanipe



52 East Gay Street P.O. Box 1008 Columbus, Ohio 43216-1008 614.464.6400 | www.vorys.com Founded 1909

August 5, 2016

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. 1000 Tempur Way Lexington, Kentucky 40511

> Re: Registration Statement on Form S-4 Relating to \$600,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special local counsel in the State of Ohio (the "State") to Sealy Mattress Company, Sealy, Inc., and Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico, each of which is an Ohio corporation (collectively, the "Ohio Guarantors"), in connection with that certain registration statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") filed on August 5, 2016, by Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and certain subsidiaries of the Company, including the Ohio Guarantors, with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"). The Registration Statement relates to the issuance by the Company of its 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes") and the guaranties as to the Company's obligations under the Exchange Notes (the "Exchange Note Guaranties") by each of the entities listed in the Registration Statement as guarantors (the "Guarantors"), including the Ohio Guarantors.

Pursuant to the prospectus forming a part of the Registration Statement, the Company is offering to exchange in an exchange offer up to \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes for a like principal amount of its outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Old Notes"), which have not been registered under the Act, and to exchange the Exchange Note Guaranties for the existing guaranties as to the Company's obligations under the Old Notes by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Exchange Notes and the Exchange Note Guaranties are being registered under the Act as set forth in the Registration Statement and are being issued pursuant to the provisions of an Indenture, dated as of May 24, 2016 (the "Indenture"), among the Company, as issuer, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee").

This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Act. This opinion letter is limited to the matters expressly stated herein, and no opinions are to be inferred or may be implied beyond the opinions expressly so stated.

Columbus | Washington | Cleveland | Cincinnati | Akron | Houston | Pittsburgh



Legal Counsel

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 2

In connection with the foregoing, we have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of the following documents:

- (a) The Indenture, including the provisions relating to the Exchange Note Guaranties;
- (b) A specimen form of Exchange Note;
- (c) The Certificates of Good Standing dated as of August 1, 2016, issued by the Ohio Secretary of State with respect to each of the Ohio Guarantors, respectively, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Officer's Certificate for each Ohio Guarantor, respectively (each, a "Good Standing Certificate");
- (d) A copy of the Articles of Incorporation of each of the Ohio Guarantors, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Officer's Certificate for each Ohio Guarantor, respectively (collectively, the "Articles");
- (e) A copy of the Code of Regulations of each of the Ohio Guarantors, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Officer's Certificate for each Ohio Guarantor, respectively (together with the Articles, the "Organizational Documents"); and
 - (f) Certificates of an officer of each of the Ohio Guarantors (the "Officer's Certificates"), as to certain questions of fact material to our opinions herein.

We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such records of the Ohio Guarantors, certificates of public officials, certificates of officers or representatives of the Ohio Guarantors and others, and such other documents, certificates and records as we have deemed necessary or appropriate to form the basis for the opinions set forth herein.

In rendering this opinion letter, we have assumed, with your consent and without having made any independent investigation or verification of any facts relating thereto, the following: (i) the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, (ii) the conformity to the originals of all documents submitted as certified or photostatic copies and the authenticity of the originals thereof, (iii) the legal capacity of natural persons, (iv) the genuineness of all signatures, (v) the due authorization, execution and delivery of all documents by all parties and the validity, binding effect and enforceability thereof (other than the authorization, execution and delivery of the Indenture by the Ohio Guarantors), and (vi) as to factual matters, the truthfulness of the representations and statements included in the Indenture, the Officer's Certificates and the certificates of public officials.



Legal Counsel

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 3

Further, we have made no independent investigation of the records or files of the Ohio Guarantors (other than our review of the Organizational Documents of each Ohio Guarantor and the Indenture), and have made no attempt to verify any information, if any, which may have been provided to us by any other person. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, we have made no examination of the character, organization, activities or authority of any party to the Indenture (except with respect to the Ohio Guarantors, to the extent specifically described herein) which might have any effect upon our opinions expressed herein.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the qualifications, assumptions and limitations set forth herein, we are of the opinion that:

- 1. Each Ohio Guarantor is a corporation validly existing and, based solely on the Good Standing Certificate for such Guarantor, in good standing in the State.
 - 2. Each Ohio Guarantor has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under the Indenture.
 - 3. The Indenture has been duly executed and delivered by each Ohio Guarantor.
- 4. The execution, delivery and the performance of the Indenture by each Ohio Guarantor have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of such Ohio Guarantor.
- 5. The execution and delivery of the Indenture by each Ohio Guarantor do not, and the performance of the Indenture by each Ohio Guarantor will not (i) violate the Organizational Documents of such Guarantor, or (ii) violate any State statute, law or regulation which in our experience is normally applicable to transactions of the nature contemplated by the Indenture.

Our opinion in paragraph 1 above regarding the valid existence and good standing of the Ohio Guarantors under State law is based solely upon our review of good standing certificates issued by the Ohio Secretary of State. The phrase "corporate power and authority" in paragraph 2 above means, with respect to the Ohio Guarantors, the power and authority under the Ohio General Corporation Law and the respective Organizational Documents of each Ohio Guarantor.

We express no opinion as to matters governed by the statutes, laws or regulations of any jurisdiction other than the State.

Our opinions expressed herein are based upon our review of those statutes, laws and regulations of the State that, in our experience, are normally applicable to transactions of the nature provided for in the Indenture, but without having made any review of any other statutes, laws or regulations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, we have not conducted



Legal Counsel

Tempur Sealy International, Inc. August 5, 2016 Page 4

requisite factual or legal examinations, and accordingly we express no opinion, except as set forth herein, with respect to the application, if any, of statutes, laws or regulations concerning or promulgated by (i) environmental effects or agencies; (ii) fraudulent dispositions or obligations (R.C. Chapter 1336 and R.C. Section 1313.56); (iii) securities laws; (iv) any county, city, town, municipality or other political subdivision of the State, (v) any order of any court or other authority directed specifically to any party to the Indenture; (vi) any taxes or tax effect; (vii) industries of which the operations, financial affairs or profits are regulated by the State (for example, banks and thrifts institutions); (viii) racketeer influenced and corrupt organizations (RICO) statutes; (ix) utility regulation; (x) intellectual property laws; (xi) the necessity of any party to qualify to do business in the State; or (xii) antitrust laws.

This opinion letter is given as of the date hereof, and we disclaim any obligation to update this opinion letter for events occurring after the date of this opinion letter.

This opinion letter may be used only in connection with the Registration Statement and, except as set forth below, may not be used for any other purpose without our prior written consent in each instance.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter with the Commission in connection with the filing of the Registration Statement referred to above. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the Rules and Regulations of the Commission issued thereunder.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP

COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

		Aonth Ended		Fiscal Yea	r Ended De	cember 31,	
(in millions)	June 3	0, 2016	2015	2014	2013(1)	2012	2011
Earnings(2)	\$	84.8	\$197.3	\$168.6	\$126.1	\$229.2	\$328.4
Fixed Charges:							
Interest expense and amortization of debt discount and financing cost		44.5	96.1	91.9	110.8	18.8	11.9
Loss on extinguishment of debt(3)		47.2	_	_	_	_	_
Estimate of the interest within the rental expense		0.7	2.6	2.3	1.8	0.4	0.5
Total Fixed Charges		92.4	\$ 98.7	\$ 94.2	\$112.6	\$ 19.2	\$ 12.4
Earnings Before Fixed Charges	\$	177.2	\$296.0	\$262.8	\$238.7	\$248.4	\$340.8
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges		1.9x	3.0x	2.8x	2.1x	12.9x	27.5x

⁽¹⁾ Includes Sealy results of operations from March 18, 2013 through December 31, 2013. Information presented for periods prior to March 18, 2013 do not include Sealy and as a result, the information may not be comparable. Refer to Note 3, "Acquisitions and Divestitures" in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in PART II, ITEM 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, incorporated by reference herein.

⁽²⁾ Earnings includes income before income taxes adjusted to exclude equity income in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates and (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest and include dividends received from unconsolidated affiliates.

⁽³⁾ Loss on extinguishment of debt represents costs associated with the completion of the 2016 Credit Agreement and 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 offering in the second quarter of 2016. Excluding the effect of the loss on extinguishment of debt, the Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges for the six months ended June 30, 2016 is 3.9x.

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" in the Registration Statement (Form S-4) and to the incorporation by reference therein of our reports dated February 12, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Subsidiaries, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. and Subsidiaries, included in its Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Louisville, Kentucky August 5, 2016

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM T-1

STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY
UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939
OF A CORPORATION DESIGNATED TO ACT AS TRUSTEE

☐ CHECK IF AN APPLICATION TO DETERMINE ELIGIBILITY OF A TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO SECTION 305(b)(2)

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

(Exact name of trustee as specified in its charter)

(State of incorporation if not a U.S. national bank)

95-3571558 (I.R.S. employer identification no.)

400 South Hope Street
Suite 500
Los Angeles, California
(Address of principal executive offices)

90071 (Zip code)

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

Legal Department
225 Liberty Street
New York, New York 10286
212-635-1270
(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

TEMPUR SEALY INTERNATIONAL, INC. (Exact name of obligor as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

33-1022198 (I.R.S. employer identification no.)

1000 Tempur Way
Lexington, Kentucky
(Address of principal executive offices)

40511 (Zip code)

5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 Guarantees of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (Title of the Indenture Securities)

Table of Guarantor Co-Registrants

Name	State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation/ Formation	Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number	I.R.S. Employer Identification Number
Tempur World, LLC	Delaware	2510	61-1364709
Tempur-Pedic Management, LLC	Delaware	2510	26-2807648
Tempur-Pedic North America, LLC	Delaware	2510	20-0798531
Tempur-Pedic Technologies, Inc.	Delaware	2510	20-8165334
Tempur Production USA, LLC	Virginia	2510	61-1368322
Cocoon International Sales, LLC	Delaware	2510	33-1069158
Tempur-Pedic Manufacturing, Inc.	Delaware	2510	26-2821802
Tempur-Pedic Sales, Inc.	Delaware	2510	26-2821774
Tempur Retail Stores, LLC	Delaware	2510	61-1666069
Tempur Sealy International Distribution, LLC	Delaware	2510	46-4713308
Sealy Corporation	Delaware	2510	36-3284147
Sealy Mattress Corporation	Delaware	2510	20-1178482
Sealy Mattress Company	Ohio	2510	34-0439410
Ohio-Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Co.	Georgia	2510	58-1186228
Sealy Mattress Company of Kansas City, Inc.	Missouri	2510	44-0523533
Sealy Mattress Company of Illinois	Illinois	2510	36-1853967
A. Brandwein & Co.	Illinois	2510	36-2525330
Sealy Mattress Company of Albany, Inc.	New York	2510	14-1325596
Sealy of Maryland and Virginia, Inc.	Maryland	2510	52-1192669
Sealy of Minnesota, Inc.	Minnesota	2510	41-1227650
Sealy, Inc.	Ohio	2510	34-1439379
The Ohio Mattress Company Licensing and Components Group	Delaware	2510	36-1750335
Sealy Mattress Manufacturing Company, Inc.	Delaware	2510	36-3209918
Sealy Technology LLC	North Carolina	2510	56-2168370
Sealy Mattress Company of Puerto Rico	Ohio	2510	34-6544153
Sealy Texas Management, Inc.	Texas	2510	75-1491047
Sealy US Sales, LLC	Delaware	2510	32-0480178

- 1. General information. Furnish the following information as to the trustee:
 - (a) Name and address of each examining or supervising authority to which it is subject.

<u>Name</u> Address

Comptroller of the Currency

United States Department of the Treasury

Federal Reserve Bank

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Washington, D.C. 20219 San Francisco, California 94105

Washington, D.C. 20429

b) Whether it is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.

Yes.

2. Affiliations with Obligor.

If the obligor is an affiliate of the trustee, describe each such affiliation.

None.

3-15. Not applicable.

16. List of Exhibits.

Exhibits identified in parentheses below, on file with the Commission, are incorporated herein by reference as an exhibit hereto, pursuant to Rule 7a-29 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (the "Act") and 17 C.F.R. 229.10(d).

- 1. A copy of the articles of association of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (Exhibit 1 to Form T-1 filed as Exhibit 25.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-121948 and Exhibit 1 to Form T-1 filed as Exhibit 25.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 No. 333-152875).
- 2. A copy of certificate of authority of the trustee to commence business. (Exhibit 2 to Form T-1 filed as Exhibit 25.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-152875).
- 3. A copy of the authorization of the trustee to exercise corporate trust powers. (Exhibit 3 to Form T-1 filed as Exhibit 25.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-152875).
- 4. A copy of the existing by-laws of the trustee. (Exhibit 4 to Form T-1 filed as Exhibit 25.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No. 333-152875).
- 6. The consent of the trustee required by Section 321(b) of the Act.
- 7. A copy of the latest report of condition of the trustee published pursuant to law or to the requirements of its supervising or examining authority.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Act, the trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, has duly caused this statement of eligibility to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, all in The City of Chicago, and State of Illinois on the 5th day of August, 2016.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

By: /s/ Richard Tarnas

Name: Richard Tarnas Title: Vice President

EXHIBIT 6

CONSENT OF THE TRUSTEE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 321 (b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, and in connection with the proposed issue of Tempur Sealy International, Inc., The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. hereby consents that reports of examinations by Federal, State, Territorial or District authorities may be furnished by such authorities to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request therefore.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

By: /s/ Richard Tarnas

Richard Tarnas Vice President

Chicago, Illinois August 5, 2016

Consolidated Report of Condition of THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A. of 400 South Hope Street, Suite 500, Los Angeles, CA 90071

At the close of business March 31, 2016, published in accordance with Federal regulatory authority instructions.

	Dollar amounts in thousands
<u>ASSETS</u>	
Cash and balances due from depository institutions:	
Noninterest-bearing balances and currency and coin	3,785
Interest-bearing balances	377,955
Securities:	
Held-to-maturity securities	0
Available-for-sale securities	616,663
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell:	
Federal funds sold	0
Securities purchased under agreements to resell	0
Loans and lease financing receivables:	
Loans and leases held for sale	0
Loans and leases, net of unearned income	0
LESS: Allowance for loan and lease losses	0
Loans and leases, net of unearned income and allowance	0
Trading assets	0
Premises and fixed assets (including capitalized leases)	10,952
Other real estate owned	0
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies	0
Direct and indirect investments in real estate ventures	0
Intangible assets:	
Goodwill	856,313
Other intangible assets	70,697
Other assets	121,423
Total assets	\$2,057,788

<u>LIABILITIES</u>	
Deposits:	
In domestic offices	509
Noninterest-bearing	509
Interest-bearing	0
Not applicable	
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase:	
Federal funds purchased	0
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase	0
Trading liabilities	0
Other borrowed money:	
(includes mortgage indebtedness and obligations under capitalized leases)	0
Not applicable	
Not applicable	
Subordinated notes and debentures	0
Other liabilities	289,496
Total liabilities	290,005
Not applicable	
EQUITY CAPITAL	
Perpetual preferred stock and related surplus	0
Common stock	1,000
Surplus (exclude all surplus related to preferred stock)	1,122,532
Not available	
Retained earnings	643,735
Accumulated other comprehensive income	516
Other equity capital components	0
Not available	
Total bank equity capital	1,767,783
Noncontrolling (minority) interests in consolidated subsidiaries	0
Total equity capital	1,767,783
Total liabilities and equity capital	2,057,788

I, Matthew J. McNulty, CFO of the above-named bank do hereby declare that the Reports of Condition and Income (including the supporting schedules) for this report date have been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and are true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Matthew J. McNulty) CFO

We, the undersigned directors (trustees), attest to the correctness of the Report of Condition (including the supporting schedules) for this report date and declare that it has been examined by us and to the best of our knowledge and belief has been prepared in conformance with the instructions issued by the appropriate Federal regulatory authority and is true and correct.

Antonio I. Portuondo, President)	
William D. Lindelof, Director)	Directors (Trustees)
Alphonse J. Briand, Director)	

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt as to the action to be taken, you should immediately consult your broker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant, investment advisor or other professional advisor.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL Relating to

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Offer to Exchange
Up to \$600,000,000 Principal Amount Outstanding of
5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (CUSIP Nos. 88023U AE1 and U8801T AC1)
for
a Like Principal Amount of
5.500% Senior Notes due 2026
which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933

Pursuant to the Prospectus dated , 2016

THE EXCHANGE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT MIDNIGHT, NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON, 2016, UNLESS EXTENDED (SUCH DATE AND TIME, AS IT MAYBE EXTENDED, THE "EXPIRATION DATE"). TENDERS MAY BE WITHDRAWN PRIOR TO MIDNIGHT, NEW YORK CITY TIME, ON THE EXPIRATION DATE.

For Delivery by Hand, Overnight Delivery, Registered or Certified Mail

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Exchange Agent c/o The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation
Corporation Trust Operations—Reorganization Unit
111 Sanders Creek Parkway
East Syracuse, New York 13057
Attention: Pamela Adamo

By Facsimile: (732) 667-9408 Corporate Trust—Reorganization Unit

To Confirm by Telephone:
(315) 414-3317
Corporate Trust—Reorganization Unit

For Information, Call: (800) 805-3635 Tempur Sealy International, Inc.—Investor Relations

DELIVERY OF THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL TO AN ADDRESS OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH ABOVE OR TRANSMISSION OF THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL VIA FACSIMILE TO A NUMBER OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH ABOVE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A VALID DELIVERY.

THE INSTRUCTIONS CONTAINED HEREIN SHOULD BE READ CAREFULLY BEFORE THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL IS COMPLETED.

The undersigned acknowledges that he or she has received the Prospectus, dated, 2016 (the "Prospectus"), of Tempur-Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company" or "Tempur Sealy"), and this letter of Transmittal (this "Letter of Transmittal"), which together constitute the Company's offer to exchange (the "Exchange Offer") an aggregate principal amount of up to \$600,000,000 of registered 5.500% Senior Notes due

2026 of the Company (the "Exchange Notes") for an equal principal amount of the Company's outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Original Notes"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the same meaning given to them in the Prospectus.

For each Original Note accepted for exchange, the holder of such Original Note will receive an Exchange Note having a principal amount equal to that of the surrendered Original Note. The Exchange Notes will bear interest at a rate of 5.500% per annum from the most recent date on which interest on the Original Notes has been paid or, if no interest has been paid on such Original Notes, from May 24, 2016. Interest on the Exchange Notes will be payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on December 15, 2016. The Exchange Notes will mature on June 15, 2026. The terms of the Exchange Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes.

If the Exchange Offer has not been consummated on or before May 24, 2017 or in certain other circumstances set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2016, by and between the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers of the Original Notes (the "Registration Rights Agreement"), the Company will be required to pay additional interest as set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement.

The Company has agreed that it will make the Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes for a period ending on the earlier of (i) 180 days from the date on which the registration statement on Form S-4, to which the Prospectus forms apart, became effective (ii) the date on which a broker-dealer is no longer required to deliver a prospectus in connection with market-making or other trading activities and (iii) the date on which all resales of Exchange Notes covered by the registration statement on Form S-4 have been made.

Each holder of Original Notes wishing to participate in the Exchange Offer, except holders of Original Notes executing their tenders through the Automated Tender Offer Program ("ATOP") procedures of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), should complete, sign and submit this Letter of Transmittal to the Exchange Agent, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., on or prior to the Expiration Date.

This Letter of Transmittal may be used to participate in the Exchange Offer if certificates representing Original Notes are to be physically delivered to the Exchange Agent or if Original Notes are to be tendered by effecting a book-entry transfer into the Exchange Agent's account at DTC and instructions are not being transmitted through ATOP, for which the Exchange Offer is eligible. Unless you intend to tender your Original Notes through ATOP, you should complete, execute and deliver this Letter of Transmittal, along with any physical certificates for the Original Notes specified herein, to indicate the action you desire to take with respect to the Exchange Offer.

Holders of Original Notes tendering by book-entry transfer to the Exchange Agent's account at DTC may execute tenders through ATOP, for which the Exchange Offer is eligible. Financial institutions that are nominees in DTC, including Euroclear and Clearstream, may execute tenders through ATOP by electronically transmitting acceptance of the Exchange Offer to DTC on or prior to the Expiration Date. DTC will verify acceptance of the Exchange Offer, execute a book-entry transfer of the tendered Original Notes into the account of the Exchange Agent at DTC and send to the Exchange Agent a "book-entry confirmation", which shall include an Agent's Message. An "Agent's Message" is a message, transmitted by DTC to, and received by, the Exchange Agent and forming part of a book-entry confirmation, which states that DTC has received an express acknowledgement from an organization that participates in DTC (a "participant") tendering Original Notes that the participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms of this Letter of Transmittal as an undersigned hereof and that the Company may enforce such agreement against the participant Delivery of the Agent's Message by DTC will

satisfy the terms of the Exchange Offer as to execution and delivery of a Letter of Transmittal by the DTC participant identified in the Agent's Message. Accordingly, holders who tender their Original Notes through DTC's ATOP procedures shall be bound by but need not complete, this Letter of Transmittal.

If you are a beneficial owner that holds Original Notes through Euroclear or Clearstream and wish to tender your Original Notes, you must instruct Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, to block the account in respect of the tendered Original Notes in accordance with the procedures established by Euroclear or Clearstream. You are encouraged to contact Euroclear or Clearstream directly to ascertain their procedures for tendering Original Notes.

Tendering holders of Original Notes must tender Original Notes in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. Exchange Notes will be issued in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. Any holder that is a bank, broker, or other custodial entity holding Original Notes on behalf of more than one beneficial owner may submit to the Exchange Agent a list of the aggregate principal amount of Original Notes owned by each such beneficial owner, and the Exchange Agent, in determining the aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes to be issued to such holder, will treat each such beneficial owner as a separate holder.

Holders that anticipate tendering Original Notes in exchange for Exchange Notes and delivering this Letter of Transmittal and other documents other than through DTC, are urged to contact promptly a bank, broker or other intermediary (that has the capability to hold securities custodially through DTC) to arrange for receipt of any Original Notes to be delivered pursuant to the Exchange Offer and to obtain the information necessary to provide the required DTC participant with account information in this Letter of Transmittal.

Tempur Sealy reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to (i) delay accepting any Original Notes, to extend the Exchange Offer or to terminate the Exchange Offer if, in its reasonable judgment, any of the conditions described in the Prospectus have not been satisfied, by giving oral notice (to be followed by prompt written notice) or written notice of the delay, extension or termination to the Exchange Agent; or (ii) amend the terms of the Exchange Offer in any manner. If Tempur Sealy amends the Exchange Offer in a manner that it considers material, it will disclose such amendment by means of a prospectus supplement, and it will extend the Exchange Offer for a period of five to ten business days. If Tempur Sealy determines to extend, amend or terminate the Exchange Offer, it will publicly announce this determination by making a timely release through an appropriate news agency. If Tempur Sealy delays accepting any Original Notes or terminates the Exchange Offer, it promptly will pay the consideration offered, or return any Original Notes deposited, pursuant to the Exchange Offer as required by Rule 14e-l(c). The term "Expiration Date" shall then mean the latest date and time to which the Exchange Offer is extended.

The undersigned has completed the appropriate boxes below and signed this Letter of Transmittal to indicate the action the undersigned desires to take with respect to the Exchange Offer.

TENDER OF ORIGINAL NOTES PLEASE READ THE ACCOMPANYING INSTRUCTIONS CAREFULLY

To effect a valid tender of Original Notes through the completion, execution and delivery of this Letter of Transmittal, the undersigned must complete the tables below entitled "**Method of Delivery**" and "**Description of Original Notes Tendered**" and sign this Letter of Transmittal where indicated.

Exchange Notes will be delivered in book-entry form through DTC and only to the DTC account of the undersigned or the undersigned's custodian, as specified in the table below entitled "Method of Delivery".

Failure to provide the information necessary to effect delivery of Exchange Notes will render such holder's tender defective, and Tempur Sealy will have the right, which it may waive, to reject such tender without notice.

METHOD OF DELIVERY
\Box CHECK HERE IF PHYSICAL CERTIFICATES FOR TENDERED ORIGINAL NOTES ARE BEING DELIVERED HEREWITH.
□ CHECK HERE IF TENDERED ORIGINAL NOTES ARE BEING DELIVERED BY BOOK ENTRY TRANSFER MADE TO THE ACCOUNT MAINTAINED BY THE EXCHANGE AGENT WITH DTC.
PROVIDE BELOW THE NAME OF THE DTC PARTICIPANT AND PARTICIPANT'S ACCOUNT NUMBER IN WHICH THE TENDERED ORIGINAL NOTES ARE HELD AND/OR THE CORRESPONDING EXCHANGE NOTES ARE TO BE DELIVERED.
Name of Tendering Institution:
Name of Tendering Institution: DTC Participant Number:
DTC Participant Number:

List below the Original Notes to which this Letter of Transmittal relates. If the space provided below is inadequate, the numbers and principal amount at maturity of Original Notes should be listed on a separate signed schedule affixed hereto.

DESCRIPTION OF ORIGINAL NOTES TENDERED				
	1	2	3	
Name(s) and Address(es) of Registered Holders) (Please fill in, if blank)	Certificate Number(s)*	Aggregate Principal Amount of Original Notes Represented	Principal Amount Tendered**	
	Total			

* Need not be completed if Original Notes are being tendered by book-entry transfer.

Note: SIGNATURES MUST BE PROVIDED BELOW.

^{**} Unless otherwise indicated in this column, a holder will be deemed to have tendered ALL of the Original Notes represented by the Original Notes indicated in column 2. See Instruction 2 below.

The principal amount of Original Notes tendered hereby must be in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. See Instruction 1 below.

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer, the undersigned hereby tenders to Tempur Sealy the aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes indicated above. Subject to, and effective upon, the acceptance for exchange of the Original Notes tendered hereby, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers to, or upon the order of, Tempur Sealy all right, title and interest in and to such Original Notes as are being tendered hereby. The undersigned hereby irrevocably appoints the Exchange Agent as the undersigned's true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact with respect to such tendered Original Notes, with full power of substitution, among other things, to cause the Original Notes to be assigned, transferred and exchanged (with full knowledge that the Exchange Agent is also acting as agent of Tempur Sealy in connection with the Exchange Offer).

The undersigned hereby represents and warrants that (i) the undersigned has full power and authority to tender, exchange, sell, assign and transfer the Original Notes tendered hereby and that Tempur Sealy will acquire good, marketable and unencumbered title to the Original Notes, free and clear of all liens, restrictions, charges, pledges, security interests and encumbrances or other rights of any kind of third parties and not subject to any adverse claim when the Original Notes are accepted by Tempur Sealy; (ii) the Exchange Notes acquired in connection with the Exchange Offer are being obtained in the ordinary course of business of the person receiving the Exchange Notes; (iii) at the time of commencement of the Exchange Offer, the undersigned is not engaged in, and does not intend to engage in, and has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of such Exchange Notes; (iv) the undersigned is not an "affiliate" (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) of Tempur Sealy or its subsidiaries; and (v) if the undersigned is a broker-dealer, (x) the undersigned is not engaged in, and does not intend to engage in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes, (y) the undersigned will receive Exchange Notes for the undersigned's own account in exchange for Original Notes that were acquired by it as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities and (z) the undersigned will be required to acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes; however, by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, the undersigned will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

The undersigned also acknowledges that this Exchange Offer is being made by Tempur Sealy based upon Tempur Sealy's understanding of interpretations by the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") as described in no-action letters issued to third parties (unrelated to Tempur Sealy), that the Exchange Notes issued in exchange for the Original Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be offered for resale, resold and otherwise transferred by holders thereof without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, provided that: (i) the holder is acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of such holder's business; (ii) such holder is not engaged in, does not intend to engage in, and has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in, a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes to be issued in the Exchange Offer; (iii) such holder is not an "affiliate" of the Company as defined under Rule 405 of the Securities Act; and (iv) if such holder is not a broker-dealer, such holder is not engaged in and does not intend to engage in the distribution of the Exchange Notes.

However, Tempur Sealy has not sought its own no-action letter and therefore the staff of the SEC has not considered this Exchange Offer in the context of a no-action letter. There can be no assurance that the staff of the SEC would make a similar determination with respect to the Exchange Offer as in other circumstances. Tempur Sealy believes that the no-action letters referred to above do not apply to a holder who is the Company's "affiliate" within the meaning of Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Tempur Sealy also believes that a holder may offer, sell or transfer the Exchange Notes only if the holder acknowledges that the holder is acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of its business and is not participating, does not intend to participate and has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution of the Exchange Notes. Any holder of the Original Notes using the Exchange Offer to participate in a distribution of Exchange Notes also cannot rely on the no-action letters. Any broker-dealer who holds Original Notes acquired for its own account as

a result of market-making activities or other trading activities and who receives Exchange Notes in exchange for such Original Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be a statutory underwriter, must deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes and must acknowledge such delivery requirement.

The undersigned will, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents deemed by Tempur Sealy or the Exchange Agent to be necessary or desirable to complete the sale, assignment and transfer of the Original Notes tendered hereby. All authority conferred or agreed to be conferred in this Letter of Transmittal and every obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators, trustees in bankruptcy and legal representatives of the undersigned and shall not be affected by, and shall survive, the death or incapacity of the undersigned. This tender may be withdrawn only in accordance with the procedures set forth in "The Exchange Offer—Withdrawal of Tenders" section of the Prospectus.

Unless otherwise indicated in the box entitled "Special Issuance Instructions" below, please deliver the Exchange Notes in the name of the undersigned or, in the case of a book-entry delivery of Original Notes, please credit the account indicated above maintained at DTC. Similarly, unless otherwise indicated under the box entitled "Special Delivery Instructions" below, please send the Exchange Notes to the undersigned at the address shown above in the box entitled "Description of Original Notes Tendered".

THE UNDERSIGNED, BY COMPLETING THE BOX ENTITLED "DESCRIPTION OF ORIGINAL NOTES TENDERED" ABOVE AND SIGNING THIS LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL, WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE TENDERED THE ORIGINAL NOTES AS SET FORTH IN SUCH BOX ABOVE.

SPECIAL ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS (See Instructions 3 and 4 below)

To be completed ONLY if certificates for Original Notes in a principal amount not tendered or not accepted and/or Exchange Notes are to be issued in the name of someone other than the undersigned, or if Original Notes are to be returned by credit to an account maintained by DTC other than the account designated above.

Issue Exchange Notes and/or Original Notes to:
Name(s):
(Please Type or Print)
(Please Type or Print)
A 11
Address:
(Including Zip Code)
Taxpayer Identification Number
(Such person(s) must also complete the
Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a
Form W-8BEN-E, a Form W-8ECI or a
Form W-81MY, as applicable)
Credit unaccepted Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer
to:
(DTC Account Number)

SPECIAL ISSUANCE INSTRUCTIONS (See Instructions 3 and 4 below)

To be completed ONLY if certificates for Original Notes in a principal amount not tendered or not accepted and/or Exchange Notes are to be sent to someone other than the undersigned at an address other than that shown above.

Name(s): (Please Type or Print) (Please Type or Print) Address: (Including Zip Code) Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a Form W-81MY, as applicable)	Deliver Exchange Notes and/or Original Notes to:
(Please Type or Print) Address:	Name(s):
(Including Zip Code) Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	(Please Type or Print)
(Including Zip Code) Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	
(Including Zip Code) Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	(Please Type or Print)
Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	Address:
Taxpayer Identification Number (Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	
(Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	(Including Zip Code)
(Such person(s) must also complete the Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	
Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	Taxpayer Identification Number
Form W-8BEN-,E a Form W-8ECI or a	(Such person(s) must also complete the
•	Substitute Form W-9, a Form W-8BEN, a
Form W-81MY, as applicable)	•
	Form W-81MY, as applicable)

IMPORTANT: This Letter of Transmittal or a facsimile hereof or an Agent's Message in lieu thereof (together with the certificates for Original Notes or a book-entry confirmation and all other required documents) must be received by the Exchange Agent prior to midnight, New York City time, on the Expiration Date.

PLEASE READ THIS ENTIRE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL CAREFULLY BEFORE COMPLETING ANY BOX ABOVE.

IN ORDER TO VALIDLY TENDER ORIGINAL NOTES FOR EXCHANGE, HOLDERS OF ORIGINAL NOTES MUST COMPLETE, EXECUTE, AND DELIVER THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL OR A PROPERLY TRANSMITTED AGENT'S MESSAGE.

HOLDER(S) SIGN HERE

(To be Completed By All Tendering Holders of Original Notes Regardless of Whether Original Notes Are Being Physically Delivered Herewith, <u>Other Than</u> Holders Effecting Delivery Through ATOP)

By completing, executing and delivering this Letter of Transmittal, the undersigned hereby tenders to Tempur Sealy the principal amount of the Original Notes listed in the table above entitled "Description of Original Notes Tendered".

Signature of Registered Holder(s) or	Area Code and	 Date
Authorized Signatory (see guarantee requirement below)	Telephone Number	
Signature of Registered Holder(s) or Authorized Signatory (see guarantee requirement below)	Area Code and Telephone Number	Date
Signature of Registered Holder(s) or Authorized Signatory (see guarantee requirement below)	Area Code and Telephone Number	Date
Signature of Registered Holder(s) or Authorized Signatory (see guarantee requirement below)	Area Code and Telephone Number	Date
If a holder is tendering any Original Notes, this Letter of Tr certificate(s) for the Original Notes or by any person(s) authorize signature is by a trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, attorne set forth full title. See Instruction 3 below.	d to become registered holder(s) by endorsements a	nd documents transmitted herewith.
Name(s):		
	(Please Type or Print)	
Capacity (full title):		
Address:		
	(Include zip code)	
Area Code and Telephone Number:	/	

Tax Identification or Social Security Number:

	SIGNATURE GUARANTEE	
	(If required—See Instruction 3 below)	
Signature(s) Guaranteed by an Eligible Institu	ation:	
	(Authorized Signature)	
	(Name)	
	(Capacity or Title)	
	(Name of Firm)	
	(Address; Include Zip Code)	
	(Area Code and Telephone Number)	
Dated: . 2016		

INSTRUCTIONS FORMING PART OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

1. Delivery of Letter of Transmittal.

This Letter of Transmittal or, in lieu thereof, an Agent's Message stating that the holder has expressly acknowledged receipt of, and agrees to be bound by and held accountable by, this Letter of Transmittal is to be completed by or received with respect to holders of Original Notes whether certificates are to be forwarded herewith or tenders are to be made pursuant to the procedures for delivery by book-entry transfer set forth in "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering" section of the Prospectus. Certificates for all physically tendered Original Notes (or Book-Entry Confirmation), as well as a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or facsimile thereof) and any other documents required by this Letter of Transmittal (or, in lieu thereof, an Agent's Message), must be received by the Exchange Agent at the address set forth herein on or prior to the Expiration Date. Original Notes tendered hereby must be in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and any integral multiple of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

The method of delivery of the Original Notes, this Letter of Transmittal and all other required documents is at the election and risk of the tendering holders. Instead of delivery by mail, it is recommended that holders use an overnight or hand delivery service, properly insured. In all cases, sufficient time should be allowed to assure delivery to and receipt by the Exchange Agent on or prior to the Expiration Date. Holders may request their respective brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies or nominees to effect the tenders for such holders. **No Letter of Transmittal or Original Note should be sent to Tempur Sealy. See "The Exchange Offer" section of the Prospectus.**

2. Partial Tenders (not applicable to holders of Original Note who tender by book-entry transfer); Withdrawals.

If less than all of the Original Notes evidenced by a submitted certificate are to be tendered, the tendering holder(s) should fill in the aggregate principal amount of Original Notes to be tendered in the box above entitled "Description of Original Notes Tendered—Principal Amount Tendered." A newly reissued certificate for the Original Notes submitted but not tendered will be sent to such holder as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date. All of the Original Notes delivered to the Exchange Agent will be deemed to have been tendered unless otherwise clearly indicated.

If not yet accepted, a tender pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to the Expiration Date. For a withdrawal of a tender with respect to the Original Notes to be effective, a written or facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal must be received by the Exchange Agent prior to the Expiration Date at its address set forth above. The withdrawal notice must: (i) specify the name of the tendering holder of Original Notes; (ii) bear a description, including the series, of the Original Notes to be withdrawn; (iii) specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the certificate numbers shown on the particular certificates evidencing those Original Notes; (iv) specify the aggregate principal amount represented by those Original Notes; (v) specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by delivery of certificates for those Original Notes, the name of the registered holder, if different from that of the tendering bolder, or specify, in the case of Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer, the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn Original Notes; and (vi) be signed by the holder of those Original Notes in the same manner as the original signature on this Letter of Transmittal, including any required signature guarantees, or be accompanied by evidence satisfactory to Tempur Sealy that the person withdrawing the tender has succeeded to the beneficial ownership of those Original Notes. The signature on any notice of withdrawal must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution, unless the Original Notes have been tendered for the account of an eligible guarantor institution. The Exchange Agent will return the properly withdrawn Original Notes promptly following receipt of a notice of withdrawal. All questions as to the validity of notices of withdrawal, including time of receipt, will be determined by Tempur Sealy, and such determination will be final and binding on all parties.

Signatures on this Letter of Transmittal, Bond Powers and Endorsements; Guarantee of Signatures.

If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by the holders of Original Notes tendered hereby, the signatures must correspond exactly with the names as written on the face of the certificates without alteration, enlargement or any change whatsoever. If any of the Original Notes tendered are held by two or more holders, each holder must sign this Letter of Transmittal. If any of the Original Notes tendered hereby are registered in different names on different certificates, it will be necessary to complete, sign and submit as many separate copies of this Letter of Transmittal, and any accompanying documents, as there are different registrations of certificates.

If Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange pursuant to the Exchange Offer are to be returned to a person other than the tendering holder, certificates for those Original Notes must be endorsed or accompanied by an appropriate instrument of transfer, signed exactly as the name of the registered owner appears on the certificates, with the signatures on the certificates or instruments of transfer guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution.

If this Letter of Transmittal is signed by a person other than the holder of any Original Notes listed in this Letter of Transmittal, those Original Notes must be properly endorsed or accompanied by a properly completed bond power, signed by the holder exactly as the holder's name appears on those Original Notes.

If this Letter of Transmittal or any certificates of Original Notes, bond powers or other instruments of transfer are signed or endorsed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorneys-in-fact, officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, such persons should so indicate when signing, and, unless waived by the Company, evidence satisfactory to the Company of their authority to so act must be submitted with this Letter of Transmittal.

Signatures on this Letter of Transmittal or a notice of withdrawal, as the case may be, must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution unless the Original Notes tendered pursuant to this Letter of Transmittal are tendered for the account of an eligible guarantor institution. An "eligible guarantor institution" is one of the following firms or other entities identified in Rule 17Ad-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (as the terms are used in Rule 17Ad-15): (i) a bank; (ii) a broker, dealer, municipal securities dealer, municipal securities broker, government securities dealer or government securities broker; (iii) a credit union; (iv) a national securities exchange, registered securities association or clearing agency; or (v) a savings institution that is a participant in a Securities Transfer Association recognized program.

4. Special Issuance and Delivery Instructions.

Tendering holders should indicate in the applicable box in this Letter of Transmittal the name and address to which payments and/or substitute certificates representing Original Notes for any Original Notes not tendered or not exchanged and/or Exchange Notes are to be is issued or sent, or, in the case of a book-entry delivery of Original Notes, the appropriate DTC participant name and number, if different from the name and address or the DTC participant name and number, as the case may be, of the person signing this Letter of Transmittal. In the case of issuance in a different name, the employer identification or social security number of the person named also must be indicated. Holders tendering Original Notes by book-entry transfer may request that Original Notes not exchanged and/or Exchange Notes be credited to such account maintained at DTC as such note holder may designate hereon. If no such instructions are given, such Original Notes not tendered or exchanged and/or Exchange Notes will be returned to the name and address or the account maintained at DTC, as the case may be, of the person signing this Letter of Transmittal.

5. Tax Identification Number and Backup Withholding.

An exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer will not be treated as a taxable exchange or other taxable event for U.S. Federal income tax purposes. In particular, no backup withholding or information reporting is required in connection with such an exchange. However, information

reporting may apply to payments of interest on, or the proceeds of the sale or other disposition of, notes, and backup withholding generally will apply unless the holder provides Tempur Sealy or the appropriate intermediary with a taxpayer identification number ("TIN"), certified under penalties of perjury, on the Substitute Form W-9 below and complies with certain certification procedures, or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding.

Certain holders (including, among others, all corporations and certain foreign individuals) are not subject to these backup withholding and reporting requirements. Such holders should nevertheless complete the attached Substitute Form W-9 below, and check the box marked "Exempt" in Part 2, to avoid possible erroneous backup withholding. If the tendering holder of Original Notes is a nonresident alien or foreign entity not subject to backup withholding, such holder must give the Company a properly completed Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (or substitute Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E or the appropriate successor form) signed under penalties of perjury, which provides such holder's name and address and certifies that such holder is not a United States person (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code), a security clearing organization, bank or other financial institution that holds the notes in the ordinary course of its trade or business (a "financial institution") on such holder's behalf, must give Tempur Sealy certification under penalties of perjury that such a Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (or substitute Form W-8BEN-E (or substitute Form W-8BEN-E or the appropriate successor form) has been received by it or by another such financial institution, from such holder, and a copy of the Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (or substitute Form W-8BEN-E or the appropriate successor form) must be attached to such certification. These forms may be obtained from the Exchange Agent or from the Internal Revenue Service's (the "IRS") website, www.www.irs.gov. See the enclosed Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9 (the "W-9 Guidelines") for additional instructions.

To prevent backup withholding on reportable payments of principal and interest, each tendering holder of Original Notes must provide its correct TIN by completing the Substitute Form W-9 set forth below, certifying that the TIN provided is correct (or that such holder is awaiting a TIN) and that (i) the holder is exempt from backup withholding, (ii) the holder has not been notified by the Internal Revenue Service that such holder is subject to a backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends or (iii) the Internal Revenue Service has notified the holder that such holder is no longer subject to backup withholding. If the Original Notes are in more than one name or are not in the name of the actual owner, such holder should consult the W-9 Guidelines for instructions on applying for a TIN, check the box in Part 1 of the Substitute Form W-9 and write "Applied For" in lieu of its TIN. Note: checking this box and writing "Applied For" on the form means that such holder has already applied for a TIN or that such holder intends to apply for one in the near future. If a holder checks the box in Part 1 of the Substitute Form W-9 and writes "Applied For" on that form, backup withholding at a rate currently of 28% will nevertheless apply to all reportable payments made by such holder. If such a holder furnishes its TIN to the Company within 60 calendar days of Company's receipt of the Substitute Form W-9, however, any amounts so withheld shall be refunded to such holder.

If backup withholding applies, the payor will withhold the appropriate percentage (currently 28%) from payments to the payee. U.S. backup withholding is not an additional Federal income tax. Any amount withheld under the backup withholding rules is allowable as a credit against the payee's U.S. Federal income tax liability, if any, and a refund may be obtained if the amounts withheld exceed the payee's actual U.S. Federal income tax liability and the payee provides the required information or appropriate claim form to the IRS.

6. Transfer Tax.

Holders who tender their Original Notes for exchange should not be obligated to pay any transfer taxes in connection therewith. If, however, Exchange Notes are to be delivered to, or are to be issued in the name of, any person other than the registered holder of the Original Notes tendered hereby, or if tendered Original Notes are registered in the name of any person other than the person signing this Letter of Transmittal, or if a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of Original Notes in connection with the Exchange Offer, the amount of any such transfer taxes (whether imposed on the registered holder or any other persons) will be

payable by the tendering holder. If satisfactory evidence of payment of such taxes or exemption therefrom is not submitted herewith, the amount of such transfer taxes will be billed directly to such tendering holder.

Except as provided in this Instruction 6, it will not be necessary for transfer tax stamps to be affixed to the Original Notes specified in this Letter of Transmittal.

7. Waiver of Conditions.

Tempur Sealy reserves the right to waive satisfaction of any or all conditions enumerated in the Prospectus at any time and from time to time prior to the Expiration Date.

8. No Conditional Tenders.

No alternative, conditional, irregular or contingent tenders will be accepted. By executing this Letter of Transmittal, a facsimile thereof, or in lieu thereof, an Agent's Message, the tendering holders of Original Notes waive any right to receive any notice of the acceptance of their Original Notes for exchange.

None of the Company, the Exchange Agent or any other person will be under any duty to notify holders of defects or irregularities with respect to tenders of Original Notes nor shall any of them incur any liability for failure to give any such notice.

9. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Original Notes.

Any holder whose Original Notes have been mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed will be responsible for obtaining replacement securities or for arranging for indemnification with the trustee of the Original Notes. Holders should contact the Exchange Agent, at the address indicated above, for assistance with these matters.

10. Requests for Assistance or Additional Copies.

Questions and requests for assistance, as well as requests for additional copies of the Prospectus or of this Letter of Transmittal, should be directed to the Exchange Agent at the address and telephone number indicated above.

SUBSTITUTE Form W-9 Payer's Request for Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)	PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (TIN) IN PART I AT THE RIGHT AND CERTIFY BY SIGNING AND DATING BELOW. IF YOU ARE AWAITING A TIN, CHECK THE BOX IN PART III. FOR ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS, SEE THE ENCLOSED GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TIN ON SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9.	Part I-Social Security Number OR Employer Identification Number		
	Name (as shown on your income tax return): Business Name/disregarded entity name (if different from above): Please check appropriate box Individual/ Sole Proprietor/single-member LLC C C Corporation S Corporation Partnership Trust/ Estate Limited Liability Company. Enter the tax classification (C = C Corporation, S = S Corporation, P = Partnership)(Note: for a single-member LLC that is disregarded do not check LLC; check the appropriate box in the line above for the tax classification of the single-member owner) Other (see instructions) Address City, State, Zip Code	Part II-For Payees exempt from backup withholding, see the enclosed Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9, insert the exemption code below, and complete the Substitute Form W-9. Exempt payee code (if any) Part III Awaiting TIN Please complete the Certificate of Awaiting Taxpayer Number below.		
	Certification—Under penalties of perjury, I certify that: (1) The number shown on this form is my correct taxonyor identification number.	pher (or Lam visiting for a number to be issued		
	 (1) The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification num to me), and (2) I am not subject to backup withholding because (a) I am exempt from bac notified by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am no longe (3) I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined below). 	exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report		
	Certification Instructions—You must cross out item (2) above if you have be subject to backup withholding because you have failed to report all interest an after being notified by the IRS that you were subject to backup withholding, are no longer subject to backup withholding, do not cross out item (2). (Also Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.) The Internal Revenue Service does not require your consent to any provicertifications required to avoid backup withholding.	rest and dividends on your tax return. However, if ding, you received notification from the IRS that you (Also see instructions in the enclosed Guidelines for 9.)		
	SIGNATURE:	DATE:		

Definition of U.S. person. For federal tax purposes, you are considered a U.S. person if you are:

- An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien,
- A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States,
- An estate (other than a foreign estate), or
- A domestic trust (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-7).

Exemptions and exemption codes:

If you are exempt from backup withholding, enter in the appropriate space above any code(s) that may apply to you (section references below are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended).

- 1—An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a), any IRA, or a custodial account under section 403(b)(7) if the account satisfies the requirements of section 401(f)(2)
- 2—The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities
- 3—A state, the District of Columbia, a U.S. commonwealth or possession, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities
- 4—A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions, agencies, or instrumentalities
- 5—A corporation
- 6—A dealer in securities or commodities required to register in the United States, the District of Columbia, or a U.S. commonwealth or possession
- 7—A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
- 8—A real estate investment trust
- 9—An entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940
- 10—A common trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a)
- 11—A financial institution
- 12—A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or custodian
- 13—A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947

YOU MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING CERTIFICATE IF YOU CHECKED THE BOX IN PART III OF THE SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9.

CERTIFICATE OF AWAITING TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

I certify under penalties of perjury that a taxpayer identification number has not been issued to me, and either (1) I have mailed or delivered an application to receive a taxpayer identification number to the appropriate Internal Revenue Service Center or Social Security Administration Office or (2) I intend to mail or deliver an application in the near future. I understand that if I do not provide a taxpayer identification number, 28% of all reportable payments made to me will be withheld until I provide a taxpayer identification number.

reportable payments made to me will be withheld until I provide a taxpayer id	entification number.
SIGNATURE:	DATE:

NOTE: FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND RETURN THIS SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9 MAY RESULT IN A PENALTY IMPOSED BY THE IRS AND BACKUP WITHHOLDING OF 28% OF ANY PAYMENT. PLEASE REVIEW THE ENCLOSED GUIDELINES.

GUIDELINES FOR DETERMINING THE PROPER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER TO GIVE THE EXCHANGE AGENT

Social Security numbers have nine digits separated by two hyphens: i.e. 000-00-0000. Employer identification numbers have nine digits separated by only one hyphen: i.e. 00-0000000. The table below will help determine the number to give the payer.

For this type of account:	Give the NAME and SOCIAL SECURITY number of:	For this type of account:	Give the NAME and EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION number of:
1. Individual	The individual	7. Disregarded entity not owned by an individual	The owner
2. Two or more individuals (joint account)	The actual owner of the account or, of combined funds, the first individual on the account(1)	8. A valid trust, estate, or pension trust	The legal entity (Do not furnish the identifying number of the personal representative or trustee unless the legal entity itself is not designated in
Custodian account of a minor (Uniform Gift to Minors Act)	The Minor(2)		the account title.)(4)
4. a. Theusual revocable savings trust account (grantor is also trustee)	The grantor-trustee(1)	9. Corporate or LLC electing corporate status on Form 8832	The corporation
b. So-calledtrust account that is not a legal or valid trust under state law	The actual owner(1)	 Association, club, Religious, charity, educational organization or other tax-exempt organization account 	The organization
5. Sole proprietorship or disregarded entity owned by an individual	The owner(3)	11. Partnership or multi-member LLC	The partnership
6. Grantor trust filing under Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 1 (see Regulation section 1.671-4(b)(2)(i)(A))	The grantor*	12. A broker or registered nominee	The broker or nominee
		13. Account with the Department of Agriculture in the name of an entity (such as a state or local government, school district, or prison) that receives agricultural program payments	The public entity
		14. Grantor trust filing under the Form 1041 Filing Method or the Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 2 (see Regulation section 1.671-4(b)(2) (i)(B))	The trust

⁽¹⁾ List first and circle the name of the person whose number you furnish. If only one person on a joint account has a social security number, that person's number must be furnished.

NOTE: If no name is circled when there is more than one name, the number will be considered to be that of the first name listed.

⁽²⁾ Circle the minor's name and furnish the minor's social security number.

You must show your individual name, but you may also enter your business or doing business as name. You may use either your social security number or employer identification number (if you have one).

⁽⁴⁾ List first and circle the name of the legal trust, estate, or pension trust.

^{*} Grantor also must provide a Substitute Form W-9 to trustee of trust.

GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION OF TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER ON **SUBSTITUTE FORM W-9**

Obtaining a Number

If you do not have a taxpayer identification number, obtain Form SS-5, Application for Social Security Card, or Form SS-4, Application for Employer Identification Number, at the local office of the Social Security Administration or the Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) and apply for a number. Section references in these guidelines refer to sections under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Form SS-5 can also be obtained online at http://www.ssa.gov/online/ss-5.pdf or by calling 1-800-772-1213. Form SS-4 can also be obtained online at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/fss4.pdf or by calling 1-800-829-3676.

- Payees specifically exempted from backup withholding include:

 An organization exempt from tax under Section 501(a), an individual retirement account (IRA), or a custodial account under Section 403(b)(7), if the account satisfies

 - the requirements of Section 401(f)(2).
 The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities,
 A state, the District of Columbia, a possession of the United States, or any of their
 - political subdivisions or instrumentalities, A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities,
 - An international organization or any of its agencies or instrumentalities

Other payees that may be exempt from backup withholding include:

- A corporation,
- A foreign central bank of issue
- A dealer in securities or commodities required to register in the United States, the District of Columbia, or a possession of the United States, A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading
- A real estate investment trust.
- An entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended,
- A common trust fund operated by a bank under Section 584(a), A financial institution,
- A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or custodian, or
- A trust exempt from tax under Section 664 or described in Section 4947.

Payments of dividends and patronage dividends not generally subject to backup withholding include the following:

- Payments to nonresident aliens subject to withholding under Section 1441,
- Payments to partnerships not engaged in a trade or business in the United States and which have at least one nonresident alien partner,
- Payments of patronage dividends where the amount received is not paid in money,
- Payments made by certain foreign organizations, or
- Section 404(k) distributions made by an ESOP.

Payments of interest not generally subject to backup withholding include the following:

• Payments of interest on obligations issued by individuals (note: you may be subject to

- backup withholding if this interest is \$600 or more and is paid in the course of the payer's trade or business and you have not provided your correct taxpayer identification number to the payer),
- Payments described in Section 6049(b)(5) to nonresident aliens, Payments on tax-free covenant bonds under Section 1451, Payments made by certain foreign organizations, or

- Mortgage or student loan interest paid to you.

Exempt payees described above should file Form W-9 to avoid possible erroneous backup withholding. FILE THIS FORM WITH THE PAYER, FURNISH YOUR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER, CHECK THE BOX LABELED "EXEMPT" IN PART II OF THE FORM, SIGN AND DATE THE FORM AND RETURN IT TO THE EXCHANGE

Certain payments other than interest, dividends, and patronage dividends, which are not subject to information reporting are also not subject to backup withholding. For details, see the regulations under Sections 6041, 6041A, 6045, 6050A and 6050N.

Privacy Act Notice. Section 6109 requires most recipients of dividend, interest, or certain other income to give taxpayer identification numbers to payers who must report the payments to the IRS. The IRS uses the numbers for identification purposes and to help verify the accuracy of tax returns. The IRS may also provide this information to the Department of Justice for civil and criminal litigation and to cities, states and the District of Columbia, and U.S. possessions to carry out their tax laws. The IRS may also disclose this information to other countries under a tax treaty, or to federal and state agencies to enforce federal nontax criminal laws and to combat terrorism. Payers must be given the numbers whether or not recipients are required to file tax returns. Payers must generally withhold a portion of taxable interest, dividend, and certain other payments to a payee who does not furnish a taxpayer identification number to a payer. Certain penalties may also apply.

Penalties

- (1) Penalty for Failure to Furnish Taxpayer Identification Number. If you fail to furnish your taxpayer identification number to a payer, you are subject to a penalty of \$50 for each such failure unless your failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.
- (2) Civil Penalty for False Information With Respect to Withholding. If you make a false statement with no reasonable basis which results in no imposition of backup withholding, you are subject to a penalty of \$500.
- (3) Criminal Penalty for Falsifying Information. Willfully falsifying certifications or affirmations may subject you to criminal penalties including fines and/or imprisonment.
- (4) Misuse of Taxpayer Identification Numbers. If the requester discloses or uses taxpayer identification numbers in violation of federal law, the requester may be subject to civil and criminal penalties.

FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONTACT YOUR TAX CONSULTANT OR THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE.

NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY TEMPUR SEALY INTERNATIONAL, INC. OFFER TO EXCHANGE ALL OUTSTANDING \$600,000,000 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 FOR NEWLY ISSUED, REGISTERED \$600,000,000 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026

This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery or one substantially equivalent hereto must be used by registered holders of outstanding 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Original Notes") of Tempur Sealy International, Inc. (the "Company") who wish to tender their Original Notes in exchange for a like principal amount of newly issued 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 of the Company registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Registered Notes") pursuant to the exchange offer (the "Exchange Offer") described in the Prospectus, dated, 2016 (as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Prospectus") if the holder's Original Notes are not immediately available or if such bolder cannot deliver its Original Notes and Letter of Transmittal (and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal) to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the "Exchange Agent") prior to midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, or such later and time to which the Exchange Offer may be extended (the "Expiration Date") or you cannot complete the procedure for book-entry on a timely basis. This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery or one substantially equivalent hereto may be delivered by hand or sent by facsimile transmission (receipt confirmed by telephone and an original delivered by guaranteed overnight courier) or mail to the Exchange Agent, and must be received by the Exchange Agent prior to the Expiration Date. See "The Exchange Offer—Guaranteed Delivery Procedures" in the Prospectus.

The Exchange Agent for the Exchange Offer is: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

By Registered or Certified Mail, by Hand or by Overnight Courier: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. c/o The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation Corporate Trust—Reorganization Unit 111 Sanders Creek Parkway East Syracuse, New York 13057 By Facsimile: (732) 667-9408

By Telephone: (315) 414-3317

DELIVERY OF THIS NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY TO AN ADDRESS OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH ABOVE OR TRANSMISSION VIA A FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION TO A NUMBER OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH ABOVE WILL NOT CONSTITUTE A VALID DELIVERY.

This Notice of Guaranteed Delivery is not to be used to guarantee signatures. If a signature on a Letter of Transmittal is required to be guaranteed by an eligible institution (as defined in the Prospectus), such signature guarantee must appear in the applicable space provided on the Letter of Transmittal under Guarantee of Signatures.

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned hereby tenders to the Company the principal amount of Original Notes indicated below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the Prospectus and the Letter of Transmittal, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged.

		DESCRIPTION OF ORIGIN	NAL NOTES TENDERED	
Name	of Tendering Holder	Name and Address of Registered Holder as it appears on the Original Notes (Please print)	Certificate Number(s) for Original Notes Tendered	Principal Amount of Original Notes Tendered (\$)

PLEASE SIGN HERE
X
Signature(s) of Holder(s)
Date
Must be signed by the holder(s) of Original Notes as their name(s) appear(s) on certificates for Original Notes or on a security position listing, or by person(s) authorized to become registered holder(s) by endorsement and documents transmitted with this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery. If signature is by a trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, attorney-in-fact, officer or other person acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, such person must set for this or her full title below.
Please print name(s) and address(es)
Name(s)
Capacity(ies)
Address(es)
☐ The Depository Trust Company (Check if Original Notes will be tendered by book-entry transfer)
Account Number (if applicable)

THE GUARANTEE ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED

THE FOLLOWING GUARANTEE MUST BE COMPLETED

GUARANTEE OF DELIVERY (Not to be used for signature guarantee)

The undersigned, a member of a recognized signature guarantee medallion program within the meaning of Rule 17Ad-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, hereby guarantees to deliver to the Exchange Agent at its address set forth above, the certificates representing the Original Notes (or a confirmation of book-entry transfer of such Original Notes into the Exchange Agent's account at The Depository Trust Company), together with a properly completed and duly executed Letter of Transmittal (or facsimile thereof), with any required signature guaranteed, and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal within three New York Stock Exchange trading days after the date of execution of this Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.

Name of Firm
Name of Firm
Address
Area Code and Telephone No.
Authorized Signature
Name
Title
Date

NOTE: DO NOT SEND ORIGINAL NOTES WITH THIS NOTICE OF GUARANTEED DELIVERY. ORIGINAL NOTES SHOULD BE SENT WITH YOUR LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Offer to Exchange up to \$600,000,000 Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 for a Like Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Offer") which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

Pursuant to the Prospectus, dated , 2016

To Our Clients:

Enclosed for your consideration is a prospectus, dated , 2016 (the "Prospectus") and the related letter of transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal"), relating to the offer of Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to exchange \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its outstanding, unregistered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Original Notes") for an equivalent amount of registered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes"), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Prospectus and Letter of Transmittal. All references to the Original Notes or Exchange Notes herein include references to the related guarantees. Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Prospectus.

The Exchange Offer is intended to satisfy certain obligations of the Company contained in the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2016, relating to the Original Notes, by and among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers of the Original Notes. As set forth in the Prospectus, the terms of the Exchange Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes are registered under the Securities Act and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes.

This material is being forwarded to you as the beneficial owner of the Original Notes carried by us for your account but not registered in your name. A tender of such Original Notes may only be made by us as the holder of record and pursuant to your instruction, unless you obtain a properly completed bond power from us or arrange to have the Original Notes registered in your name.

Accordingly, we request instructions as to whether you wish us to tender on your behalf the Original Notes held by us for your account, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the enclosed Prospectus and Letter of Transmittal.

Please forward your instructions to us as promptly as possible in order to permit us to tender the Original Notes on your behalf in accordance with the provisions of the Exchange Offer. The Exchange Offer will expire at midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, unless extended (such date and time, as it may be extended, the "Expiration Date"). Tenders may be withdrawn prior to midnight, New York City time, on the Expiration Date.

Your attention is directed to the following:

- l. The Exchange Offer is for any and all Original Notes.
- The Exchange Offer is subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Prospectus in the section captioned "The Exchange Offer—Conditions to the Exchange Offer."
- 3. The Exchange Offer expires at midnight, New York City time, on the Expiration Date, unless extended.

If you wish to have us tender your Original Notes, please instruct us to do so by completing, executing and returning to us the instruction form on the back of this letter.

This Letter of Transmittal is furnished to you for information only and may not be used directly by you to tender Original Notes, unless you obtain a properly completed bond power from us or arrange to have the Original Notes registered in your name.

INSTRUCTIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER

The undersigned acknowledge(s) receipt of this letter and the enclosed materials referred to herein relating to the Exchange Offer made by the Company with respect to the Original Notes.

This will instruct you to tender the Original Notes held by you for the account of the undersigned, upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Prospectus and the related Letter of Transmittal.

Please tender the **Original Notes** held by you for the account of the undersigned as indicated below:

☐ Please tender the Original Notes held by you for the account of the undersigned as indicated below:			
Aggregate Principal Amount of Original Notes			
5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 \$	(must be in an amount equal to a minimum of \$2,000 in principal amount or in integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof)		
☐ Please do not tendo	er any Original Notes held by you for the account of the undersigned.		
	Signature(s)		
	Please print name(s) here		
	Dated: , 2016		
	Address(es)		
	Area Code(s) and Telephone Number(s)		
	Tax Identification or Social Security No(s).		

None of the Original Notes held by us for your account will be tendered unless we receive written instructions from you to do so. Unless a specific contrary instruction given in the space provided, your signature(s) hereon shall constitute instruction to us to tender all the Original Notes held by us for your account.

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

Offer to Exchange up to \$600,000,000 Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 for a Like Principal Amount of 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Exchange Offer")

Pursuant to the Prospectus dated , 2016

To: Brokers, Dealers, Commercial Banks, Trust Companies and Other Nominees:

Tempur Sealy International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), hereby offers to exchange, upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the prospectus dated , 2016 (the "Prospectus") and the related letter of transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal"), \$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its outstanding, unregistered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Original Notes") for an equivalent amount of registered 5.500% Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Exchange Notes"). All references to the Original Notes or Exchange Notes herein include references to the related guarantees. Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Prospectus.

The Exchange Offer is intended to satisfy certain obligations of the Company contained in the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2016, relating to the Original Notes, by and among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers of the Original Notes. As set forth in the Prospectus, the terms of the Exchange Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes are registered under the Securities Act and the transfer restrictions and registration rights and related additional interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes.

Please contact your clients for whom you hold Original Notes regarding the Exchange Offer. For your information and for forwarding to your clients for whom you hold Original Notes registered in your name or in the name of your nominee, or who hold Original Notes registered in their own names, the following documents are enclosed:

- 1. Prospectus dated , 2016;
- 2. The Letter of Transmittal for your use and for the information of your clients;
- 3. A form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery;
- 4. Substitute Form W-9 and Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9 (included with the Letter of Transmittal); and
- 5. A form of letter which may be sent to your clients for whose account you hold Original Notes registered in your name or the name of your nominee, with space provided for obtaining such clients' instructions with regard to the Exchange Offer.

Your prompt action is requested. The Exchange Offer will expire at midnight, New York City time, on , 2016, subject to the Company's right to extend the expiration date for the Exchange Offer (such date and time, the "Expiration Date"). Any Original Notes tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to the Expiration Date.

The Company has not retained any dealer manager in connection with the Exchange Offer and will not make any payment to brokers, dealers or others soliciting acceptances of the Exchange Offer.

To participate in the Exchange Offer, a duly executed and properly completed Letter of Transmittal (or facsimile thereof), with any required signature guarantees, and any other documents required by the Letter of Transmittal or an Agent's Message (as defined in the Letter of Transmittal) stating that the tendering holder has expressly acknowledged receipt of, and agrees to be bound by and held accountable under, the Letter of Transmittal, must be sent to the Exchange Agent and certificates representing the Original Notes (or confirmation

of book-entry transfer of such Original Notes into the Exchange Agent's account at The Depository Trust Company) must be delivered to the Exchange Agent, all in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Letter of Transmittal and the Prospectus.

If holders of the Original Notes wish to tender, but it is impracticable for them to forward their Original Notes prior to the Expiration Date or to comply with the book-entry transfer procedures on a timely basis, a tender may be effected by following the guaranteed delivery procedures described in the Prospectus and in the Letter of Transmittal.

Any inquiries you may have with respect to the Exchange Offer or requests for additional copies of the enclosed materials should be directed to the Exchange Agent at its address and telephone number set forth on the front of the Letter of Transmittal.

Very truly yours,

Tempur Sealy International, Inc.

NOTHING HEREIN OR IN THE ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS SHALL CONSTITUTE YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON AS AN AGENT OF THE COMPANY OR THE EXCHANGE AGENT, OR AUTHORIZE YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON TO USE ANY DOCUMENT OR MAKE ANY STATEMENTS ON BEHALF OF ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER, EXCEPT FOR STATEMENTS EXPRESSLY MADE IN THE PROSPECTUS OR THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.